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  [9.35 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Please be seated. 
 
KARAKIA 5 
 
MS HURIA:   Welcome everybody to these hearings.  Sir John, welcome and 

to the Panel you are most welcome into the area of Ngāi Tūāhuriri 
which is the hapu for Christchurch.  We are based out in Tuahiwi and 
my name is Gabriel Huria and this is my older sister, Jane Huria.  So 10 
everybody we wish you the best for these hearings and we will be 
praying that it works smoothly for you. 

 
 So I would like everybody to stand as we have just got a small prayer.  

One of the things I was thinking about when preparing for this meeting 15 
was that the work that you are doing on this Panel and with these 
hearings is very similar to a saying we have out in Tūāhuriri which is 
(Māori content 2.40) and it refers to the pounamu and in the old days, 
this is a precontact piece of pounamu, so before European contact, and 
to make it was thousands of hours of rubbing sandstone with water onto 20 
the pounamu and it fashioned this piece.  And it is quite exquisite at 
how precise they get the piece but it is hours and hours of patience, 
dedication and work and it reminded of the work that you are going to 
be doing here. 

 25 
 So I would like to pass that along to the Panel and I would like to invite 

you all to say the prayer with me, if you feel comfortable with Māori 
please say it with me, but also if you don’t then this is fine too. 

 
KARAKIA 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Well, good morning everybody and we are 

grateful for what is an auspicious start.  Could I begin by welcoming 
everybody here today to the first day of hearings of the independent 
Panel for the Christchurch Replacement District Plan.   35 

 
  [9.40 am] 
 
 That is not to say this is the first day at work for any of us, particularly 

those that have prepared the proposal that we are to consider, and we 40 
recognise the work that has gone in by them and by everybody else in 
response by way of submission. 

 
 I stress we are independent, that was at the request of the Christchurch 

City Council that an independent Panel, given the disaster that 45 
Christchurch underwent and the tragedy that that involved, it was a 
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request of the City that it is appropriate that this plan be considered by 
an independent Panel to find a way forward for Christchurch and to 
continue the work that many have already contributed to in the 
recovery and the long-term future.   

 5 
 I would just say that the priorities, and the order we are hearing these 

matters in, are dictated by the Order in Council but I doubt that anyone 
would have chosen any other order in any event.  The timelines within 
the Order in Council make it very difficult for everybody that is 
involved in this process.  We are very conscious of it but we think it 10 
important that we do all in our power to meet those timelines so that 
Christchurch can move on. 

 
 I also note that most of the chapters we have received to date are in fact 

part chapters which will need to be concluded and there are an awful 15 
lot of other matters that will be in part 2, which will be notified later in 
the year.   

 
 Just to complete one formal matter I can indicate to everybody that 

applied for leave to cross-examine, that leave has been granted on all 20 
those applications.  So thank you, I will now ask Mr Winchester to 
proceed by opening on behalf of the proponent. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Good morning, sir, and members of the Panel. Just a 

couple of - - - 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think we will stand, thank you, it is not a pre-hearing 

conference this one.   
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, sir. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry, I should have indicated that to be fair. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I have rather got into the groove of sitting from a 

different hearing. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Understood. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Now, there are a couple of matters just before I 

commence legal representations.  Obviously there was a memorandum 40 
of counsel filed yesterday about directions that have been sought, I just 
wanted to, I suppose, bring that to the attention of other parties.   

 
SIR HANSEN:   It has been served on other parties, I take it? 
 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it has, sir.  Secondly, just to alert the Panel and 
other parties that a memorandum is likely to be filed by the City 
regarding natural hazards matters, in terms of possible timing of how 
that might be dealt with and also to note the fact that ECan has recently 
filed a memorandum on this issue, so it is in play.   5 

 
 In terms of the leave that has been granted for cross-examination, sir, 

what I do intend to do is significantly trim the notice that has been 
given by the City for cross-examination so a number of witnesses will 
no longer be cross-examined and cross-examination of others will be 10 
significantly truncated.  I will advise the Secretariat and counsel for 
each of those parties of those changes. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, and I think that may be something that is returned 

as well because there has been some significant progress. 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, absolutely, sir, and I think, having looked at the 

evidence in closer detail, there is really little to be gained by cross-
examining on matters of opinion and that that is what the bulk of the 
evidence seems to be around.  Now, opening legal submissions, sir, 20 
have these been handed up? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   No. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   They have been distributed, sir.  Don’t be alarmed by 25 

the bulk of the opening.  I have taken on board your Honour’s 
indication that what you were looking for was a brief opening. 

 
 What I have done or the approach that has been taken here is to record 

in writing in rather more detail a brief opening.  The purpose of that, 30 
sir, is really to have something there in writing to assist the Board when 
it does further reading, and also to assist the other parties by providing 
a bit more meat on the bones as to what the Council says its case is.  So 
hopefully that might result in matters going a bit more smoothly and bit 
more quickly in due course. 35 

 
  [9.45 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   So what I will do, and it is the same approach that I 

have asked that the witnesses for the City do, is simply work my way 
through the submissions, taking parts as read with your leave, and just 
highlight the main parts of the submissions. 

 45 
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 So commencing at paragraph 1.3 by way of introduction.  It appears 
that there is no significant dispute about the appropriate content of the 
strategic directions chapter rather the differences relate to matters of 
weight, emphasis and detail.   

 5 
 In summary, the key messages from the Council’s perspective are that, 

while Council experts have recommended some amendments to the 
strategic directions proposal, those changes seek to clarify or simply 
the policy approach already endorsed by the Council rather than alter 
the policy direction. 10 

 
 Secondly, the level of detail that is included in the strategic directions 

proposal is intentional.  The proposal provides guiding principles as to 
the overall objectives sought while providing clarity around the 
appropriate locations for specific activities leaving detailed policies that 15 
relate to the particular issues to be developed in later proposals. 

 
 Thirdly, the Council does place high importance on the recovery and 

rebuild of Christchurch hence the first objective in the entire plan being 
3.6.1 recovery and long-term future of the district.  As indicated by the 20 
inclusion of the concept of long-term future in that objective the 
Council does not agree that facilitating short-term development is to 
take precedence over other resource management considerations 
including good quality outcomes.  The Council’s approach focuses on 
supporting and facilitating retail development in existing centres within 25 
the city in accordance with the regional policy statement direction to 
adopt a centres hierarchy with the level of detail being appropriate for a 
higher level strategic directions chapter. 

 
 And, finally, the higher order direction, including from the LURP and 30 

chapter 6 of the RPS that was introduced via the LURP, is that a range 
of outcomes be achieved.  The Council seeks to ensure certainty around 
land use, infrastructure efficiencies and locational efficiencies.   

 
SIR HANSEN:   Just on that one, where do you place the Order in Council and 35 

the expectations placed on the Panel, which are fairly specific, where 
do you place that in the hierarchy? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That in our submission, sir, sits beneath the RPS and the 

LURP.  It is  matter to which you are to have particular regard.  Higher 40 
up the hierarchy is the fact that the Panel is to - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, it is mandatory. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is, sir, it is mandatory and I certainly don’t shy 45 

away from that, in terms of the LURP’s test that the Panel is to apply, 
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the requirement is to give effect to the RPS and to not act inconsistently 
with recovery plans and then to have particular regard to the 
expectations, in terms of the spectrum of direction, it is beneath those 
two in our submission.  I will deal with that - - - 

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   And the other national documents and such like? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, indeed, sir.  So I will deal with that in further detail 

later in the submissions. 
 10 
 I want to move to – most of this can be taken as read, it is background 

and context, sir – but just highlight paragraph 3.3.  In response to 
submissions on the proposal mediations, and they are both informal and 
initiated by the Panel and evidence, the Council has accepted and 
recommended a number of changes to the notified proposal.  And the 15 
updated version of the proposal is attached to Mr Peter Eman’s rebuttal 
evidence along with a reference to the submission that generated the 
scope for the recommended change and I have already - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Now is that the same document you have just handed in? 20 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is.  So I will take 3.4 as read, it simply records 

what is in that document and move to section 4 of the submissions, sir, 
with your leave. 

 25 
 An overview of the strategic directions proposal: the proposal provides 

the strategic context for the Replacement District Plan and the 
overarching direction for other chapters within the plan.  In particular 
the proposal provides information on the impacts of the earthquakes on 
the community.  It describes the key resource management issues and 30 
opportunities for the district and sets out high level strategic objectives 
and policies for the district as a whole.  The proposal addresses a wide 
range of issues that fall within the functions of a local authority, many 
of which are also managed and influenced to some degree by other 
organisations including through their planning documents. 35 

 
  [9.50 am] 
 
 Given the possible implications the Replacement District Plan may 

have on these organisations the Council undertook consultation with a 40 
number of parties during the preparation of the Replacement District 
Plan.  They are listed at A to E.  The first three of those paragraphs are 
urban development strategy partners and the strategic partners, in terms 
of the earthquake recovery legislation, are in D and E.   

 45 
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 And these organisations have been included in the development of the 
replacement plan through the collaborative steering group and 
collaborative advisory group.  Public engagement was also undertaken 
before and after notification of the replacement plan.  Mr Theelen 
discusses these collaborative processes and consultation in his 5 
evidence. 

 
 The level of detail that is included in the strategic directions proposal is 

intentional.  It is submitted that it is not appropriate for the proposal to 
provide detailed direction on the wide range of activities and 10 
circumstances that will be covered by the replacement plan.  Detailed 
direction is more appropriately outlined in the more specific chapters, 
particularly so in the case of city-wide chapters such as transport and 
natural hazards.  A large number of submissions seek an unnecessary 
level of detail of description within the proposal that is more 15 
appropriately dealt with in the specific chapters.  

 
 The approach taken by the Council allows specific proposals to develop 

detailed policies that relate to the particular issues in different 
environments and circumstances.  The proposal does however provide 20 
clarity around the appropriate locations for specific activities while 
providing guiding principles as to the overall objective sought.  And we 
now address some of these key issues in more detail. 

 
 Firstly, recovery.  A central issue for the Panel is the priority to be 25 

given to development and relative to other outcomes particularly the 
role of urban design.  The Earthquake Recovery Act is explicit about 
earthquake recovery and the statutory purpose confirms that the Act is 
designed to achieve the full recovery of greater Christchurch.  The 
Court of Appeal has held that the Act is designed to achieve the full 30 
social, economic, cultural and environmental recovery of greater 
Christchurch in the widest sense and the first specific purpose of the 
Recovery Act confirms that the Act is designed to achieve the full 
recovery of greater Christchurch.  That this recovery extends beyond 
restoring physical structures to rebuilding communities is reinforced by 35 
the sixth and seventh purposes. 

 
 And, finally, the latter purpose, which is in subparagraph G of that 

purpose provision, puts beyond doubt parliament’s intention that the 
focus of the Act is on the recovery of all aspects of the wellbeing of the 40 
communities of greater Christchurch.  And it is submitted that the 
replacement plan, in particular the strategic directions proposal, is 
required to achieve a range of objectives and there is no legal basis for 
lowering the quality of urban design to facilitate development even in 
the short-term. 45 
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 The Council places high importance on the recovery and rebuild of 
Christchurch, hence the first objective which I have already referred to, 
but has indicated by the inclusion of the concept of long-term future in 
that objective a balance must be struck.  The Council does not agree 
that there should be a rebuild-at-any-cost or sacrificing good 5 
environmental outcomes for the benefit of a faster rebuild type 
approach. 

 
 The Council does seek to ensure certainty around land use, 

infrastructure efficiencies and locational efficiencies but does not seek 10 
that this proposal prescribe the outcomes or provide all the detail. 

 
 Moving to integrated development and urban form.  As mentioned 

above, the Council considers that the second objective in the plan in 
3.6.2 is important in ensuring the overall picture of the future pattern of 15 
development for Christchurch is retained in the proposal and that 
infrastructure remains as part of that objective to ensure that the 
location of development results in the efficient provision and use of 
infrastructure. 

 20 
 Dealing with centres.  The Council’s approach focuses on supporting 

and facilitating retail development in existing centres within the city.  
The central city warrants specific focus in re-establishing activity and 
this does not appear to be challenged by any submitter.  For the 
recovery of Christchurch City support is crucial for the creation of 25 
central city that will attract people to live, work and play in both the 
shorter and the longer term.  As directed by the regional policy 
statement the Council has adopted a centres hierarchy and that is 
submitted to be the appropriate level of detail to be incorporated in the 
proposal that is being considered.   30 

 
  [9.55 am] 
 
 The approach adopted in the natural hazards proposal is based on 

identifying the natural hazards affecting the district, increasing public 35 
awareness of those hazards and finding an appropriate district planning 
framework to contribute to reducing the risk to the community over the 
long-term from natural hazard events. 

 
 Turning to housing.  In the development of housing provisions in the 40 

proposal the Council has weighed and balanced a number of directions 
raised in the relevant higher order planning documents, in particular the 
regional policy statement, the recovery strategy, and the land use 
recovery plan.  The higher order documents require the replacement 
plan to provide for an increase in residential density at appropriate 45 
places within the existing urban residential area.  However, in 
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providing increased residential density the replacement plan must give 
effect to or not be inconsistent with a number of policy directions that 
are set out in Mr Blair’s evidence at paragraph 5.7. 

 
 In short, developing the replacement plan the Council has sought to 5 

ensure appropriate controls on land use activities and subdivision are in 
place to make sure the quality of land development and redevelopment 
is appropriate.   

 
 The Minister’s expectations also repeat the same directions from the 10 

LURP and that the replacement plan facilitates an increase in the 
supply of housing by – and I will take that as read with your leave, sir, 
it simply repeats what is in the Minister’s expectation and it is not in 
dispute, sir. 

 15 
SIR HANSEN:   I would have thought the overarching statement that covers 

everything right at the beginning would be part of that as well, would it 
not? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, sir? 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Clause A, (i), (ii) and (iii), they inform everything, don’t 

they? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of the statement of expectations? 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, they do, sir.  Yes, I agree with that. 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   So I am kind of saying that there should be a big A, 

overriding the small ones there, because it is right at the beginning of 
the statement of expectations? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir.  I mean that is - - - 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   It is basically cutting the red tape, if I can put it in the 

vernacular. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well, that has boiled it down pretty neatly, sir, I would 40 

agree with that. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But you accept that that this overarching? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well, it must be, sir, because it infuses every aspect of 45 

every part of the proposal. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Right, thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Turning to quality outcomes in paragraph 4.1.4.  The 

requirement for the replacement plan to address good design arises 5 
from the regional policy statement and the LURP.  It also reflects the 
hopes and aspirations of the community as expressed in the “share an 
idea” initiative.  The Council has endeavoured to promote a balanced 
approach to providing for both recovery and good urban design in the 
short-term and the long-term.  These two concepts are not mutually 10 
exclusive as appears to be the position promoted by parties such as 
Ngāi Tahu Properties.  The Council does not accept the underlying 
assumption in the submitters case which is that speed and cost will be 
compromised by good urban design and that will impede recovery, 
Christchurch needs both.  The replacement plan needs to enable speedy 15 
and cost effective solutions that will produce a good quality urban 
environment. 

 
 This balance is also submitted to be reflected in the content of both the 

regional policy statement and the replacement plan to have objectives 20 
and policies for recovery, quality urban environments and good urban 
design.  The Council considers that not only is it possible to achieve 
good urban design in a timely and cost-efficient manner, but that it will 
also benefit both the developer and the wider public to do so.   

 25 
 The Council does not accept that there can or should be a two phase 

approach to addressing urban design controls as suggested by the 
evidence of Mr Jason Jones and the evidence of Mr Hugh Nicholson, 
for the Council is that there is a significant risk to long-term recovery if 
the result is a poor quality urban environment with limited amenities.  30 
His evidence is also that the adverse effects of poor quality 
development will not only affect the current generation but future 
generations. 

 
 And, finally, infrastructure.  Mr Eman has recommended a different 35 

solution to addressing the infrastructure providers’ concerns that is 
submitted to more appropriately provide direction and give better effect 
to the regional policy statement.   

 
  [10.00 am] 40 
 
 Sir, I will deal with the Council’s obligations and functions pretty 

shortly and really just want to emphasise paragraphs 5.3 and 5.4 which 
really set the context, in that while the Council, in proposing this 
chapter and the remainder of the replacement plan, is fundamentally 45 
exercising a Resource Management Act function, it also wears a 
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number of other hats and they do have an influence as to what the 
Council does and what it can achieve. 

 
 And so I say at paragraph 5.4 that the content of the strategic directions 

proposal is a result of a mixture of central government direction, 5 
earthquake recovery requirements and local government democracy.  
As the Hearings Panel will appreciate this means that there are 
constraints on the Council in terms of the provisions that it can include 
and the provisions that are required to be included.  As a consequence it 
is submitted that there are also constraints on the decision that the 10 
Hearings Panel can make, as also set in clause 14.4 A to C of the Order 
in Council.   

 
 And I note at paragraph 5.6 that the Council considers that its amended 

position reflects the balanced approach it is required to adopt taking 15 
into account all of its responsibilities.  Neither the Order in Council nor 
the legislation that the order was prepared under remove the imperative 
that the replacement plan achieve the purpose of the RMA.  Overall the 
Council submits that its amended position is more appropriate than 
both the Crown and Property Council rewrites and achieves the RMA’s 20 
sustainable management purpose. 

 
 Now, I have set out in some detail, sir, relevant legal considerations 

under the Resource Management Act.  They are fairly turgid, they are 
there for the sake of completeness and with your leave I won’t read 25 
them out.  I will move to paragraph 6.6. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Because in terms of the Long Bay tests or the Long Bay 30 

structure, which I submit is still the structure that needs to be followed 
in terms of dealing with the replacement plan, I wanted to make some 
submissions about where the other statutes and where these other 
influences, be they statutory or otherwise, fit into this structure.  

 35 
 So I say at paragraph 6.6 the recovery documents created under the 

Earthquake Recovery Act are unique to Christchurch and their 
relevance to the Long Bay test would logically sit under item E, which 
is directly above there on page 17, “other statutes”.  That is the Council 
and in the current process the Panel are required to comply with 40 
sections 15.1 and 23.1 of the Earthquake Recovery Act and that no 
decisions or recommendations can be made that are inconsistent with 
the recovery strategy and any recovery plan.  The requirement to have 
particular regard to the Minister’s expectations also logically sits under 
that heading E “other statutes”, in my submission. 45 
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 While particular regard must be given to the expectations it is 
submitted that these documents promulgated under the Earthquake 
Recovery Act do not change the requirement to essentially address and 
give effect to the matters under B, C or D of the Long Bay test.  So that 
is objectives, provisions and rules and that is obviously the simplified 5 
structure that the proposal aims to follow. 

 
 Turning to the regional policy statement.  While there are a number of 

statutory documents and other legislative influences to be considered as 
a whole in the review of the District Plan, it is submitted that the 10 
regional policy statement, particularly chapter 6, sets out the most 
Christchurch district relevant policy direction.  Mr Bonis, who is a 
witness for a number of parties but most relevantly the Property 
Council, acknowledges that where there is a conflict with a higher 
order document such as the RPS, that the RPS prevails. 15 

 
 And section 31GB provides a statutory basis for chapter 6 of the RPS 

and I say that is irrespective of how chapter 6 came about, in this case 
through a direction in the LURP. and the strategic integration of 
infrastructure with land use through objectives, policies and methods is 20 
a function of the Regional Council.  

 
 And just to depart from the submissions briefly.  It is noted, and I think 

it is significant, that the Regional Council has taken no issue with the 
format and content of the Strategic Directions Proposal in terms of 25 
whether or not it gives effect to the Regional Policy Statement. 

 
  [10.05 am] 
 
 Just returning to my submissions the blueprint for the future urban form 30 

of the Christchurch district is largely in place through the Regional 
Policy Statement and the Council is not seeking to revisit that nor 
should the submitters involved in this review process. 

 
 Independent Fisheries disputes the statement of the section 32 analysis 35 

supporting policy 3.6.2.8(c) that the Regional Policy Statement 
achieves the purpose of the Act.  And that, of course, relates to the 
airport noise content. 

 
 Independent Fisheries submit that as the decision to insert a policy of 40 

avoidance of noise sensitive activities within the air noise contour in 
the Regional Policy Statement was made pursuant to Earthquake 
Recovery Legislation the decision was not supported by any technical 
analysis as to whether or not the policy of avoidance achieved the 
sustainable management purpose of the RMA. 45 
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 In response to that, it is my submission that as an operative RPS which 
the District Plan must give effect to it can be assumed to meet the 
RMA’s purpose and IFL’s position does not alter the relevant statutory 
tests or the need to give effect to the Regional Policy Statement in this 
process.  And I would also say that in terms of the statutory purpose of 5 
the Earthquake Recovery Act and comparing it to the statutory purpose 
of the Resource Management Act they are obviously different, but 
there are some reasonable similarities between the two and I think it is 
fair to say that the Recovery Act purpose could be regarded as a subset 
of the Resource Management Act’s purpose.  It is a more detailed and 10 
recovery-focussed purpose, but it still deals with social, economic and 
cultural wellbeing. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Just for the record Mr Winchester at 6.9, I know a director of 

IFL.  I have already disclosed that and I would play no part in any 15 
decision around their submission. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Understood, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I just want to put that on the record. 20 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  I will not deal with other RMA documents, 

but I will move briefly to obviously acknowledge the recovery strategy, 
and I deal with that at paragraph 6.14 and I simply note as I say at the 
top of page 20 Mr Theelen’s evidence states that the recovery strategy 25 
is an aspirational document that reflects the urgency of recovery and a 
desire to build back a new and better city capable of meeting the 
challenges and opportunities of new growth.  The recovery strategy 
contemplates a series of recovery plans and programmes, and those that 
have been finalised set specific directions which are material to the 30 
direction and operation of the replacement plan. 

 
 So it is an overarching strategy and it is one of which must be given 

considerable weight, but the detail really comes in the recovery plans in 
my submission, sir. 35 

 
 Turning to the central city recovery plan I say at paragraph 6.15, “the 

central city recovery plan directed a significant number of changes to 
the central city planning provisions.  They were, however, incorporated 
into the operative city plan and it is now the operative city plan with 40 
those amendments that applies to the central city, rather than the 
recovery plan per se.  So the central city recovery plan has been 
absorbed into the operative plan.  Obviously there is still a requirement 
to not make a decision which is inconsistent with that recovery plan.  
But in terms of day to day operation it is part of the existing planning 45 
framework. 
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 I will not address the matters in 6.16 and 6.17, or 6.18.  They are 

simply there for the sake of completeness and I will move on to the 
land use recovery plan at 6.19, with your leave.   

 5 
 The LURP was gazetted on the 6th of December 2013 and also consists 

of two volumes.  The first volume contains amongst other things 
actions to be undertaken by Councils, both Regional and Local, within 
specified timeframes and a number of statutory directions of a second 
volume contains the specific changes that are directed to be made to the 10 
operative and regional district plans through section 24 statutory 
directions. 

 
  [10.10 am] 
 15 
 And I have listed there, sir, a number of changes that were made to the 

operative City Plan, they have been made, and I point out again for the 
sake of completeness that there is a statutory requirement in terms of 
section 23(1)(f), which I’ve referred to in 6.21 that no decision or 
recommendation can be made that is inconsistent with the recovery 20 
plan through this process. 

 
 If I can move on to the Order in Council and the statement of 

expectations.  6.23.  The Order in Council modifies the RMA to 
provide a streamline process for the review of the operative plans and 25 
for the preparation of this replacement District Plan.  The Order in 
Council does not, however, replace the RMA nor direct that the 
purposes of the Earthquake Recovery legislation have any specific 
relevance to the review process. 

 30 
 Schedule 4 of the Order in Council does, however, set out the 

expectations of the Ministers.  It provides that the Council must have 
particular regard to the set of expectations, and its review and 
preparation of the proposals.  And amongst other things the Ministers’ 
expectations include that there will be a significant reduction in the 35 
reliance on resource consent process notification and development in 
design controls – so that is the red tape you are referring to. 

 
 The relevance of these three expectations to the strategic directions 

proposal is in our submission arguably limited as this proposal does not 40 
include any rules.  So it is not regulatory in its effect.  We will, 
however, return to the process policy sought by the Property Council 
later in these submissions. 

 
45 
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 And what we have done in the table which follows is tried to boil 
down, for the panel’s and submitters’ convenience, all of the relevant 
statutory considerations and where they sit in the hierarchy in terms of 
level of direction.  I won’t read that out, sir, but in my submission as I 
say at paragraph 6.26 it does tend to suggest that the Ministers’ 5 
expectations sit near the bottom of the hierarchy. 

 
 So with your leave if I can move to paragraph 6.27 and just summarise 

the position that is outlined in that table.  At the top of the hierarchy is 
the sustainable management purpose of the RMA.  This must be 10 
achieved.  Chapter 6 of the Regional Policy Statement is also of 
significance for the development of the Strategic Directions chapter 
and the Council must give effect to it.  And I also note there, and it is 
relevant in the context of this chapter that chapter 5 of the RPS for land 
use and infrastructure and chapter 11 for natural hazards must also be 15 
given effect to so far as it is relevant. 

 
 The Property Council in its Orders have indicated that the approach 

should not be as simple as stating that the Ministers’ expectations are 
trumped by the RPS provisions and that the Strategic Directions should 20 
not simply parrot back the RPS requirements.  Instead they seek that 
they be refined under the lens of the LURP recovery strategy and 
statement of expectations.  

 
 The Council has not simply repeated chapter 6 of the RPS.  It is 25 

submitted that how the panel as decision-maker responds to high level 
documents and the directions from Central Government needs to be in 
accordance with the legislative requirements.  The needs of the entire 
community not just the property industry must be considered, as the 
RMA’s purpose requires and a suitable balance must be reached. 30 

 
 Sir, the next part of the submissions I will go through in full, if I have 

sufficient time. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well it is your call.  It will take us outside our schedule. 35 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But it is your call. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, well I think - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I was just wondering if it was more appropriate for closing 

after we had heard the cross-examination and the various witnesses, but 
again I leave it up to you. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, it is really there for the sake of completeness and it 
is intended to foreshadow cross-examination. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, and I understand that. 
 5 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, so I am happy to take it as read.  I think there are a 

couple of points that I would like to just briefly alight on. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 10 
  [10.15 am] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And one is the process requirements and this is the 

process objective and policy which the Property Council relief seeks to 
advance so I deal with that paragraph 7.11 and Mr Bonis has raised 15 
concerns about the lack of process provisions and he essentially 
recommends repeating the expectations, the red tape expectations, sir, 
and the Council’s evidence is that this type of policy is not appropriate 
in a strategic directions chapter, or indeed, in a district planning 
document at all, and as I say at paragraph 7.13, the process policy adds 20 
nothing new and it potentially duplicates a conflict with statutory 
provisions or parts of the order and is effectively a work programme or 
guidance note for the drafting approach for the rest of the Replacement 
District Plan. 

 25 
 And in response to your question earlier, I said it confuses the entire 

process in that it is a set of guiding principles and expectations which 
must be had regard to at all times.  

 
 So there is no purpose, sir, whatsoever in repeating it in the strategic 30 

directions chapter, and in terms of its operational effect, it simply will 
have no operational effect if the District Plan is – once the District Plan 
is in force.  It cannot really be had regard to when considering an 
individual resource consent application or anything else, it becomes a 
redundant provision. 35 

 
 Dealing with packaging of the proposal, I think it seems to be 

becoming clearer that a lot of the argument is about emphasis and 
weight and how fundamentally what is agreed content, is packaged, and 
I am pretty sure that when the Panel compares the Council’s proposed 40 
revisions to the chapter to what the Crown proposes, there is not a lot 
of daylight between the two in terms of the substance.  A lot of it is 
packaging and structure. 

 
45 
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 In terms of the Crown’s case, I deal with that briefly at paragraph 7.22 
through to 7.25.  It may be unintentional, but the submission that I 
would make is around the central city recovery and obviously we will 
hear more about that but, and I say at paragraph 7.24, “it appears that 
the Crown’s approach could put the recovery of the central city at risk 5 
or otherwise significantly slow the speed at which it will recover and 
assume its intended role and function.” 

 
 And that is if the Crown suggested relief around centres and business 

activity is accepted by the Panel, and obviously we will investigate that 10 
as we work our way through the witnesses, sir. 

 
 I will not take you through the infrastructure providers section, there 

has been a mediation on that and there seems to have been some pretty 
significant progress made in terms of getting closer to an agreed 15 
package, and Council witnesses will deal with that. 

 
 In terms of scope issues, sir, there are some scope issues which I 

suspect the Panel will have to grapple with, notwithstanding your 
greater flexibility which the order and Council give to you to make 20 
decisions that you consider are appropriate. 

 
 It think there is still a jurisdictional issue in that any changes that need 

to be made, even if they are not directly resulting from a submission or 
relief specified in a submission, will still need to be on the proposal in 25 
terms of the clause 6 requirement from the first schedule.  

 
 And I would just note, sir, that in terms of the Council’s evidence, it 

has not dealt with scope issues, it has rather focused on the merits of 
different relief, which seems to be of a more efficient use of time given 30 
the time constraints. 

 
 I deal with the Clearwater exception in some detail, sir, it is 

fundamentally a reasonably dense legal argument about how the LURP 
has dealt with this particular issue and I think the primary submission 35 
that I would make is set out at paragraph 10.13 which is, that although 
the Council understands the frustration that Clearwater has regarding 
the contour exception, the Council submits that the solution lies in an 
amendment to the RPS which would have to come from an amendment 
to the LURP or an amendment to the RPS after the Earthquake 40 
Recovery Act expires rather than one that can be made in the context of 
this plan review. 
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  [10.20 am] 
 
 So the essence of the Council’s position there, sir, is that rather the 

hearing Panel’s hands are tied by the higher order documents as to 
whether it can grant the relief that is being sought by Clearwater. 5 

 
 So those are my submissions and as I say, I have covered things in 

more detail, but it is intended to be helpful to the Panel and to submit it. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   The Council’s witnesses are set out there, they are in 

order and if it is appropriate, sir, I will move on to call the first of those 
witness unless the Panel has some questions? 

 15 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, the Panel may have some questions.    
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I do.  Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Winchester, just a 

couple of legal questions, and it may be that you can refer these to your 
witnesses, if they tie into their areas.   20 

 
 I think at 6.25 you talk about the rationale for not having process 

policies in a strategic direction, and I think you interpolated it, you go 
so far as to say that it is not appropriate to have those in a District Plan 
at all. 25 

 
 But if we look, at say, just the concept of sustainable management 

under the RMA, what is your comment on whether or not sustainable 
management invites any consideration of process efficiency as well as 
outcomes? 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well the statutory purpose is very broad and it could 

potentially embrace the concept of process efficiencies.  In my 
submission, however, those process efficiencies should be achieved by 
good quality planning provisions in the first instance, clarity around 35 
things such as rules or exceptions for notification, and these are all 
matters that will be dealt with in specific chapters. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So just moving to the second part of my thinking on this, 

if the Panel were to approve a strategic direction chapter, the legal 40 
consequence of that is that it becomes operative, is that correct? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   It does, sir, obviously with the Panel’s ability to revisit 

aspects of it at a later stage. 
 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so do you see an operative strategic directions 
chapter as having any relevant influence over the consideration of later 
proposals? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I do, sir, and obviously there would not be the 5 

degree of interest in this particular chapter if it was not going to have 
much influence over later proposals.  It must do, because in terms of 
the hierarchy of how the plan should work, logically those strategic 
directions will drive the lower order or more specific parts of the plan. 

 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So thought about in that light, can objectives and policies 

have any relevant statutory purpose in this process, in strategic 
directions on process issues? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well potentially, sir, I am just thinking about that, but I 15 

suppose I come back to the point, and it was an answer to Sir John’s 
question, that we have got the statement of expectations, it is embedded 
within the order in Council, and it applies at all stages, so it is a reality 
check that applies at every stage, and to add in an additional layer 
which essentially gives drafting guidance for the remainder of the plan, 20 
seems rather redundant, sir, in my submission. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   You do not need a hint, is that what you are saying? 25 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   I do not think so, the expectations are pretty clear, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, if you could call your first witness. 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. Council’s first witness is Mr Michael Theelen, 

who is the Chief Planning Officer for the Christchurch City Council.  
 
<MICHAEL THEELEN, sworn [10.25 am] 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Winchester. 
 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.25 am] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Mr Theelen can you please confirm for the record that 40 

your full name is Michael Renier Antonius Theelen and you have the 
experience and qualifications set out in paragraphs 1.1-1.6 of your 
statement of evidence? 

 
MR THEELEN:   I do, yes. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence entitled 
project overview dated 18 November 2014, do you have any 
amendments to that statement of evidence? 

 
MR THEELEN:   I’d like to amend one small matter of detail in paragraph 4.4, 5 

and there are obviously throughout some of my evidence minor typos, 
but there’s one that potentially sends an incorrect signal, in the second 
line of 4.4 I say “seeks to weld these ideas together, while also 
insuring”, it’s not the purpose of us to insure ourselves against a 
challenge, it’s ensuring. So I just wanted to make that correction.  10 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. And subject to that change, do you 

otherwise confirm that your evidence is true and correct to the best of 
your knowledge and belief? 

 15 
MR THEELEN:   I do. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Now, the process here, Mr Theelen, is that 

you’ve got around 15 minutes to talk to your evidence, and I 
understand you will simply talk to the Panel and highlight the major 20 
parts of your evidence and the key themes, so can you please proceed 
and the answer any questions. Thank you. 

 
MR THEELEN:   Perhaps Sir John and the Panel, before I do so, as the Senior 

Council Officer here, and on behalf of the Council, we’d like to thank 25 
you for undertaking this task. The Council is very mindful of the very 
key role the Hearings Panel plays in the outcome for the Proposed 
Replacement District Plan, and on behalf of the Council we wish you 
well in your consideration and deliberation of all the matters brought 
before you. 30 

 
 So as Mr Winchester has outlined, I understand that the Panel has had 

the opportunity to read my evidence. What I’d like to do now is to 
provide a brief synopsis of that and, in particular, perhaps to provide a 
planning overview and the story behind, I suppose, why we have the 35 
Proposed District Plan. 

 
 What I want to begin with first for myself I suppose is the question: 

what is the Council and the Crown trying to achieve by an expedited 
review of the City Plan?  40 

 
 The answer, in my view, at least for the Council, and I presume for the 

Crown, is that the intention is to establish a clear platform for land use 
development in the city that promptly responds to the changed 
circumstances, risks, opportunities, et cetera, posed by the earthquake 45 
and its immediate consequences, and to provide certainty for future 
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land use decisions in the context of an integrated resource management 
framework for the city and its future development. 

 
 So to begin that dialogue and that story, I want to set some context to it, 

and I will begin before the earthquakes. In, and I believe it was August 5 
2010, the Council resolved to review it’s then District Plans, it set a 
timeframe and it set an initial budget for that process. Some of the 
drivers for that decision are well known; we had two plans not one; the 
style of the City Council Plan was confusing and it had been amended 
in a number of ways and in some instances was not effective; the 10 
volume of variations and changes had resulted in 103 distinct zones in 
the Plan; there were legislative amendments that had been passed by 
the government and these needed to be incorporated; the section 35, 
that we conducted, identified that the Plan wasn’t as effective as it may 
have been in parts; the city, notably the central city, was performing 15 
poorly; and Council were struggling with a plethora of private plan 
changes, largely focused on peripheral urban development. 

 
  [10.30 am] 
 20 
 There were also a number of positive opportunities that Council had to 

have regard to. One was the Council, together with Environment 
Canterbury, had established a collaborative framework under the urban 
development strategy and, in particular, that had resulted in PC1, a 
proposed sub-regional growth chapter which the Council wished to 25 
give effect to, and Council had also completed a number of strategic 
reviews in the years preceding the Plan and wished to bring those and 
their land use components into the City Plan frame. 

 
 The earthquakes of 2010 and 2011 halted this progress. Firstly, as an 30 

organisation, the Council was immediately focused on response and 
rightly recognised that its community was in no space to discuss the 
more arcane world of resource management in the midst of the 
earthquake crisis. 

 35 
 Secondly, the Council was prioritised, as was government, into 

answering some immediate issues. The central city largely destroyed, 
and the CERA Act, Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act, prioritised 
the recovery plan for the central city to be led by the Council.  

 40 
 Natural hazards vulnerability: How was the Council to deal with land 

use loss associated with extensive liquefaction, followed in order by 
cliff collapse, rock fall, mass movement issues on the hills, and most 
recently flooding as a result to the changed topography of the city. 
There were some immediate rezonings to replace lost land, notably the 45 
prioritisation and finalisation of the Prestons rezoning and the Fulton 
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Hogan rezoning, which the Minister initiated in November 2011, and 
the immediate review of policy, rules and processes that were to 
facilitate immediate recovery, and I won’t go through the list, but 
they’re contained in 7.3 of my evidence.  

 5 
 These actions and changes others investigated and dismissed were 

actions of immediate recovery. They unshackled the Plan to enable 
streamline development to respond to the circumstance that the city 
found itself in. In some instances they changed standards, in other 
instances they modified process, and often modifying process that 10 
worked well in normal times, but was not designed to cope with a 
fundamental change as the city experienced. 

 
 One of the first tasks that the Council undertook was to develop the 

first recovery plan, post the earthquake, and that was the Draft Central 15 
City Plan. This began in April 2011 and in a public sense in May 2011, 
with the Share an Idea Campaign, which drew its much publicised 
106,000 submissions.  

 
 It’s not my intention to dwell on that, apart from the sentiment so 20 

vigorously made by the community through that process. What was 
evident from the feedback was that the community simply did not want 
its centre to be repaired, but they actively wanted something better to 
come out of the earthquake and its devastation.  

 25 
 While some of the responses we received may have been conditioned 

by the immediate past, the key themes had little to do with the 
earthquake per se, and I will note a few of them: Designed for people, 
easy to get to and get around, low rise sustainable buildings that look 
good and function well, a business friendly city, a community led plan 30 
full of green and inviting spaces. 

 
 What Share an Idea showed us and what recovery literature tells us, is 

that recovery is quite different from putting back and much more 
important than simply putting it back fast. The community recognised 35 
the opportunity to make or create something better, a once in a lifetime 
opportunity and a chance to be world class.  These sentiments are also 
reflected in the CERA recovery strategy and it’s recovery plans, and 
they also sit at the core of Council’s aspiration for its District Plan 
Review.  40 

 
 If we fast forward to 2012 and the collective Council’s and CERA’s 

recognition of the need to take further steps in setting and cementing a 
long term land use planning framework. It has been noted following a 
request by the Council and ECan, the Minister agreed to develop a 45 
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recovery plan for land use, and the LURP, as it’s conveniently known, 
was born. 

 
 The initiation of the LURP recognised the piecemeal effects of the 

changes that the Minister had previously made in a growing need to 5 
more comprehensively address other land use and related needs, for 
example, business relocation, transport and network issues, cross-
boundary issues, opportunities across the sub region. 

 
  [10.35 am] 10 
 
 The recognition there, sir, was that a more comprehensive response to 

the earthquake in a land use planning sense needed to be made. 
 
 Throughout the process of a LURP a number of changes to planning 15 

documents and other instruments were identified including up to 26 
changes to the city plan.  It was at that stage in April 2013, that the 
Council submitted to the Minister that rather than continue to tweak 
and repair a document that the Council had already indicated an 
intention to change, that they conduct a comprehensive and integrated 20 
review of the plan would lead to a better outcome. 

 
 Notably the review could update and combine the plans, address the 

direction set by the recovery strategy, and in particular, by the LURP 
and in particular, incorporate the direction of chapter 6 of the RPS 25 
which was an outcome of the LURP process.  It could recast the plan 
into a more user friendly document, eradicate unwanted processes and 
standards and create a modern integrated document. 

 
 The Council also postulated that changing the structure and delivery of 30 

the plan was in itself an act of recovery, and that an expedited process 
to review the plan would give more direction and focus and certainty 
than a series of plan changes that might have turned their way to the 
standard resource management process. 

 35 
 The final LURP did require the Council to review its plan by April 

2016.  The LURP also went on to instruct a series of immediate 
changes as being outlined, notably chapter 6 to the RPS, but it also 
indicated and made some operative changes to further greenfield B 
zoning, to changes to development standards and some areas for 40 
immediate intensification. 

 
 And so we come to the Proposed District Plan review.   
 

45 
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 Christchurch City Councill is therefore in the process of fully 
reviewing its plan by April 2016.  The purpose of this review 
incorporates and builds on the drivers that existed in 2010 and before 
2010 as well as the new issues, challenges, constraints and 
opportunities created by the earthquakes, as well as the community 5 
expectations that recovery – and I use that in a wider sense – will 
deliver something better than before. 

 
 One of the purposes of the review is to integrate the opportunities 

created by the earthquake into a comprehensive and integrated resource 10 
management framework.  In that regard, the LURP distinguishes 
between recovery action previously undertaken by the Minister, for 
example, the section 27 changes, those changes are executed by the 
Minister as part of the LURP such as chapter 6 to the RPS, and those 
which were set to be reviewed as part of a broad review of the city 15 
plan. 

 
 If I turn now to the strategic directions framework. 
 
 The strategic framework chapter addresses those broad matters in the 20 

whole context of the RMA that the plan endeavours to undertake.  It 
addresses the impacts of the earthquakes in section 3.2.2, the 
transitional circumstance of the city in 3.2.3, the significant population 
drive as to land use which are a key element of managing land use in 
the city at 3.2.4, and the specific needs of support recovery in 3.2.5. 25 

 
 In terms of the plans overarching objectives and policies, these then 

capture the earthquake context, as well as the other key matters that 
shape the overall direction of the plan. 

 30 
 In my opinion, had the Government only wished to address specific 

earthquake matters, it could have directed a further recovery plan such 
as it has done in the case of the Lyttelton Port Recovery Plan.  That 
would have more narrowly focused the changes, albeit the 26 that were 
identified on specific recovery only issues. 35 

 
 The decision to review the plan comprehensively reflects the 

desirability of addressing specific resource management issues that 
emerge from the earthquakes as part of a comprehensive and integrated 
whole. 40 

 
 In addressing these matters, the plan therefore at the strategic directions 

level, needs to recognise and address the multiplicity of documents that 
feed into the plan.  In a hierarchical sense, these are those which it is 
required to give effect to such as national quality statements and the 45 
regional policy statement, those which it may not be inconsistent with 
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such as regional plans and recovery plans, and those which it must have 
particular regard to, such as the statement of expectations. 

 
  [10.40 am] 
 5 
 The diagram in my evidence, figure 1, outlines the relationships that 

are important for the Council to address.  The strategic directions 
endeavours to appropriately give weight to these different documents 
and has been noted and is noted in a number of pieces of evidence, it is 
a fine balancing exercise. 10 

 
 What these demonstrate is that there are a wealth of matters that the 

plan needs to turn its attention to, and some are more directly impacted 
by the effects of the earthquake than others.  The plan does, however, 
need to address them all. 15 

 
 At the level of strategic direction, the document seeks to synthesise 

these into a wider resource management framework while the detailed 
objective and policies rules and standards are developed in individual 
chapters. 20 

 
 The strategic directions do not ignore the specific challenges raised by 

the earthquakes.  Objective 3.6.1 deals specifically with recovery and 
long term future and makes policy connections, land supply, temporary 
activities, development design and quality. 25 

 
 Objective 3.6.2 addresses the development form of function while the 

remaining objective deals with strategic directions for the city 
elsewhere and otherwise over the next 10 to 20 years. 

 30 
 In that regard, chapter 6 of the regional policy statement is a key 

guiding document for the strategic directions.  It was directly 
established through the gazettal of the LURP, it is a document which 
Council must give effect to.  Like the strategic directions, it both 
recognises and responds to the earthquake but then provides broad 35 
direction.  In its form it needs to be meaningful to Christchurch as well 
as to the other districts that have to have regard to it. 

 
 In parallel, the District Plan needs to develop responses to those 

directions in the context of their own circumstances.  That is what the 40 
proposed replacement plan seeks to do. 

 
 In the context of the city, this seeks to address those directions having 

regard to the community’s aspirations to see recovery and building that 
better as a key part of creating strong and enduring community 45 
resilience. 
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 The city plan will introduce some significant changes, particularly in 

respect of natural hazard management, recovery of the central city, 
urban intensification and consolidation, and an endeavour to be design 
led. 5 

 
 These directions are captured in the RPS, they are reflected in the 

strategic directions and they need to be detailed in the chapters that 
follow. 

 10 
 Council’s experience with the draft central city plan was a strong desire 

by its community to develop a high quality urban environment.  The 
Council is conscious that the District Plan needs to draw a fine line 
between recover at any cost approach, and one which sets the bar so 
high, that recovery stutters and stumbles. 15 

 
 The strap line for the review is finding the balance.  The strategic 

directions seek to achieve this by recognising the key earthquake 
drivers and setting these into a wider context and a suite of matters to 
the plan is also addressed. 20 

 
 In providing an overall direction for the plan, the strategic directions 

need to recognise the constraints and opportunities created by the 
earthquakes, and add these to the wider suite of resource management 
responsibilities the Council has. 25 

 
 I want to finally, sir, just briefly turn, because in my evidence I touch 

on the plans development and consultation.  In my evidence I dwell on 
the use of the collaborative advisory group where we worked with our 
partners which was developed from a continuation of the LURP 30 
process. 

 
 Both the development of the plan and the consultation processes 

undertaken, have been significantly influenced by the timeframes and 
the processes set out for the plan.  It is reasonable to acknowledge that 35 
by nature the governors of the city would have preferred a longer 
period in which to consult with its community along with a more 
iterative plan making model. 

 
 However, in balancing that, the Council has equally acknowledged, as 40 

has the Minister, that reviewing and establishing an operative city plan 
is a key element in supporting both a strong recovery and a strong 
future.  The framework of the plan has also been designed to enable the 
plan to be more readily updated and amended and anticipates a 
programme of changes as circumstances, issues and opportunities arise. 45 
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  [10.45 am] 
 
 This intention reinforces, in my view, the role of the strategic directions 

in setting both the current context but addressing in that longterm 
context and enabling the details of those chapters to support their 5 
achievement.  Thank you. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Radich. 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [10.46 am] 10 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, sir.  And good morning, Mr Theelen. 
 
MR THEELEN:   Good morning. 
 15 
MR RADICH:  I think you will realise from my learned friend 

Mr Winchester’s opening and from the evidence that you have seen 
that certainly the Crown’s position is to walk shoulder-to-shoulder with 
the Council during this process. 

 20 
 But that perhaps there are some things that we should talk about in 

terms of general structure of the plan.  What I would like to do is to 
hand up to you if I may and to members of the Panel just some 
documents – they are documents that you are familiar with.  Just in 
case you don’t have them there, they are the land use recovery plan and 25 
the recovery strategies.  Mr Chairman and members of the panel, I 
think you will have – I think copies of these were provided by the 
Crown to the Panel.  If you don’t already have them.  That might have 
happened this morning. 

 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, we do. 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you.  I won’t refer to it extensively because we have 

got limited time, but if I can just hand those please, thank you.  And 
one or two other things. I just want to make sure that both Mr Theelen 35 
and members of the Panel have to hand the current version of the 
Council’s proposal - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 40 
MR RADICH:   - - - and the latest Crown version attached to Mr Tim’s (ph 

1.39).  I have copies here available if that would be of any use. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, we have that. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   Right.  What I will do is if I may hand to you as well as the 
version of Mr Tim’s that you have – there are no changes in this 
version but we have done, sir, forgive me for interrupting the cross-
examination just to point this out, is mark up in yellow marker from 
Mr Tim’s version those parts of the Crown version that have not been 5 
taken up, shall we say, by the Council.  So what are the bits that are in 
contention, to try and highlight in rather than words. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 10 
MR RADICH:   And so you will see here that there are some extracts in yellow 

that show content not taken up in the Council’s version and there are 
extracts in green that shows content that the Crown’s version proposes 
to delete.  So what I will do if I may, I’ll give one to Mr Theelen and 
those are for the Panel.   15 

 
 Just to explain while that is going round, I am sorry to do this at the 

beginning but there are just two more things to hand up.  They will be 
used for all of the witnesses so just have them in the witness table and 
with the Council - - - 20 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think if you just produce these at the end of your cross-

examination so they’re formally on the record, Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you I will, sir.  There are two more documents to come 25 

round but I will explain – one is a little table that explains differences 
and one is the Crown’s outcomes from its submission and that is it for 
the paper. 

 
 Just to explain what you have before I start the table that has been 30 

handed to you called “Strategic Directions Proposal” is another 
endeavour to highlight the differences.  So you will see if you look at 
that table, members of the Panel and Mr Theelen, the 3.1 introduction 
there is just a list of the subject headings down the left-hand column in 
the Council version.  There is just a shorthand note in the middle 35 
column of the revised version, that is the most recent version that has 
been received, just noting where some changes have been adopted by 
the Crown and the right-hand version where the changes have not been 
adopted. 

 40 
 Then if you were to turn please to page 2 of that document you will see 

some colour coming into it.  And the left-hand column gives again just 
a list of the Council’s objectives and policies.  The headings, what are 
the objectives, what are the policies, notes of the changes.   

 45 
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  [10.50 am] 
 
 Then on the right, this is where the parties part company in terms of 

structure a little bit.  There are the Council’s version with the policies 
in yellow or orange, I think that is probably more orange, is noted, any 5 
objectives or policies that are entirely new in the Crown’s version and 
in red there is a note of, for those that are not new or not wholly new 
where extracts from the Council’s version have come from.  Where 
they have been cut and paste from and to. 

 10 
 All right.  We will make sense of them as we go Mr Theelen.  I am 

conscious that we have only got about 10 minutes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And the third document? 
 15 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you.  This is – in the Crown’s submission itself 

these are the nine points, the nine principal outcomes that the Crown in 
its submission that it made on the chapter on the proposal indicated that 
it saw coming out of the recovery documents.  These are the Crown’s 
primary objectives that it saw coming out of those documents. 20 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Right.  Well perhaps just at this stage if there is no objection 

from anyone the first document you handed in which highlighted in 
yellow where there was contention, we will mark as exhibit 1.  The 
three-column document because I imagine Mr Radich you are going to 25 
put this to other witnesses as well? 

 
MR RADICH:   I will, sir, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Exhibit 2.  And the principal outcomes document which is 30 

picked up from various parts of evidence just as exhibit 3 for the 
record. 

 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   And if you could mark the originals for the record Ms Duffy, 

thank you.  Sorry, Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   No that is helpful, sir, thank you. 
 40 
EXHIBIT #1 – MARKED UP MATTERS IN CONTENTION 
 
EXHIBIT #2 – THREE COLUMN DOCUMENT 
 
EXHIBIT #3 – PRINCIPAL OUTCOMES 45 
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 Mr Theelen, I want to just look first at the recovery strategy and one or 
two aspects of it.  We do not have time to do too much in the way of 
analysis, but you are aware of course from what you have said that this 
is to be read together and to form part of RMA documents, aren’t you? 

 5 
MR THEELEN:   Yes I am aware that the Council has to have regard to this 

document and not be inconsistent with it. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes and if you would look at page 4 of the document you will 

see the petal diagram there and they are the six components of recovery 10 
aren’t they that the recovery plan identifies? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes and if you go then please to page 8 you will see that 15 

diagram with some further detail and they are the goals included in 
each petal that relate to the six components aren’t they? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 20 
MR RADICH:   And so this document is saying here are our goals.  They are 

six things:  economic, built, natural, cultural, social and community.  
That is right isn’t it? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Correct. 25 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  If you look at the table I have given you, Mr Theelen, 

please. 
 
MR THEELE:   Sorry, I do not actually have that table. 30 
 
MR RADICH:   I am sorry, did that not come to you? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Attachment 1 and I don’t have attachment - - - 
 35 
MR RADICH:   All right.   
 
MR THEELEN:   That is exhibit 2? 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  Exhibit 2.  And you will just see – so you have not had a 40 

chance to look at this yet – so if you see the left-hand column there 
where it says “original version”, the very far left-hand column.  This is 
just taken from the Council’s original notified version of the strategic 
directions proposal and these headings have remained all the way 
through, they are still there now.   45 
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 And what I want to ask you if you would look please at page 2 of this 
document you will see there in a purple colour 3.6 objectives and 
policies.  Do you see that there, on the left-hand? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 5 
 
MR RADICH:   And that runs right through to the end of this document and 

what that does is just state each objective and each policy that is in the 
Council’s notified version and the amended version.  Do you see that 
Mr Theelen? 10 

 
MR THEELEN:   I do. 
 
MR RADICH:   If we have regard to the six goals for recovery and the 

components of recovery they don’t align with anything that the Council 15 
has given in terms of its objectives do they?  If we think about those six 
things:  economic, built, social, etcetera. 

 
MR THEELEN:   Sorry can you just rephrase that statement? 
 20 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  Just as a matter of fact the six goals and components for 

recovery from the petal diagram in the strategy do not align with the 
way in which the Council has expressed its objectives, in this chapter? 

 
  [10.55 am] 25 
 
MR THEELEN:   Or the objectives in the chapter do not necessarily use the 

same headings, that is not to say that the objectives in the chapter and 
plan itself do not address those six dimensions of recovery, in so much 
as they relate to the role of the District Plan. 30 

 
MR RADICH:   You would say, would you not, that they are in there 

somewhere, those six things are in there somewhere? 
 
MR THEELEN:  Well I think if you take those very broad – those titles, 35 

Social, Economic, Cultural, Built and Natural, they will find some 
expression in the city plan. 

 
MR RADICH:   So if you look at your first objective and let’s just go back for 

ease of reference to the left hand column, page 2.  The first objective, 40 
“Recovery and Long term Future”, you see that? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
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MR RADICH:   There are a range of topics in there, aren’t there, greenfield, 
urban land, housing affordability, business, design, they are all covered, 
are they not? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 5 
 
MR RADICH:   And if you look at the next objective, “Development and 

Function” you then have quite a long list of policies, do you not, 
“Accessible development, greenfield, urban consolidation…” – and so 
on. 10 

 
 In a way these are uber-objectives, aren’t they, that group everything 

together within them? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Well I think the strategic directions has a hold of that. 15 
 
MR RADICH:   Do you see, just from looking at them, that they overlap to 

some degree if you look at the policies under 3.6.1 and 3.6.2? 
 
 Perhaps it is better to do it this way, if I could ask you to have a look at 20 

Mr Eman’s version which I think you will have there, it is the version 
that was handed out, I think to you – do you have that, is that 
Mr Eman’s version.  Let us just give you another one in case you do 
not have that there, it might not have made its way to you either. 

 25 
SIR HANSEN:   So you have not got with you the Council’s latest version? 
 
MR THEELEN:   I do have it at my desk, yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   We will just give it to you now, thank you. 30 
 
 If you can look please, in that version, in the latest version at 3.6.2, it is 

objective 3.6.2, “Development, Form and Function”, page 34.  And if 
you look at – and there are many letters and numbers to get through 
here, but it is 3.6.2(a)(iii), do you see that there? 35 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   “Consolidate development of urban activity”, and then if you 

just hold your finger there if you can, and then go back to 3.6.1, the 40 
objective 3.6.1, that is on page 31 (a)(iv), 3.6.1(a)(iv), do you have that 
there? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   “A distinctive activity in quality urban environment.”  There is 
an overlap there, isn’t there, talking about consolidating development 
for urban activities and providing a quality urban environment? 

 
MR THEELEN:   I think the two are related, I would not necessarily say they 5 

overlap - - - 
 
MR RADICH:   They are related. 
 
MR THEELEN: - - - but they are certainly related.  10 
 
MR RADICH:   Sure. 
 
MR THEELAN:   I mean, in achieving the objective in (iv), there are a variety 

of ways of achieving that.  Consolidation as a development form is one 15 
of those outcomes that can help achieve that. 

 
MR RADICH:   Sure, okay.  And if you go back to 3.6.2(a)(v), “Link, screen 

and open spaces to enhance indigenous biodiversity…”, et cetera, do 
you see that one there? 20 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And if you go forward now to 3.6.4(a)(ii), that is on page 38, 

39, 3.6.4(a)(ii), “The district’s significant natural resources are 25 
protected and enhanced.”  Again, there is linkage between those two 
provisions, is there not? 

 
  [11.00 am] 
 30 
MR THEELEN:   Yes, there is.  And I think in the context for that, I suppose 

is, from my perspective, that the strategic directions.  If we go back to 
3.6.2, it is significantly around Development Form.  3.6.4, we 
specifically, as a Council, address the natural and cultural environment, 
which is of course is across the entire district, so there is clearly 35 
interrelationship between those different – or those various objectives. 

 
MR RADICH:   I have a number of examples, but time would preclude me 

from taking you to them, but would you agree that another sensible 
way of going about the structure of this particular proposal would be to 40 
group together within subject matter, the topics from the likes of the 
recovery strategy, so that you would have housing together, you would 
have business development together, you would have social together, 
rather than being scattered as we are seeing here, would you agree that 
that is another good way or organising it? 45 
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MR THEELEN:   I think that is another way or organising it and I would not 
perhaps agree that the current one scatters things through the document.  
I mean, the Council has identified those key objectives, it has 
developed those in policies below them, there will be some 
interrelationship between them, but as has been suggested, that this 5 
section in fact could be put together in a number of ways. 

 
MR RADICH:   And you have got in front of you the Order in Council, 

Mr Theelen, you have many things in front of you I know, but do you 
have that there? 10 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   You do, yes, thank you.  Could you please turn to page 38, 

that is the statement of expectations, and if you have a look at B, you 15 
are focused are you not, on the need as it is said there, “To contain 
objectives and policies that clearly state the outcomes for the district.”  
That is important, is it not? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 20 
 
MR RADICH:   Would you look at the LURP, the Land Use Recovery Plan.  

Just to do this quickly, if you look at page 11 please, you will see there 
the seven goals of the built environment recovery, do you see that on 
page 11 in the bullet points? 25 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   “Infrastructure, Urban Design, Rebuilding Infrastructure, 

Transport, Zoning”, et cetera.  And if you would look then please at 30 
page 15, no I am sorry, 16, 3.3, these are the outcomes that are sought 
through this document aren’t they? – there are 15 of them? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 35 
MR RADICH:   And you will be aware, Mr Theelen, that the document 

contains 50 actions to give effect to those 15 outcomes? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes, I am well aware of those. 
 40 
MR RADICH:   And if you would then look at the regional policy statement, 

chapter 6 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, just to identify 
these things, have you got that there, thank you.  And if you look please 
at pages 50 to 52 of that document, there are the six objectives, 
“Recovery Framework, Urban Form and Development, Sustainability, 45 
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Integration of Transport and Infrastructure, Key Activity Centres” and 
then “Business Land Development.”  Do you see that? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 5 
MR RADICH:   So there are six clear objectives that are given there, aren’t 

there.  And then finally, you have had a look at the statement of 
expectations, you will take it from me without having to, in the time 
available, go to them, that there are nine different expectations that the 
Minister is asking you to have particular regard to, aren’t there? 10 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   The grey box document that you have got, if I can call it that, 

exhibit 3, thank you.   15 
 
EXHIBIT #3 – GREY BOX DOCUMENT  
 
 And this is the Crown distillation of each of the particular goals, 

outcomes, objectives and expectations that I have taken you to, Mr 20 
Theelen, so you can just take it from me, this is within the Crown’s 
submissions, it is on page11 of the Crown’s submission on this chapter, 
and this is the Crown saying these are the nine things that the Crown 
takes from each of those goals and objectives.   

 25 
  [11.05 am] 
 
 So you see there are nine things:  Increase housing supply, enable 

economic prosperity, respond to hazards, use infrastructure, rebuild 
facilities, revitalise damaged areas, provide strategic direction, reduce 30 
prescriptive regs and improve usability. 

 
 Have you seen that within the Crown submission before now? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 35 
 
MR RADICH:   Can we – I am just conscious of the time, sir, actually did you 

want to - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, we will complete this witness. 40 
 
MR RADICH:   All right.  I will be as quick as I can. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   I will not deal with each of them, but if I could just take a 
couple of examples.  Let us look at the first one:  increase housing 
supply, and some of the notes there in this grey box are; intensification, 
simpler consenting, range of housing types etcetera. 

 5 
 We are going to look at the latest Council version of the plan please 

and I am just going to find within that document where we can see 
reference to housing.  3.6.1.  If you just have a look down at – I will not 
read them to you, at (a) – 3.6.1(a) and then (i), (ii) and (iv).  Do you see 
that they will all have something to say about outcomes for housing? 10 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   If you would look at 3.6.1.2.  Again housing affordability.  

That is on point, isn’t it? 15 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   If you look at 3.6.2.2.  Greenfield urban land supply for urban 

activities.  That is also within the realm of housing, yes? 20 
 
MR THEELEN:   Correct. 
 
MR RADICH:   And also below that in fact while we are there 3.6.2.3.  That 

also deals with it to a degree doesn’t it? 25 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes, but not exclusively with housing. 
 
MR RADICH:   No. 
 30 
MR THEELEN:   Clearly it is around looking at urban land supply in its 

totality for urban activity.  And similarly urban consolidation is I 
suppose the other side of that coin. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 35 
 
MR THEELEN:   While the Council is seeking to facilitate new land for a 

range of urban activities it is also seeking to consolidate. 
 
MR RADICH:   Right.  And if you were to have a look at the Crown version.  40 

It may be better in fact Mr Theelen just given the time – just look at the 
table so if I could ask you to do that please.  And if you see there – you 
see 3.6 – just go down to page 3, 3.6.2.  There is an objective – rather 
let’s go down to 3.6.3 there is a specific objective there on housing 
isn’t there.  Do you see that?  Do you see page 3, 3 – on the far right 45 
column I am sorry, of the Crown’s version.  3.6.3, do you see the way 
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in which it has grouped together the provisions on housing from other 
parts of the Council plan? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 5 
MR RADICH:   Let me just take one more example.  If you look, shall we take 

community facilities, rebuilt community facilities, number 5 on the 
Crown’s list of objectives and maybe we will stick with the table, I 
think it is a more efficient way to go given time.  3.6.1.  Look at the 
left-hand column now, the Council’s version, 3.6.1 – this will not help 10 
us I see now because it does not list the full objective. 

 
 If you could please go to Mr Eman’s version and have a look at 3.6.1.  

And then go to (a)(v).  So there’s the Ngai Tahu relationship mentioned 
there.  And then at 6, revitalised communities.  See that? 15 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   Go now please to 3.6.2(a)(iv).  Improve people’s connectivity 

and accessibility to things including community facilities.  Do you see 20 
that? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And if you look please at – I’ve got a long list of them here, 25 

but 3.6.2.7. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Page 36. 
 
  [11.10 am] 30 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, yes.  Policy community focal points.  That also 

deals with that topic doesn’t it? 
 
MR THEELEN:   It does. 35 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  If you go back to the table please.  And if you go please 

to page 5 of the table you will see 3.6.9 and objective there, its orange 
which means it is mainly new, dealing directly with amenity, do you 
see that? 40 

 
 Okay.  Just a couple of final points.  If you look at 3.6.2(a)(i) of the 

Council’s version.  3.6.2(a)(i), page 34, do you have that there – 
provide certainty – I think there might be a bit of a typo there.  Urban 
form that provides certainty provides certainty about where 45 
development can occur.  Do you see that there? 
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MR THEELEN:   There is a double certainty there 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  Double certainties good I think, isn’t it?  Nowhere is it 

said in the plan that the objectives that are given at 7, 8 and 9 of the 5 
Crown’s expectations, should be provided for in decision-making, and I 
am referring to 7, 8 and 9: provide strategic direction, reduce 
prescriptiveness, improve usability and clarity.  These are in the grey 
box, they come from the statement of expectations and the recovery 
document. 10 

 
 Nowhere in the plan, apart from that provision I have given you, is 

there reference to decision-making under this new plan with those 
objectives in mind, is there? 

 15 
MR THEELEN:   I suppose in terms of strategic direction I think I would read 

the whole of the strategic direction section as seeking that, and then 
relying on the further chapters to develop that.  So the whole document 
is a form of strategic direction.  And that strategic direction is set in the 
context of the complete responsibilities of the District Plan review 20 
which is as I’ve said – it is relevant to recovery but there are a wider 
suite of responsibilities the Council has. 

 
 In terms of reduced prescriptive regulations and improved clarity, to 

me those are – perhaps I suppose I would see those as process elements 25 
rather than as particular elements of the plan per se.  So in terms of the 
detail of how the plan is developed Council will have regard to the 
form and function of the rules, regulations and standards and it is 
mindful of the intention of the statement of expectations.  

 30 
 Equally one of the reasons why the plan has been reformatted and 

reproduced as a comprehensive District Plan review was to actually 
increase the usability and clarity so I suppose in my opinion it is not 
necessary to explicitly state those in the plan.  The plan is the outcome 
of those intentions.   35 

 
MR RADICH:   Where the Crown, or the Minister, has said to you that those 

things providing strategic direction, reducing prescriptiveness and 
improving usability are fundamental to this process, would not another 
way of going about it be to make reference to that in the strategic 40 
direction proposal?  One of our strategic directions in this plan is for 
you, the users of this plan, to have less prescription and more as 
Sir John put it, less red tape? 
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MR THEELEN:   Well again I come back to the point that the plan is the 
outcome of that process.  In my view the plan does not need to state 
that. 

 
MR RADICH:   Does not need to state that, okay.  In your evidence, at 5 

paragraph - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Can I just remind the time limits we impose. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, my last question, sir. 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   I am very sorry.  And this will be the longest of any witness 

that I have to deal with.  Paragraph 6.6 of your evidence.  Page 14.  15 
You talk about there, seven lines down, once again, the pressing 
strategic need in the plan to provide certainty and pathways for 
investment into new housing stock. Do you see that? 

 
  [11.15 am] 20 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   I think that’s a wonderful way, if I may say, of putting it. But, 

if you look at the plan, it’s not reflected in there, if you have a look, 25 
just a final reference for you to look at please, 3.6.1.2 of Mr Eman’s 
version, there is some reference there, isn’t there, 3.6.1.2, housing 
affordability, to make the point that you make? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 30 
 
MR RADICH:   Just have a quick look at that? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 35 
MR RADICH:   And have a look at 3.6.2 in the general, the very large, the 

uber-objective, there’s some mention in A1, isn’t there, about that? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 40 
MR RADICH:   3.6.2.3, urban consolidation that we’ve looked at, some 

mention of it there, but wouldn’t it be great to give effect to your goal, 
as you’ve so well put it, to have those things in one place, wouldn’t you 
agree that that would be a good thing to achieve? 

 45 
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MR THEELEN:   I think that’s – again, I come back to the point that’s one way 
of structuring it and the Council has chosen to do it differently. I think 
what you’ve demonstrated is that the Council seems to have covered all 
or most of the bases that the Minister has expected, it’s done it in a way 
that it believes is appropriate, you’ve managed to find your way around 5 
them and I believe that people operating the plan will equally be able to 
identify those matters that the Council has identified - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:  We’re also concerned with the general public, Mr Theelen, not 

just those operating the plan, as you put it. 10 
 
MR THEELEN:   Certainly, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 15 
MR RADICH:   So you might say, finally, Mr Theelen, that most of the 

Crown’s goals and expectations are there in some form or another, but 
they could be better organised, is that one way of putting it? 

 
MR THEELEN:   With respect, that’s what you’ve suggested. I believe that the 20 

Council has appropriately addressed them in the strategic directions, 
they are a broad overarching of the directions the Council wishes to 
develop, they will be developed more further in particular chapters of 
the plan, they are to be read together and taken together.  

 25 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and I think that’s the problem that is faced, Mr Theelen,  

But thank you very much, I have no further questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Well, we will take the adjournment at this stage, 

Ms Semple, and come back to you. 15 minutes please, to the dot. 30 
 
ADJOURNED [11.17 am] 
 
RESUMED [11.32 am] 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Theelen, you are still on the oath you took earlier, do 

you understand? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Ms Semple. 
 
MS SEMPLE:   Thank you, sir. 
 

45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SEMPLE [11.32 am] 
 
MS SEMPLE:   Mr Theelen, good morning to you, you’ll be delighted to know 

that I’ll be very short.  
 5 
 You would accept, wouldn’t you, that the role of the private sector, 

particularly financially, in the rebuild is significant? 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes. 
 10 
MS SEMPLE:   You perhaps will have seen the evidence of Ms McDonald, 

who puts that at, depending on the figures used, somewhere between 
54-60% of the total rebuild figure? 

 
MR THEELEN:   I haven’t seen that evidence in particular, but I would accept 15 

generally that it is a significant contribution, yes. 
 
MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  Given that, it’s perhaps surprising that in your 

evidence, and indeed in the evidence of the Council taken as a whole, 
there is nothing to suggest any specific consultation, either practical 20 
consultation or a consultation strategy, that specifically relates to the 
private sector.  Is that correct? 

 
MR THEELEN:   That’s correct.  There is nothing specifically directed 

towards the private sector any more or less than any other part of the 25 
community. 

 
MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  The other matter that I just want to traverse, just 

in a couple of questions with you, relates to a number of case studies 
that have been put in place to analyse some provisions of the plan.  30 
Now, I appreciate that these don’t relate specifically to the strategic 
directions chapter, but you have noted in your evidence that part of the 
process of developing the plan was to undertake some form of internal 
audit using your consents team and looking at specific consents, is that 
correct? 35 

 
MR THEELEN:   That is correct. 
 
MS SEMPLE:   Now, given that, is it surprising to you that the audits 

conducted by Mr Jones, Mr Chrystal, Mr Phillips and then Mr Chrisp, 40 
in a report commissioned by the Independent Hearings Panel, identify a 
number of difficulties with the way in which the provisions work?  

 
MR THEELEN:   Well, I’m not entirely certain what you mean by difficulties, 

in that circumstance. 45 
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  [11.35 am] 
 
MS SEMPLE:   Well, in those - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:  Well firstly, have you read those documents? 5 
 
MR THEELEN:   I have certainly read the evidence of Mr Chrystal and 

Mr Jones, I haven’t seen the independent review undertaken by the 
Independent Review Panel of the provisions of the plan. 

 10 
MS SEMPLE:   Thank you.  That probably means that there’s not much point 

in me going any further with you on that.  Thank you, I have no further 
questions, sir. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Any re-examination? 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, Ms Dawson? 
 20 
MS DAWSON:   Mr Theelen, you are familiar with the different provisions 

that have been put forward in the latest rounds of evidence by, say, the 
Property Council and the Crown for the amendments, and you’ve 
explained why you think that it’s not necessary or appropriate to put 
these, what we’ve called process objectives or policies in here that 25 
reflect the statement of expectations.  But you also told us, for example, 
about the number of changes that have occurred to the operative plan 
over its life and how there are 100 and something zones in there now. 

 
 I am just interested in your view as to the usefulness of having some 30 

process related objectives, or policies or guidance and direction, in the 
plan, and I think you talked about not needing them for the preparation 
of the plan itself, but I’m thinking about going forward when the 
Council over time will be faced with plan changes or its own ones.  
What’s your version on that? 35 

 
MR THEELEN:   I think my view would be the same as, in respect of that, as it 

is in respect of the preparation of the plan.  I mean at the end of the day 
the Council is charged with developing the plan in the entire context of 
the Act, the Act provides for a range of mechanisms.  The Council, I 40 
think itself, is conscious of the need, first and foremost, to ensure that 
the statutory rules and regulations that it imposes are the most 
appropriate for the resource management issues it’s dealing with.  To 
me that’s the fundamental driver. 

 45 
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 Specifically whether it’s to reduce consents, reduce standards or what 
have you, to me, needs to always be contextualised within the context 
of what is the resource management issues we are dealing with, as 
opposed to having them lead the outcome of those processes. 

 5 
MS DAWSON:   No more questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Just on a slightly different topic, in terms of objective 3.6.1 10 

that deals with recovery and then the long term future, are those terms 
defined in the plan? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Sorry, I don’t know that specifically.  It may be more 

appropriate to put that to Mr Eman. 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Putting that to one side then, what is the timeframe that you 

are talking about that relates to when recovery becomes long term 
planning, and the proposition is, aren’t they really just two sides of the 
same coin, in that Christchurch is going to take decades to recover and 20 
you are going to have to take a short and long term plan?  I’m 
struggling to understand what the distinction between the two terms is. 

 
MR THEELEN:   Yes.  I think recovery starts from day one, and recovery 

means very different things and very different contexts, and I would 25 
agree that some recovery is very short term, and in some parts of the 
city recovery in the way that we might have anticipated after the 
immediate destruction never had to occur. 

 
 But equally in terms of recovery morphing into the future, that’s an 30 

ongoing process, and when we look at some of the recovery literature 
that is often talked about, and it came through very clearly, both in the 
Central City Plan, but also in other work that the Council is doing, is 
that the community sees recovery in terms of actually establishing a 
significant long term better future for itself. 35 

 
 So, I don’t know the exact point at which someone stops talking about 

recovery and starts simply talking about the future, they are a 
continuum in my mind. 

 40 
DR MITCHELL:   Do you not think though that, at the strategic level, there 

should be more explicit guidance as to when one becomes the other, 
given that the Council seems very intent on taking, what it calls, a long 
term view and not having longer term objectives compromised by short 
term expediency.  I mean they are my words not yours, but I think that 45 
is the thrust of it? 
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  [11.40 am] 
 
MR THEELEN:   Yes.  Again I think you can perhaps take different examples 

to contextualise that.  If we look at the natural hazards response that the 5 
Council is proposing, is that recovery or is that long-term planning?   
The earthquake created a fundamental set of different circumstances.  
The recovery, in some respects, has been focused on rehabilitating and 
remediating those properties that have been most directly affected.  The 
long-term planning is actually taking the changed circumstances into 10 
the future in terms of Council’s planning, plan making, infrastructure 
development. 

 
 So to the extent that we want to recognise that the city is recovering I 

think the District Plan wants to recognise that, but I don’t think wishes 15 
to overemphasise the short-term in terms of actually creating a long-
term sustainable planning document. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Would you accept the proposition though that the strategic 

directions chapter should be explicit as to its expectations so that 20 
people reading it on their face, can have a sense of what it is intending 
to achieve?   

 
MR THEELEN:   I think yes, but I qualify that insomuch as at that strategic 

level we are encompassing the broad brief of the city plan and the 25 
broad brief of the Resource Management Act.  So there is always a 
danger between creating at that level too many specifics, as opposed to 
seeing those rightly placed in the relevant chapters of the plan or 
elsewhere, and the role of strategic directions to actually provide that 
sort of overarching framework for a lot of subsequent parts of the 30 
document. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Just on that theme then, who do you see the target audience 

of the strategic chapter being? 
 35 
MR THEELEN:   Well, I think, and the Chair pointed me to the fact that the 

plan needs to be accessible to the public, and certainly the public need 
to be able to have access to it.  I think in a practical sense the document 
has become a working document for professionals in the industry and 
so it needs to be able to speak to those as well. 40 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Would you accept the proposition that it is reasonably 

replete with planner speak, as opposed to plain English? 
 

45 
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MR THEELEN:   It may be, it is possibly less planner speak than some 
documents I have seen.  It possibly could be less again but that doesn’t 
also preclude the fact that the Council could easily have put – well, 
could have put a more descriptive series of outcomes earlier on in the 
document. 5 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right.  And just finally, it has been raised already a 

number of times, but just the question of the strategic directions chapter 
not mentioning process at all.  Do you accept the proposition that the 
statement of expectations is the fundamental difference between this 10 
planning and process and a more conventional one, leaving aside the 
timeframes?  And yet at a strategic directions level the plan is silent on 
that entire aspect. 

 
MR THEELEN:   No, I don’t know that I do agree with that.  The statement of 15 

expectations simply says that – and this may be over simplifying it – in 
addressing the review of the city plan, and all that that review 
encompasses, the Ministers want you to have particular regard to those 
statements laid out in there.  I do not think that they fundamentally - 
they certainly inform the direction that the planning goes and they 20 
certainly inform the matters that the Council is having regard to and 
they do so, and we are required to have particular regard to those, but I 
don’t think they fundamentally change the responsibility of the Council 
in the review of the plan. 

 25 
DR MITCHELL:   Well his Honour asked you the question earlier on that topic 

and Commissioner Dawson did as well and it was mentioned in 
opening by Mr Winchester, but isn’t it correct that the provisions in the 
strategic directions section will do two things: one, it will shape the 
lower order provisions, if I can call them that, that are yet to be heard 30 
and these will become it operative before they become operative, so 
they will be guidance in that regard. 

 
  [11.45 am] 
 35 
 And second of all, they will have a lifetime beyond the preparation of 

the plan itself via plan changes, via the consideration of resource 
consents and even by the shaping of the rules that will be in the lower 
order provisions of the document.  And if there is no regard to those 
matters doesn’t that mean that there is no flow down effect from the 40 
strategic direction to guide what those provisions need to do?  For 
example, you may say, “well, we will make everything a discretionary 
activity” – there is nothing in the strategic directions that would give 
you any sense that that is not really how this plan is intended to work.  
It is intended, to the appropriate level, reduce “red tape”.  So why 45 
should that not be set out in the strategic directions? 
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MR THEELEN:   Because I think the strategic directions set out largely what 

the plan should be addressing and to the extent that some of the 
statement of expectations also address matters of what – and I don’t 
have them to hand – but references to ensuring adequate land supply, 5 
references to ensuring that opportunities are there for intensification 
and consolidation.  They are reflected both in the strategic directions 
and in the body of the plan.  

 
 The one that seems to have been focused on is a how question.  So the 10 

rules, the so called “red tape”, at the end of the day I still am of the 
view that the how is something that the plan demonstrates, and the how 
is not something that the plan needs to tell itself. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, I don’t think I can take that any further, thank 15 

you.  Thank you, Mr Theelen. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Ms Huria? 
 
MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just two questions, thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Theelen, 

just on that same theme, do you accept that, in the context of the 25 
Christchurch recovery in particular, the costs and uncertainties of 
consenting processes are a significant resource management issue for 
investment in Christchurch? 

 
MR THEELEN:   Well, I think that the costs and uncertainty of resource 30 

management processes are there for every District Plan. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I am referring in particular to the context of Christchurch 

and in the setting of recovery, in light of the evidence that is before the 
Panel and wanted to know whether or not you thought there was any 35 
particular issue for Christchurch that set it apart from other contexts or 
not? 

 
MR THEELEN:   If there is a context it is more about giving clarity and 

certainty to the planning provisions more so than the particular 40 
consenting environment that they need to go through in my view. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And is that opinion based on the section 32 analysis the 

Council has undertaken? 
 45 
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MR THEELEN:   No, not necessarily and I haven’t specifically read that but 
that is my opinion. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And just finally, in terms of the preference not to have 

process issues in strategic directions, do I take it from your answers it is 5 
simply a planning practice preference or is it based on a view that it is 
legally invalid to do so? 

 
MR THEELEN:   I don’t know if I am qualified to determine whether I believe 

it is legally invalid but from a practice point of view and from an 10 
operational point of view I believe that it is not necessary. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   What do you take the words “particular regard”, to mean? 15 
 
MR THEELEN:   Well, they are certainly more important than “having regard 

to” but certainly less than “naturally giving effect to”.  So it means that 
in the process of developing the Council will look explicitly at those 
expectations that have been set out and take those expectations into 20 
account in how it brings together a document, the provisions and so 
forth. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   They are important? 
 25 
MR THEELEN:   Absolutely, they are important. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Semple, is there anything arising from the 

Panel’s questions? 
 30 
MS SEMPLE:   No, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Radich? 
 
MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Theelen, you may stand down. 
 
MR THEELEN:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.50 am] 45 
 



 Page 153 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 02.12.14 

SIR HANSEN:   Mr Winchester, can I just remind you the Panel have read all 
of the evidence.  The procedural documents say the experts are to speak 
to their evidence for 10 minutes not 25 and it is not helpful for us if that 
is simply extensively reframing evidence we have already read.  So it is 
a highlights package not a reframing and we are going to get in lots of 5 
trouble time wise if that is not recognised if you wouldn’t mind, when 
you have got the opportunity at the lunch adjournment, to speak to your 
witnesses. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, and they are in the back of the room so 10 

they will have no doubt taken some guidance from your comments, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I hope they have.  Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   The witness is Mr Nicholson. 15 
 
<HUGH ANTHONY NICHOLSON, sworn [11.51 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Winchester. 
 20 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.51 am] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Please confirm for the record that your 

full name is Hugh Anthony Nicholson and you have the qualifications 
and experience set out in the introduction to your statement of 25 
evidence. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I can and I do. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 30 

18 November 2014, do you have any amendments to that statement? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I do not. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Can you please confirm that the evidence is 35 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   It is. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   All right, thank you, Mr Nicholson, if you can take the 40 

Panel through a highlights package of your evidence, keeping it concise 
please, and then remain where you are to answer any questions. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 45 
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MR NICHOLSON:   Good morning, your Honours, sir, ma’am.  I understand 
you have read my written evidence so I will try not to repeat it as the 
Chair has instructed.   

 
 I would like to give you a brief presentation outlining the Council’s 5 

approach to urban design in the proposed review of the District Plan 
and in particular the proposed strategic directions chapter.  The 
relationship between recovery and good urban design is one of the key 
issues that you will need to consider during these hearings.  On the one 
hand you will hear from the Council and various submitters that 10 
ensuring a high quality urban environment through good urban design 
is an essential part of Christchurch’s long-term recovery. 

 
 On the other hand the Crown and other submitters will argue that 

unnecessary urban design regulation will impede recovery.  Underlying 15 
this position is an assumption that speed and cost will be compromised 
by good urban design. 

 
 In my opinion you are being presented with a false dilemma.  This is 

not a question of good urban design or recovery - and for recovery read 20 
prompt and cost efficient - but rather good urban design and recovery.  
In my opinion it is essential that the recovery of Christchurch is 
prompt, affordable and is carried out in accordance with the principles 
of good urban design. 

 25 
 The RPS and the LURP and the proposed review of the District Plan all 

include objectives and policies which direct the Council to ensure good 
urban design and to facilitate recovery.  This is not a question of 
either/or. 

 30 
 Throughout these hearings as urban design considerations arise in 

various chapters you will be asked to consider whether the specific 
urban design rules are necessary to ensure high quality urban outcomes 
or whether they will result in unnecessary delays and costs.  In my 
opinion the question is not whether some individual developments will 35 
be delayed by the requirements of good urban design but rather 
whether in general it is possible or reasonable to achieve good urban 
design in a timely and affordable manner.  I believe that not only is it 
possible and reasonable to achieve good urban design in a timely and 
affordable manner it will benefit both the developer and the wider 40 
public.  In my opinion the Council has striven to reach a balanced 
approach which incorporates both objectives.   

 
 “Share an idea” was a public engagement programme carried out by the 

Council in the aftermath of the Canterbury earthquakes.  It was 45 
astonishingly successful with more than 106,000 ideas submitted over a 
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six week campaign.  It was intended to inform the development of the 
draft central city recovery plan but many residents used it as a platform 
to express their views about recovery for the whole city.  In my opinion 
it is the most comprehensive summary of the community’s views about 
recovery and their aspirations for Christchurch since the earthquakes.   5 

 
 The results were digitised and broken down in the common themes and 

those results have provided the touchstone for the Council, a starting 
point for a range of projects including the review of the District Plan. 

 10 
  [11.55 am] 
 
 People talked about a greener, people focused city which was easy to 

get around by walking, cycling, public transport and cars.  They talked 
about vibrancy through a wide range of activities at street level in an 15 
inclusive and accessible city.  They talked about a business friendly 
city with high quality buildings and green open spaces.  Other themes 
included the importance of a range of housing options, the need to 
include sustainable design principles in new buildings and create a 
healthy and safe environment.  In terms of building design people 20 
wanted high quality distinctive buildings that were people friendly, 
incorporated open space and interacted positively with surrounding 
environment.   

 
 What is the Council’s role in providing a high quality urban 25 

environment?  The Council provides and contributes to a high quality 
urban environment in a range of ways.  We provide services and 
infrastructure, provide public spaces and facilities such as streets, 
squares, swimming pools.  We provide community engagement and 
information, design guides, community grants, education programmes.  30 
We provide direction and leadership.  We also provide regulation.  
Regulation is just one tool in a wider integrated approach to providing a 
high quality urban environment. 

 
 What adverse effects are we talking about?  Regulation is required to 35 

avoid adverse effects of poorly designed developments on the urban 
environment and communities.  Adverse effects can be broadly divided 
into two categories, the first of which concerns the effects on the users 
of the development, the residents, customers, workers.   

 40 
 The second category relates to the effects on the general public and the 

wider public realm and might include safety issues, CPTED issues, 
crime prevention through environmental design, or a poor quality 
environment for walking or cycling.   

 45 
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 Prior to the Canterbury earthquakes the Council carried out two 
comprehensive studies of urban quality, one for medium density 
residential zones and one for the central city and larger suburban 
business zones.  The studies reviewed recent developments against a 
set of urban design criteria drawn from national and international 5 
studies.   

 
 A number of the developments did score highly suggesting that good 

urban design outcomes are both achievable and affordable.  However, 
there was also a significant number of low scores which in my opinion 10 
indicates that there is an opportunity to significantly improve urban 
design outcomes in these areas through regulation.   

 
 It is important to bear in mind that the risk of adverse effects in 

Christchurch are far greater since the earthquakes.  By way of example, 15 
in Christchurch in the five years prior to the earthquake the Council 
was processing on average 2.4 building resource consents for new 
buildings in the central city business zone each year.  Currently we are 
expecting 80 percent of the buildings in this zone to be demolished and 
a significant proportion of these to be rebuilt in the next five to 10 20 
years.   

 
 There are a wide range of international studies measuring the benefit of 

good urban design.  While these studies identified a range of social, 
economic and environmental benefits it is clear that a significant 25 
number of these are longer term benefits to society as a whole that are 
not easily quantified and need to be considered as part of larger 
strategic initiatives such as reducing obesity or crime. 

 
 The Ministry for the Environment carried out a comprehensive study of 30 

the value of urban design in 2005 which concluded that good design 
can offer significant benefits to the community and conversely poor 
design can have significant adverse effects on the urban environment, 
society and the economy. 

 35 
 The study also identified that external benefits such as these generally 

accrue to the wider community over a longer timeframe.  In my opinion 
we cannot expect the market to provide good urban design when the 
benefits will not be fully captured by the developer. 

 40 
 There are three kinds of proposed urban design regulation as part of the 

proposed Replacement District Plan:  Information requirements, 
prescriptive plan rules which specify how much development is 
possible and discretionary assessment matters which are concerned 
with quality or how well the development contributes to urban quality 45 
and amenity. 
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 The intention is that the amount of development is clear and certain, 

defined by rules, but how the developer develops and delivers good 
quality is flexible and assessed against discretionary assessment 
matters.  So they know how much development they can do but they 5 
have flexibility as to how they can deliver that. 

 
 Discretionary urban design assessments are primarily recommended for 

areas with higher residential densities or more intense concentrations of 
commercial activity.  These are areas where the risk of adverse effects 10 
is higher and more people will be affected.   

 
  [12.00 pm] 
 
 In my opinion, the approach taken in the strategic directions proposal, 15 

of the proposed review of the District Plan, is broadly consistent with 
the approach that I have outlined in my evidence.  In particular, the 
strategic directions proposal includes provisions which are focused on 
support of a strong urban form that promote a high quality of urban 
environment through good urban design that relate to quality of life 20 
opportunities, to quality of life opportunities for community interaction 
and to safety from crime, that support a strong identity for 
Christchurch, the recognition of special features and of cultural sites for 
Mana Whenua and are focused on good connections and walking and 
cycling as modes of transport. 25 

 
 I would like to finish with the words of Jan Gehl, one of the seminal 

thinkers in modern urban design which reflect on the importance of 
rebuilding Christchurch carefully. 

 30 
 “First we shape cities and then they shape us.” 
 
 Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Radich. 35 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.01 pm] 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, good morning, Mr Nicholson.  Please look at 

page 22 of your evidence.  Do you have it there, would you like - - - 40 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I am sure I have a copy of it somewhere, I will just find it. 
 
MR RADICH:   I have got one here, let me just hand this to you. 
 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Please ensure, Mr Winchester, that your witness is given a 
copy of their evidence. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I am sorry, it is just sitting here, I apologise. 
 5 
MR RADICH:   If you look at the very last page of your evidence, I just 

wanted to ask you, that is your usual signature, Mr Nicholson?  
 
MR NICHOLSON:   It is. 
 10 
MR RADICH:  It is magnificent, it really is the most insane bit of design I 

have ever seen and I am most impressed.  Back to more serious 
matters, can I ask you please to look at paragraph 4.4 of your evidence. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 15 
 
MR RADICH:   There you say this, that “there is a risk to long term recovery if 

the result from the plan is poor quality urban environment with limited 
amenities and correspondingly a real opportunity here to enhance the 
environment increased quality of life”. 20 

 
 Yes, that is a good encapsulation of your view on urban design, is it 

not, that you have expressed in your evidence? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 25 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and just to support that, would you look at the – before 

you is the Land Use Recovery Plan, it might be to your right, if you 
have a look at the Land Use Recovery Plan please and go to page 11. 

 30 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And you will see the second bullet point there, you may 

recognise them, the goals of the built environment recovery, do you see 
the second bullet point - - - 35 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes, I do. 
 
MR RADICH:   - - -there supporting innovative urban design.  So that is one of 

your key directions, is it not, that bullet point? 40 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   That is one of the directions, yes, we have, yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And if you are to look also at page 20 of this document please, 

Action 2 - these are just some examples – there is another one there, 45 
isn’t there, if you look, this is Action 2 the District Plan Review, if you 
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look at (ii), a choice of housing to a range of residential density et 
cetera, mixed used developments and reducing consenting 
requirements, et cetera.  You see those there?  

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes, I do. 5 
 
MR RADICH:   And if you can turn now please to page 40 and to Action 45, 

here there is a direction to the second bullet point there, “Address 
standards relating to urban design that could negatively impact upon 
recovery.”  So that is another of the directions, isn’t it? 10 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   The final reference in the documents, also in front of you, also 

in the pile to your right, will be chapter 6 of the regular policy 15 
statement.  Could I ask you please to have a look at objective 6.2.3.1, 
that is on page 51, 6.2.3.1, page 51, do you see that in the box.  When I 
say 1, it is 6.2.3(1), provides for the quality living environments 
incorporating good urban design so this is your policy statement 
direction, yes? 20 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
  [12.05 pm] 
 25 
MR RADICH:   My issue is where in the strategic directions chapter proposal 

do we find these things?  Could I ask you please to look, in front of you 
also you will have a version, Mr Eman’s most recent version of the 
Council’s proposal.  Do you have that there? 

 30 
MR NICHOLSON:   I have. 
 
MR RADICH:   And have a look please at 3.6.1(a)(iv) 3.6.1(a)(iv), do you see 

- - - 
 35 
MR NICHOLSON:   Page 31? 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, page 31.  Do you see the distinctive identity to 

quality urban environment, so there is a reference there to it, is there 
not? 40 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And I think your paragraph 9.2 of your evidence, if you just 

hold if you can that document where you have got it, and have a look 45 
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also at your 9.2.  You have identified there a series of places where 
some direction on urban design can be found also, have you not? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   9.2? 
 5 
MR RADICH:   9.2, page 20, your evidence. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   Okay, and I managed to find another one.  If you have a look 10 

at Mr Eman’s document proposal, 3.6.1.5, that is page 33, and have a 
look at (vi) Design Quality.  Do you see that at the bottom? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 15 
MR RADICH:   So there is another one there, is there not.  You have to accept, 

Mr Nicholson, that there are a range of mentions here, but they are very 
buried amongst other provisions, aren’t they, you would have to accept 
that, would you not? 

 20 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think they reflect the Council’s position that we have 

attempted to audit this chapter based on larger urban issues rather than 
by functional subject matter.  The rest of the plan is organised on a 
functional, you know, manner.  There are various ways of organising 
chapters, and this reflects – many of these things interrelate, the 25 
provision of housing has an implication to urban form, for example, so 
to have a heading for urban form and one for housing, you know, does 
not reflect the interaction. 

 
 We believe that the way they are ordered, or I believe the way the 30 

chapter is ordered is sensible and is accessible. 
 
MR RADICH:   But you must accept they are scattered.  It mentions references 

to urban design, the things that you would like to see are scattered? 
 35 
MR NICHOLSON:   Urban design is an integrative discipline, and I would 

expect to see it scattered through a variety of objectives. 
 
MR RADICH:   All right.  Have a look please at the Crown version of the 

proposal.  I am not sure how your desk is ordered, it might be to your - 40 
- - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Was it exhibit 1. 
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MR RADICH:   Exhibit 1, and if you have a look please at page 19, look at 
page 19 and hopefully I will have the same version, there is an 
objective there, “City, Form and Development.” 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 5 
 
MR RADICH:   Do you see that the Crown has sought to bring together in one 

place, the notion of form and development? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   There is an objective called “City, Form and 10 

Development”, however, I note that the policies in the Council version 
that lie underneath this one we looked at, 3.6.1.5, I think – I will just 
confirm that for you, sorry – had been deleted from the Crown version, 
so there is “Development, Design and Quality” has been deleted so 
while there is one objective the policy that underlies that has been 15 
removed from the Crown version, and further the main body of the 
urban form policy has been moved into the business effectively, so the 
business section. 

 
  [12.10 pm] 20 
 
MR RADICH:   Well look I think it would be fair to say if you would agree 

with me that the Council and the Crown having differing views on the 
substantive notion of urban design, but you would agree with me 
wouldn’t you what the Crown has sought to do is to place this topic in 25 
one place? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   In terms of urban form they lie under the objective 3.6.3 

“Business and Economic Prosperity”, and then there are policies on 
business development, on business form and key activity centres. 30 

 
MR RADICH:   So you do not think there should be a separate objective for 

the notion of design and form? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   There is a separate objective but there are no policies 35 

relating to design and urban quality. 
 
MR RADICH:   In the Council version? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   In the Crown version. 40 
 
MR RADICH:   Well yes but in the Council version would you not wish from 

your own point of view to see a specific objective? 
 

45 
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MR NICHOLSON:   I think there are two objectives which are relevant and 
one is to do with (INDISTINCT 1.25) and the speed of it which 
includes development, design and quality and one to do with 
development, form and function and to me that is sensible and it is one 
way of organising this information. 5 

 
MR RADICH:   Putting your completely objective expert's hats on and 

providing assistance to the Panel, if you had a blank piece of paper here 
and a pen and you were to write an urban design and amenity objective 
what would you say?  It is a hard question I know on the spot, but if 10 
you wanted to capture some things and you had complete licence how 
would you write that objective? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think I would find it difficult to do it on the stand and I 

apologise for that, but I think that the provisions in the Christchurch 15 
version fairly reflect the requirements in the regional policy statement 
and the LURP and they reflect the balance that we need to strike 
between recovery and introducing or protecting or ensuring a high 
quality urban environment. 

 20 
MR RADICH:   Thank you.  I have no further questions, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Any re-examination Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, no sir. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Ms Dawson. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes I have a few questions please, Mr Nicholson.  In 

paragraph 8.1 of your evidence you talk about the adverse effects if 30 
quality urban design is not achieved and I am just wanting to explore 
the balance between those effects in terms of how you see the emphasis 
in the proposed plan between amenity for the users of the development 
and then amenity for, or amenity in a broad sense, for the people in the 
public area, the public realm.  You have listed both of those there but 35 
do you see any one of those having more emphasis than the other in the 
way that the provisions follow through into the plan?  Or be more 
important for us to emphasise. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think from my impression and I have worked on the 40 

residential chapter to a certain extent which perhaps is not a fair – in 
fact yes, the residential chapter I would say that the balance is fairly 
evenly weighted.  So there are a number of provisions which are really 
aimed at protecting amenity for people who live within medium density 
residential environments in protecting neighbours.  But also there are 45 
provisions which are aimed equally and I have not measured it or 
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quantified it, but my impression is it would be relatively equally 
balanced. 

 
 In the commercial chapter I suspect actually the balance is more 

towards protecting the public rather than the amenity of users although 5 
I suppose you could describe customers – I mean look it is a broad 
distinction and there is an overlap, you know helping customers find 
their way around commercial areas is perhaps an overlap between the 
two. 

 10 
  [12.15 pm] 
 
MS DAWSON:   On another topic.  You emphasise in your evidence that the 

plan does not require regulation in terms of urban design everywhere, 
that it is reasonably targeted and you talked about the higher density 15 
residential areas and the more intense commercial activity areas.  Can 
you have a look at policy 3.6.1.5 in the Council’s version, the one that 
you pointed out as the main policy relating to design quality. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Page 33. 20 
 
MS DAWSON:   I am interested in how you see that policy relating to what 

you say the plan focuses on in terms of the plan’s provisions.  Given 
that this is what we are talking about here – what is in the plan, in terms 
of not applying everywhere and not being too onerous, not causing 25 
additional costs but being something that is targeted.   

 
 Have you been involved in the development of the wording of this 

policy and relating it to what you have said in your evidence? 
 30 
MR NICHOLSON:   This policy largely comes from the regional policy 

statement.  There are the matters to be - - - 
 
MS DAWSON:   Well the matters do, well largely.  They have been adapted 

quite a bit.  But I suppose if you look at the first words in that policy it 35 
just says, “development shall give effect to” and then the urban design 
protocol and then all these other things.   

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Look, I think this outlines the matters the Council has had 

regard to.  We have – the Council has tried – I believe the Council has 40 
tried to balance the onerous and restrictive effects of regulation against 
the potential for adverse effects and the answer that the Council has 
arrived at is look we will not – the people in ordinary suburban living 
zone situations, what used to be living 1, should not be required to 
undergo a design assessment when they build a new house. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   So we have identified where there is greater risk.  The 

Council has identified where there is greater risk and more people 
might be affected.  And we have introduced regulation in that 5 
circumstance.  It would be fair to say that some of these principles are 
reflected in things like the bulk and location, some of the rules also.  So 
I think although I focused on discretionary urban design assessments 
some of the bulk and location rules have been affected by the desire to 
create a high quality environment also.  And those would occur across 10 
– those restrictions are obviously in place across all of the zones. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But do you accept that this as it reads applies across the 

board?  That is the point. 
 15 
MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Yes, because you have emphasised - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And that is contrary to your evidence. 
 
MS DAWSON:   - - - the balance and the target for this and yet the policy does 20 

not seem to reflect that and although the RPS might have an 
overarching guidance, direction, in interpreting that into the city plan 
your evidence has said well we need to achieve a balance and we have 
decided it can be targeted.  And we are looking at the strategic 
directions policy in this case for the ongoing development of the plan 25 
and I am wondering why it is not more targeted. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Can I take you to paragraph 9.7 of my evidence please.  

So here I talk about three kinds of urban design regulation.  One is 
about information.  It is a level of understanding.  One is prescriptive 30 
plan rules which define how much development is possible and those 
apply across all zones, the prescriptive bulk and location.  And then the 
third one is the discretionary assessment matters and those on balance I 
believe Council has restricted to areas of high risk.  Does that answer 
your question? 35 

 
MS DAWSON:   So you are saying that it is the resource consent process that 

is being targeted but other aspects to achieve urban design such as bulk 
and location applies to all development? 

 40 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes, I am sorry I will check my wording.  I apologise if 

that is - - - 
 
  [12.20 pm] 
 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No, I understand what you are saying.  So another question.  
The Crown’s position as I understand it in the final version of this 
chapter is that there should not be a policy on urban design.  And I 
think it says in the comment beside it that that should be left to the 
specific chapters later on.  What is your view on the need for an urban 5 
design policy or design and quality policy as the plan says at this level 
or waiting to develop them in a more targeted way I suppose later on? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I believe that the Crown version is deficient and that 

while there is an objective which discusses urban quality that I believe 10 
there should be some indication of policy about how that should be 
achieved, some guidance there as well.  So I - - - 

 
MS DAWSON:   Why – why in the strategic directions? 
 15 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think it would give a high level of understanding of 

what matters should be considered in each of the chapters and it could 
repeat that list in each of the chapters, but it would seem to me more 
appropriate to have that at a high level and this is what we are aiming 
to achieve and then to take the relevant aspects into each of the 20 
individual chapters. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Just one final question, I suppose going back to what we 

discussed a minute ago about the fact that it is the discretionary activity 
matters – the exercise of discretion through consent and discretionary 25 
assessment matters which are more targeted, I had a bit of a look at the 
assessment matters for urban design in the residential and the business 
chapters.  I do not know if you are familiar with those.  But they do not 
seem to be any resemblance to this list in policy 3.6.1.5 and I do not 
know whether they said or whether they are not connected.  Have you 30 
been involved in that relationship and have any comment on that? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Obviously this is a matter which will be discussed in 

more detail later on.  My observation, and I was involved in the 
assessment matters of developing those is that again we were striving 35 
to give a relatively – some certainty to people who were developing – 
some clarity about what we were asking, and when you look at the high 
level principles in the strategic directions if I was a developer and I 
came to look at those I think I would find it difficult to know how I 
could meet those.   40 

 
 So if you like the assessment matters in the residential chapter are a 

refinement of some of these and they are intended to be reasonably 
clear as to what we are talking about, rather than too general and too 
uncertain.  And I think this discussion really comes back to the balance 45 
between recovery and certainty and clarity and quality, urban quality 
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and flexibility and direction.  So with the assessment matters we have 
tried to make them specific, to be clear what we are asking people to 
do. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  That is all. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you Mr Nicholson.  Mr Radich asked you about the 

Crown’s proposed objective 3.6.2 “City form and Design”. 10 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And that is on page 19 of Exhibit 1.  Just to clarify for me, 

you I think responded to that by saying that in inserting that objective 15 
there was some associated policy provisions that were deleted by the 
Crown.  Can you just clarify for me please which ones they are? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   So effectively under that objective the Crown has added a 

sort of urban form direction about (INDISTINCT 4.31) development 20 
coordinated with infrastructure and transport, and also a comment 
about quality of the environment. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Yes I understand but you made mention of the fact that he 

deleted some provisions of that policy.  I just want to clarify which they 25 
are please? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I can.  This is on page 24 of my version.  It is a crossed 

out policy, “Development Design and Quality”, 3.6.1.5. 
 30 
  [12.25 pm] 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  All right, thank you.  On page 33 of the 

Council version of the provisions there is reference to the 2005 
New Zealand Urban Design Protocol which I think in this document 35 
gets its genesis from the RPS where it is mentioned.  Can you tell me a 
little bit about what that document does and in particular on a 
continuum of highly prescriptive at one end to aspirational at the other 
where that document sits? 

 40 
MR NICHOLSON:   I can and I have a paragraph on page 50 of my evidence.  

Paragraph 8.1.7.  “The New Zealand urban design protocol was 
published by the Ministry of the Environment to recognise the 
importance of urban design and the development of towns and cities.  
The protocol is a voluntary commitment by central and local 45 
government, property developers, investors, design professionals and 
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educational institutes and other groups to create quality urban design.  
The Christchurch City Council is a signatory.  I think a lot of the major 
urban councils are signatories”. 

 
 I think it is aspirational, so it is intended to raise the bar in terms of the 5 

quality of the urban environment.  Perhaps the best known part of it are 
the 7 Cs.  The famous – and to be honest they are fairly high level 
principles which are hard to give effect to directly.  They are context, 
character, choice, connections, creativity, custodianship and 
collaboration.  But they are a good starting point for thinking about the 10 
high level issues I believe so I do not mean to – but I suggest that if we 
wanted to try and evaluate a particular resource consent against them it 
would be a relatively high level of uncertainty. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Following on from that and using that document as the 15 

starting point and as you then would work through the various 
provisions that follow from that, how much of what it is trying to 
achieve can be set by prescriptive criteria and/or standards versus the 
need for what you call these discretionary assessments that are 
undertaken on a case by case basis? 20 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think that in my opinion great development happens in 

spite of District Plans.  In spite of, beside it – I do not believe that 
District Plan rules lead to great urban developments.  I believe that they 
protect the public from adverse effects and so I believe that the 25 
regulation and the prescription if you like is the safety net which 
protects the public and the users of these developments from adverse 
effects. 

 
 I do not believe as such they will lead to great urban design.  That often 30 

happens through the vision of individual developers, of Councils, of 
politicians.  Does that answer - - - 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Well it sort of does.  So that means that by your having a 

regulation around those matters that somebody has to be the arbiter of 35 
what is great development in that context, does it? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I do not believe that the city plan is – I think I say that 

great architecture is not necessary.  We are looking for an acceptable 
baseline.  We are not trying to get people to aim for the stars.  We hope 40 
they will, we will encourage them, we will advocate for them to do 
that, but I do not believe that we can regulate for them to achieve great 
results.  And I do not think that is the purpose. 

 
45 
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DR MITCHELL:   But when you say what you call at paragraph 9.7 and then 
onwards in 9.12 and 13 in your evidence, when you talk about a 
discretionary assessment, do you mean discretionary in the context of 
activity status?  Or do you mean that it is at the discretion of the 
proponent whether they do it or not?  Presumably it is the former. 5 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   It is – I think technically a restricted discretionary 

activity.  So it is restricted to the matters - - - 
 
DR MITCHELL:   But it is an activity status. 10 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   But the intention is that rather than telling people how 

they do it, how they deliver it, that they have choice and that the 
Council with the aid if required of an independent advisory body, the 
Urban Design Panel, would assess that.  Whether they reach the 15 
outcome. 

 
  [12.30 pm] 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And you anticipate those, from my understanding of your 20 

paragraph 9.13, those being non-notified procedures? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes.  
 
DR MITCHELL:   So effectively you would be the arbiter of whether those 25 

criteria were satisfied or not, is that how it would work? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   The Council, as the delegated body, which approves 

resource consents, or Commissioners, or the Environment Court, would 
be the arbiter of that matter.  30 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Just finally, if you took the urban design practice as applied 

by the Council immediately prior to the earthquakes and you then drew 
a line in the sand there, and then you drew another line in the sand as to 
where we are now and what it is proposing, how would the practice that 35 
you are outlining in your evidence compare with what was being 
undertaken in, say, late 2010? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Look, I think that as you go through some of the other 

chapters, you will see that we have made a lot of effort to reduce the 40 
number and to simplify the assessment matters and to make them more 
user friendly in response to what people have said to us about them, 
and we’ve gone back to check; do we really need them, can we get rid 
of them?  So I mean I think there’s been a very, a rigorous assessment 
of the urban design controls.  45 
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 I think there’s also been a – and there is a team of urban designers and 
urban regeneration experts, and we are very aware that the city needs to 
be rebuilt, we need development, we are not doing our job if we cannot 
help people get over the line and rebuild the city.  It would be 
disastrous.  So we have a culture, a can do culture which is about 5 
finding solutions, not about finding problems. 

 
 I think that one of the comments I made, with regard to the Urban 

Design Panel, and we often think about the Urban Design Panel, which 
is a group of independent professionals who carry out the discretionary 10 
assessments, the temptation is to think of people who say no, you 
know, but actually they’re all practitioners, they all build things, they 
are architects, they are landscape architects, they find solutions and 
they recommend to the Council, say “look, in this instance it might be a 
good idea to think about approving the breach of this rule”. 15 

 
 And obviously that is a decision that has to be made by the 

Commissioner or the Council or the Environment Court with respect of 
all the other resource management matters, but urban design is partly 
about finding solutions, and about helping things to happen. 20 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thanks, Mr Nicholson. Thanks, Mr Chairman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I have a few questions, thanks. 
 
 Mr Nicholson, just a few follow up questions on this, if you could take 

yourself back to page 33 of the plan document Mr Eman puts in his 
rebuttal.  Looking at the reference to the New Zealand Urban Design 30 
Protocol, you would accept the starting point, would you not, that it’s 
not ideal to have a policy refer to an extraneous document that the 
ordinary member of the public will not be able to necessarily 
understand? 

 35 
 Well, I will  ask the question a bit more – if you are struggling with 

that, I will put it a different way. If you did not feel governed by the 
requirement to give effect to the regional policy statement, would it be 
your drafting preference, nevertheless, to have a policy that refer to the 
“giving effect” to the principles of the extraneous document, the Urban 40 
Design Protocol? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   The protocol is a government initiative by the Ministry of 

the Environment - - - 
 45 



 Page 170 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 02.12.14 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just answer the question. What would your preference 
be in drafting permits? I know the document, I have read it, I know 
about the seven C’s. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   As an urban designer I have a preference to see it in there, 5 

but I concede that I’m not a planner, or a - - - 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So if you want a member of the public to understand what 

your profession expects of them in development, do you think that they 
would prefer to see it or not? Would it make it easier for them to 10 
understand the policy, or harder to have it in there? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   It would mean they have to refer to another document, so 

in that sense I think it is fair to say it would not. 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just this word development here, is it your understanding 

or not that that word is intended to refer to the modifications to a 
dwelling, for instance, the addition of a kitchen, or is it intended to be 
used at a wider scale of reference for development? 

 20 
  [12.35 pm] 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I think it would be intended at a wider scale, although, 

but it might refer to an individual dwelling in specific circumstances.  
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So in terms of the intention of the policy, the policy is not 

intended to apply urban design discretion to the addition of a kitchen to 
a house, is it? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I do not believe it is intended to direct the Council to 30 

apply urban design discretion over anything particularly, just to say that 
development should happen in accordance with these principles. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to get an understanding of whether you as an 

urban designer think that the policy should be directed at a wider scale 35 
of development than what I have described or not. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I believe, and I am sorry, I’m struggling a little bit to 

answer this, I believe - - - 
 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I’ll put it in context. The word development is 

defined in the plan in the definition section, and from looking at it, it 
looks like it would extend to, for instance, the example I have 
described, and all I am trying to get an understanding of is whether in 
looking at the drafting of this policy, some attention needs to be given 45 
to that word? 



 Page 171 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 02.12.14 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Well, I think that as we go through the chapters you will 

see that the Council has attempted to define what developments should 
be, you know, the risks that would lead to poor, to adverse urban 
effects on the urban environment, and that is not putting a washhouse 5 
on the back of an existing dwelling, so we put triggers in which – so 
those judgements are implicit in the plan, I think. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   So in short, it is not intended to apply to that, to an addition, a 

small addition to a house? 10 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I do not believe it is. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, that is what you were asked. 
 15 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes, sorry.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   That is all right.  So just in terms of that finally – well 

there’s two more questions really.  I think in your answer, before you 
said it applies, for instance, where there is a restricted discretionary 20 
activity decision to be made, in some contexts, is that correct? Your 
evidence and your answers before, that is what I took from that? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes. 
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So for instance, regardless of the drafting, the intention of 

the drafting might be a category of development that might be 
restricted discretionary activity in certain parts of the city. 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   That’s correct.  30 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Is that more or less what is intended with the 

tracked change edition to say that this policy, either in whole or in part, 
might not have application in certain areas, depending on the 
environment and function of those areas, is that the intention behind 35 
that additional clarification? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   I believe that’s the intention, yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Nicholson. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   4.6 of your evidence, you say currently discretionary urban 

design assessments are operating effectively, dah, dah, dah, within 
statutory timeframes. Is that to say – that is only a comment that they 
are not slowing the process down or is it to say that they are within 45 
statutory timeframes and in urban design terms they are effective? 
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MR NICHOLSON:   No, I expand on that, I will just find the relevant – so if 

you look at paragraph 8.3.1, on page 19. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I’m sorry, my question is, where you say “operating 5 

effectively”, is that dealing with timeframes or is it dealing with urban 
design outcomes and timeframes? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Both, I believe.  
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   And on what basis are you saying in urban design outcomes, 

it’s operating effectively, that is your opinion, or is there been some 
study or – where do you get that conclusion from? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   That is my opinion. 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  
 
 At 7, reference to regulation.  Why is regulation required, is it your 

view that regulation is the only tool that is effective in reaching the 20 
outcomes you seek? 

 
MR NICHOLSON:   Not that it is the only tool, it is my opinion that it is a 

necessary tool, but it needs to be part of a range of other tools. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   So in other words, other tools would not be effective without 

the regulation on top? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   That is correct.  
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  
 
 Mr Radich, anything from the Panel’s questions? 
 
MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Nicholson, you may stand down. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.40 pm] 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, the next witness is Mr Osborne. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  We had better get the right one because we have 5 

two, don’t we. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   This is Mr Richard Osborne and his evidence deals with 

transportation matters. 
 10 
<RICHARD OSBORNE, sworn [12.40 pm] 
 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [12.41 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Will you please confirm for the Panel that your full 15 

name is Richard Tancred John Osborne and you have the qualifications 
and experience as set out in your introduction to your evidence? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It is, and I do. 
 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief 

dated 18 November 2014.  Do you have any amendments or changes to 
that evidence?  

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I do not. 25 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you confirm that to the best of your 

knowledge and ability, your evidence is true and correct? 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I do. 30 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Will you please take the Panel quickly through the key 

points of your evidence, and remain where you are to answer any 
questions. 

 35 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Sir, your Honour and Panel members.  In my 

opinion the key Strategic Transport Directions for the Replacement 
District Plan as the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement provides 
clear direction on transport matters, and the replacement plan must give 
effect to it. 40 

 
 One of the key themes is the integration of land use and transport.  

Transport and land use are quite closely related, and I consider that 
their integration is fundamental not just to the regional policy statement 
but of the other key documents I have referenced in my evidence. 45 
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 Obviously land use activities result in the movement of people and 
goods, therefore the location and design of different land uses 
determines the distances people travel and the viability of public 
transport, cycling and walking facilities.  Patterns of development that 
reduce journey distances tend to provide greater travel choices. 5 

 
 In addition to the RPS, Action 36 on page 35 of the Land Use Recovery 

Plan, requires Council to provide for land use and transport integration 
including measures to support the implementation of the Greater 
Christchurch Transport Statement, Christchurch Transport Strategic 10 
Plan and the Christchurch Central Recovery Plan, support for transport 
choice including walking and cycling and public transport, 
management of conflicts between property access, streetscape and 
transport efficiency. 

 15 
 I will briefly summarise these documents. 
 
 I consider that the Greater Christchurch Transport Statement focuses on 

freight, port and airport issues, public transport, growth areas and 
access to and from the central city.  20 

 
 In addressing these sub regional priorities, the key outcomes in 

resulting objectives seek integration of land use and transport, network 
optimisation, predictable travel times, more options for cycling, 
walking and public transport, safe journeys, the need to support place 25 
making and active travel, and reduce emissions. 

 
 Transport choice, in balancing the network, are key themes of the 

Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan, with a focus on promoting 
active travel and public transport.  The Christchurch Transport 30 
Strategic Plan also notes that while all transport options support 
economic vitality, freight journey reliability is of particular importance, 
and acknowledges the role of the port and airport.  It also promotes 
using the road network more efficiently, land use and transport 
integration, and emissions reduction. 35 

 
 I consider modal choice as an important concept.  For people to have an 

effective choice there needs to be an opportunity to walk, cycle, take 
public transport, as well as use private motor vehicles both reliably and 
safely.  Modal choice is important to reducing reliance on private 40 
vehicle use.  Increased patronage of public transport and active modes 
will, in turn, free up the network for commercial trips. 
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  [12.45 pm] 
 
 The Christchurch Central Recovery Plan was developed under the 

CERA Act.  In October 2013, a replacement transport chapter known 
as “An Accessible City”, was introduced to the Christchurch Central 5 
Recovery Plan.  This created a new road use hierarchy where, like the 
Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan, different routes are prioritised 
with different travel modes so that transport choices are provided to the 
central city.  

 10 
 An Accessible City goes on to explain in detail key walking, cycling, 

public transport and private vehicle routes.  It also creates an inner 
zone, with a maximum 30 kilometre speed, to help create better streets 
for pedestrians. 

 15 
 In summary, the key things that I have derived from the higher order 

documents are as follows. 
 
 The need to integrate Land Use and Transport, promoting the use of 

public and active transport modes and modal choice, avoiding reverse 20 
sensitivity effects on the strategic transport network and arterial roads, 
avoiding, remedying or mitigating the adverse effects of transport use, 
providing for freight and access to Lyttelton Port Christchurch and 
Christchurch International Airport Limited, optimising use of existing 
capacity within the network, managing network congestion, reducing 25 
dependency on private motor vehicles and travel demand management, 
reducing emissions or contaminants to air and energy use and safety. 

 
 This policy direction is predominantly addressed in the transport 

chapter, proposal 6, of the Replacement District Plan.  Notwithstanding 30 
this, I consider the transport components of the strategic direction 
proposal captures the broad thrust of the (INDISTINCT 2.08) higher 
level documents, but acknowledge that some changes should be made 
to the Replacement District Plan to better reflect these documents. 

 35 
 These recommended changes are outlined in Mr Falconer’s evidence.  I 

am happy to answer any questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Radich? 
 40 
MR RADICH:   Mr Carranceja, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 

45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [12.47 pm] 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Osborne.  Could I 

please refer you to paragraph 6.2 of your evidence where you 
summarise the key themes which you derived from what they call the 5 
higher order documents.  And you helpfully read them out just before. 

 
 I would like to draw your attention to – on page 32, the third bullet 

point down, “optimising the use of existing capacity within the 
network.” 10 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   That is correct. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   If I could put to you, the various higher order 

documents that you just reviewed in coming up with a summary of 15 
outcomes or themes, if you like, if I could put to you that there should 
also be listed in those bullet points, something to refer to the provision 
and efficient use of a new infrastructure, not just existing infrastructure, 
would you accept that? 

 20 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   That is not something that I have read in the 

higher order documents that I have described. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, well could I please refer you then to the RPS, 

policy 634. 25 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   What was that policy number, sorry, 634? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, policy 634, that should be on page 56 of the RPS, 

sir.   30 
 
 I notice in paragraph 6.3 of your evidence you do refer to this policy, 

but I just want to draw some attention to some specific words in that 
policy. 

 35 
 So if you have a look at policy 634, it says, “ensure that an efficient 

and effective transport network that supports business and residential 
recovery is restored, protected and enhanced...” – I just want to hold 
that word there “enhanced”, “so that it maintains and improves.” 

 40 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Would you accept that the words “enhance” and 

“improves”, contemplates the new infrastructure? 
 45 
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MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   That could be interpreted that way, it could also 
mean enhancing existing infrastructure. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   But would you accept that proposition, that in terms of 

an outcome that could be promoted from this policy, you would also 5 
seek to provide for new infrastructure and efficient use of that new 
infrastructure? 

 
  [12.50 pm] 
 10 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   When I read the remainder of the policy, 

specifically bullet point 2, it says, “Providing patterns of development 
that optimise use of existing network capacity”.  So my reading of that 
was that that was a key focus of a means to achieve the description 
under 6.3.4.   15 

 
 And I have described what my interpretation of optimising network 

capacity is within my evidence, it is a term that engineers sometimes 
refer to as “sweating the asset”.  And that is a key driver not just in the 
RPS, and I think it is a key driver of the government as well, so that we 20 
don’t go out and spend unnecessary both taxpayer and ratepayer money 
on new infrastructure when it is simply not required. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Hence my point being that it is about providing for new 

infrastructure and efficient use of that infrastructure.  If I could draw 25 
your attention then to points 2 and 5, under policy 6.3.4, you will see 
the word there at the end of 2, it talks about provide opportunities for 
modal choice, the word opportunity there.  If I refer then also to No 3 
of that policy, providing opportunities for travel demand management.  
Opportunities again contemplates future, not existing? 30 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:  But when I read that,, opportunities can also 

contemplate using the existing network.  So opportunities for modal 
choice can be provided within the existing network.  Opportunities for 
travel demand management can be provided within the existing 35 
network. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   If I can you move on then to recovery strategy, have 

you got that in front of you, the recovery strategy on page 11 please? 
 40 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I have got the copy myself so I will just find 

that. 
 
 Page 11, you say? 
 45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, page 11.  So if you have a look at page 11 you will 
see No 5, one of the goals there, the built environment recovery goal 
No 5, can you see that at the top of page 11? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes. 5 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I would like you to have a look at 5.1, 5.3 and 5.4.  5.1 

refers to co-ordinating and prioritising infrastructure investment, that 
effectively contributes to the economy and community during recovery 
and into the future.  The reference to co-ordinating and prioritising 10 
infrastructure investment, surely that does not only refer to existing 
infrastructure? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It could refer to both. 
 15 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  What about 5.3, rebuilding infrastructure, 

surely that does not contemplate just existing infrastructure, it could 
include new infrastructure? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It could include that.  It could also include 20 

existing infrastructure. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  5.4, if you have a look at that, developing a 

transport system, couldn’t that also contemplate the development of 
new infrastructure? 25 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It could do, but it is not implicit in it as I read it. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Could I get you to now look at the LURP, action 36 

please.  Page 35. 30 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I would like you to concentrate on action 36(i), I will 

just read that out, “Christchurch City Council to enable in the next 35 
review of its District Plan…” – what we are doing right now – “… to 
provide for land use and transport network integration, including 
measures to support the implementation of the Greater Christchurch 
Transport Statement, the Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan and the 
Christchurch Central Recovery Plan”.  You refer to those three 40 
documents in your evidence. 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I do. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Don’t all three of them talk about providing new 45 

infrastructure, transport infrastructure specifically? 
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MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   What I have sought to do is outline the key 

themes of those documents, and they may talk about those issues but I 
do not think they are the key themes. 

 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Well, how would you support that implementation of 

those three documents? 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   As I have outlined in my evidence, I think the 

key things that I have derived from the key higher order documents are; 10 
integration of land use and transport; the importance of the strategic 
road network with particular reference to Christchurch International 
Airport and Lyttelton Port of Christchurch, and modal choice providing 
for active travel and public transport.   

 15 
  [12.55 pm] 
 
 If I was to summarise the three key themes that would be it.  There is 

obviously a whole lot of other information in there but that is what I 
have distilled from those key higher order documents.  They don’t read 20 
to me as documents that talk about, or encourage, huge new 
infrastructure rebuilds in terms of new roading infrastructure. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I note you put in the word “huge”, I would just like to 

delete that word and to suggest to you do these documents provide 25 
support for the provision of new, not huge new but just new 
infrastructure, and the efficient use of that new infrastructure in the 
context of Christchurch recovery from the earthquakes, do they or do 
they not? 

 30 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I don’t think there is anything in there that 

restricts new infrastructure, as in being built, new transport 
infrastructure being built, but it is not a key theme that I am reading 
from them. 

 35 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Would you, in terms of your expertise, have any 

objection to a theme being carried forward into the strategic directions 
proposal that supports the provision of new infrastructure and the 
efficient use of that new infrastructure? 

 40 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   In terms of the strategic directions that Mr Eman 

has provided to the Hearings Panel it is my understanding that there is a 
new proposed objective at 3.6 which talks about the importance of 
infrastructure. 

 45 
SIR HANSEN:   Well 3.6 what? 
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MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It doesn’t have a subclause, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just 3.6, thank you. 
 5 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It is on page 37 I believe.  Now, this was 

provided, I believe this came out after I had written my evidence-in-
chief, but it is the new one up there which is 3.6(x). 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Well, I am presuming you would support that 3.6XA(i), 10 

“Promotes the efficient provision of infrastructure”? 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes, and when I think of infrastructure, new 

infrastructure can mean in addition to existing infrastructure as well. 
 15 
SIR HANSEN:   So to try and cut this short, you would accept the focus of the 

documents you have been referring to can mean existing but it also 
could include new? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   That is correct. 20 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No further questions, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 25 
DR MITCHELL:   I have just got two simple questions, at least I think they are 

simple to ask, we will see if they are simple to answer or not.  You 
have referred in your evidence to the Greater Christchurch Transport 
Statement of 2012, and the Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan? 

 30 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Two questions in relation to those, you have noted that they 

are both non-statutory documents, what is the degree of – well, in 
relation to the transport strategic plan you have said that that was 35 
developed through a process of involvement with stakeholders in 
collaboration.  What does stakeholders mean in that context, is that the 
public of Christchurch or is that the NZTAs and the local authorities 
and so forth? 

 40 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It involved both with the UDS partners, or the 

urban development strategy partners were involved in its development, 
but there was also a wider consultation process, so a variety of 
members of the public or interest groups also submitted on that and I 
believe – I believe, I am not a hundred percent certain of this, that there 45 
was a hearing type environment. 
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DR MITCHELL:   And is that similar in respect of the transport statement, the 

greater transport statement? 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   No, that was developed, led by NZTA, but in a 5 

collaborative effort with all the other partners that I listed in my 
evidence-in-chief.  So that is both the UDS partners as well as Lyttelton 
Port of Christchurch, MoT, Christchurch International Airport. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay, I understand, thank you.  And how much of 10 

the transport policy direction that is in the plan derives from these two 
non-statutory documents versus the other documents that have more 
statutory weight? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   In terms of the RPS having statutory - - - 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Well, the suite of the other ones that you have mentioned 

including the RPS.  Are these documents highly relevant to the plan 
provisions or are they bit players in the development of the overall 
policy direction?  I’m just trying to get a feel for how important they 20 
are in shaping the direction in the plan? 

 
  [1.00 pm] 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   From a Council perspective, the Christchurch 25 

Transport Strategic Plan is a transport policy plan which directs what 
we do and how we invest our money, so that’s an important document, 
and because it’s referenced in the LURP there are some key themes 
which I think are important that flow through both the strategic 
directions and transport chapter.  But I don’t think there’s huge 30 
inconsistencies between the flavour of that document and what you’ll 
find in the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, and there is a degree 
of similarity in that the Greater Christchurch Transport Statement is 
different, it’s sub-regional in its nature, so it picks up parts of Selwyn 
and Waimak and has a key focus on certainly priorities for recovery of 35 
Christchurch. 

 
 So it is slightly different, but I also think that it’s important because, 

one, it is a local document and, two, it is directed by the LURP for us to 
give consideration to it.  But I do not think that is inconsistent either 40 
with the RPS. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  
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 Just on the RPS, it’s a matter that Mr Falconer addresses in detail, but 
you have cross-referenced it in your evidence at your paragraph 4.2 
when you talk about the RPS. 

 
 If I can refer you to Mr Falconer’s evidence, because I’d like to get 5 

your opinion on it please, and it’s at his paragraph 8.3 – I’ll try and 
paraphrase what I think his evidence is saying there, there is a number 
of submitters that have talked about some of the shorter term objectives 
around roading networks and so forth.  Mr Falconer’s evidence says 
that the policy direction in the RPS has a mention of reducing reliance 10 
on motor vehicles, and as a consequence of that, some of the relief 
that’s being sought by submitters, particularly at his paragraph 8.3; 
Progressive Enterprises, Bunnings and Kiwi Property Trust, they 
wanted to make a change that added that whilst recognising that travel 
by a car will continue to be the primary source of movement into the 15 
foreseeable future.  The Council’s view seems to say that making that 
change doesn’t give effect to policy 6.2.4(2) of the RPS.  

 
 And I just wonder if you have a view on that, bearing in mind that that 

policy 6.2.4(2) says, “prioritise the planning of transport infrastructure 20 
so that it maximises integration”, and then it goes on to say “and 
facilitates the movements of goods and people, while”, and then there’s 
a great big long list; managing congestion, reducing dependence on 
private motor vehicles.  It seems to me that’s a small part of the overall 
transportation scheme and I would have thought that, notwithstanding 25 
what you’ve said about modal choice and so on and so forth, the 
practical reality as of today is it’s going to take some time for that to be 
achieved and that whilst “recognising that travel by car will continue to 
be the primary source of movement into the foreseeable future”, or 
something along those lines, isn’t an unrealistic view to take, and I’d 30 
like your comment on that please, especially whether you think that it’s 
not appropriate because it’s not giving effect to the RPS? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   In terms of, excuse me for a moment, sir, I’m 

just wanting my copy of evidence as opposed to Mr Falconer’s. 35 
 
DR MITCHELL:   It’s policy 6.2.4(2) of the RPS. 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Yes.  That objective, the introduction to it is 

quite clear, as you say, and it talks about the need to prioritise transport 40 
infrastructure in relation to land use.  So my reading of that is that it’s 
not simply about providing and upgrading new infrastructure in priority 
areas and new settlements, that is why the objective seeks integration of 
land use and transport while reducing dependency on private vehicles, 
while promoting private and public transport. 45 
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  [1.05 pm] 
 
 So I think my reading of these documents is that that whole issue of 

modal choice is quite important, it flows through all of them, but that’s 
not the only way that you would reduce dependency on private motor 5 
vehicles, as Mr Falconer’s outlined in his evidence.  Minimising the 
need for travel by collocating compatible activities is also another 
means for achieving that, and I think that’s very important because 
people will intuitively gravitate towards – if you cannot take your car 
then the only way of reducing reliance on private motor vehicles is by 10 
taking your bike, walking or taking public transport. 

 
 But if you collocate compatible activities together, then that also can 

achieve that fundamental theme of reducing reliance on private motor 
vehicles.  And if I could just say from my perspective, as a transport 15 
and land use planner, one of the key things for achieving a higher 
uptake of active and public transport modes is going to be urban 
consolidation, it is going to be mixed use and colocation of key 
activities in and around key activity centres, and making sure that we 
have an appropriate suite of provisions that provide for and enable that. 20 

 
 It is not just about us providing major cycle ways, because if those 

don’t go to the areas where people need, then they are going to be a 
waste of time.  So it’s about ensuring that we have that mixture of uses, 
the intensification of the land uses, and once that’s achieved, plus the 25 
infrastructure, plus the, you know, ensuring that people, when they get 
to work that they have a place to put their bike, if that’s what they’re 
using, they have a place to shower, that’s what’s going to achieve a 
higher uptake of active and public transport. 

 30 
DR MITCHELL:   But you do not think that Mr Falconer might have 

overstated the import of objective 6.2.4(2) to essentially say that 
anything that makes some “positive” statement about the need to have 
cars on roads in the short term flies in the face of that policy? I mean, 
he says that – the one that’s on the screen there, the red line piece – 35 
“while recognising that travel by car will continue to be the primary 
source of movement into the foreseeable future”, seems to me that’s 
probably a statement pretty close to being factually accurate, and he’s 
saying that relief is not appropriate because it doesn’t give effect to the 
policy that we were looking at before, and my proposition is do you 40 
think that that’s overstating the import of policy 6.2.4(2) in the context 
of the wider set of transportation policies that were mentioned before, 
in your cross-examination in particular? 

 
45 
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MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   My understanding is that about 82% of people 
within Christchurch travel to work by car, using a private motor 
vehicle.  That was as per the last Census.  That’s gone up in previous 
years.  I don’t think there needs to be a lot more policy encouragement 
for the private motor vehicle when you already have such a high 5 
proportion of people using them in Christchurch.  

 
 And my reading of those high order documents is there is a very strong 

flavour and theme coming through them about the need to support both 
active and public transport. 10 

 
DR MITCHELL:   So your opposition to 8.3, is not a factual opposition? 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   It’s more - - - 
 15 
DR MITCHELL:   Do you think there’s a policy impediment to that, and if you 

don’t, do you think that that amendment that is on the screen, makes 
transport planning sense? 

 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   I think with the strategic directions chapter, what 20 

you put in there will obviously percolate through the remaining 
chapters that sit under the plan, and if you put further policy 
encouragement within it for use of the private motor vehicle, then I 
think naturally the consequential result of that will be that the transport 
chapter will, somehow or another, need to reflect it. 25 

 
 Now, as I have said in my reading of those high order documents it’s 

not something that stands out.  There might be some references to it, 
but it’s not something that stands out, the focus is on integration of land 
use and transport freight, strategic roads, active travel, public transport.  30 
That’s a very clear theme that I am reading coming through. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Osborne, you can stand down. 35 
 
MR RICHARD OSBORNE:   Thank you, sir. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.10 pm] 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Just for the record, Judge Hassan previously acted for NZTA, 

he has already declared that, but I just want to put it on the record, he’ll 
take no part in considerations of matters dealing with transport.  

 
 We will adjourn for lunch, let’s start back at 2 o’clock.  We have gone 45 

a little bit over.  Thank you. 
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ADJOURNED [1.10 pm] 
 
RESUMED [2.00 pm] 
 5 
MADAM REGISTRAR:   Please all rise for Members of the Panel. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir.  Council’s next witness is Mr David 10 

Falconer. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Call, Mr Falconer. 15 
 
<DAVID FALCONER, affirmed [2.01 pm] 
 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.01 pm] 
 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   And, Mr Falconer, can you please confirm that your full 

name is David Ian Falconer and you have the qualifications and 
experience set out in the introduction to your statement of evidence-in-
chief? 

 25 
DR FALCONER:   I am and I do. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you have produced a statement of 

evidence-in-chief dated 18 November 2014 and also a rebuttal 
statement of evidence dated 27 November 2014, do you have any 30 
amendments or corrections to those statements? 

 
DR FALCONER:   I don’t. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Will you please confirm that to the best of 35 

your knowledge and ability those statements are true and correct. 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes, they are. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And you have time to present a highlights package of 40 

your evidence and I understand you got that in front of you, will you 
please take that – take the Panel through that, and remain where you are 
and answer any questions. 

 
DR FALCONER:   Sure. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 
 
DR FALCONER:   Thank you.  Your Honours, Panel members, I understand 

that you’ve read my evidence, so I will take it as read, and I’ll just 
provide a brief summary of what I’ve said in my evidence. 5 

 
 As I stated in my evidence-in-chief, as part of my role in Council I 

have commented on the transport aspects of the strategic directions and 
instruction proposals.  In particular, my evidence considers the relief 
sought by submitters on the transport aspects of the strategic directions 10 
and introduction proposals. 

 
 I support the versions of the proposal that the Council notified on the 

27th of August 2014, subject to the amendments in attachment A of Mr 
Peter Eman’s rebuttal evidence, dated the 27th of November 2014, 15 
which are in my area of expertise of transport. 

 
 Now before lunch Mr Richard Osborne outline the scope and direction 

provided by the statutory and strategic transport planning documents 
that apply to Christchurch so I won’t repeat those in detail now, but I 20 
confirm that I agree with this evidence and that these – that his views 
on these documents are views I agree on. 

 
 These high order documents have informed the development of the 

introduction and strategic direction proposals and I consider that these 25 
proposals reflect these high order documents that Mr Osborne outlined. 

 
 As explained by Mr Osborne, in relation to transport planning the 

policy direction set in the high order documents is predominantly 
addressed in the transportation chapter, which is proposal 7 of the 30 
Replacement District Plan.  However, the introduction and strategic 
directions proposals set out in a high level, the approach to transport in 
the replacement plan. 

 
 Now the specific transport aspects of the proposals that I have 35 

considered in my evidence are; outcome 5 of the strategic outcomes in 
1.9 of the introduction proposal, now this is headed “Accessibility” and 
this outcomes recognises the importance of the strategic transport 
infrastructure and a need for an integrated transport network. 

 40 
 I’ve also considered issue 3.4.2 of the strategic directions proposal 

which is headed “Effective Functioning of the Transportation System”.  
Now this issue considers some challenges and opportunity for the 
transport network, including the changes post-earthquake, future 
growth pressures and the opportunity for a more sustainable network. 45 
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  [2.05 pm] 
 
 Also direction 3.5.2.5 of the strategic direction proposals I have 

considered – now this is headed “The Transport System Meets the 
Needs of the Community” and this direction recognises the role of the 5 
transport network in meeting a number of needs for the community 
including a safe and efficient movement of people and goods, improved 
health benefits and improved community interaction. 

 
 I’ve also considered objective 3.6.1 of the strategic directions proposals 10 

and in particular Roman numeral 4, which seeks that the transport and 
other infrastructure is coordinated and integrated with land use and 
supports sustainable development and economic growth. 

 
 And finally, I’ve also considered policy 3.6.2.1 of the strategic 15 

directions proposal which is headed “Accessible Development”, now 
this policy seeks the development activities and the transport network 
itself is located and designed to minimise adverse transport effects, 
including improving accessibility, minimising energy use, protecting 
equality, reduce independency on motor vehicles, enhancing 20 
opportunities for active public transport and collating activities. 

 
 Now I support all these provisions that I’ve just outlined, in particular 

because of their focus on active and public transport, the efficient 
movement of freight, reducing car dependency and integrated transport 25 
and land use, and also providing a balance between the recovery and 
the longer term needs of Christchurch. 

 
 Now I consider that these are appropriate to give effect to the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement and this approach is also 30 
consistent with the wider strategic and statutory transport planning 
documents that Mr Osborne outlined earlier today.  In particular, a 
Christchurch transport strategic plan, a greater Christchurch transport 
statement and city chapter of the Christchurch central recovery plan 
which the land use recovery plan directs the District Plan to support the 35 
implementation of. 

 
 Now, just briefly turning to the submissions received, following my 

review of the submissions on the plan, I support some amendments to 
the District Plan which is, as I mention before, found in Mr Peter 40 
Eman’s evidence in attachment A. 

 
 Now particular the changes that I consider are appropriate are 

providing greater recognition of the role of rail, recognising the 
changes in traffic from construction and demolition activities, 45 
recognising the role of network optimisation and demand management 
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and increase emphasis for walking, cycling, public transport and freight 
in managing congestion.  Also including a reference to the safety and 
efficiency of the transport network and seeking improved accessibility, 
not just between activities but also within and between 
neighbourhoods. 5 

 
 I consider these changes are appropriate when considering the high 

order documents, and in my view the transport aspects of the proposals 
as set out in attachment A of Peter Eman’s rebuttal evidence are 
appropriate for achieving the purpose of the Resource Management 10 
Act. 

 
 I’m happy to answer any questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Mr Carranceja, thank you. 15 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [2.08 pm] 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Mr Falconer. 
 20 
DR FALCONER:   Good afternoon. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Are you familiar with the statement of expectations in 

the order? 
 25 
DR FALCONER:   Yes, I am. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Look, one thing I would like for you to 

concentrate on is (INDISTINCT 4.01) refers to an expectation that this 
replacement plan will contain objectives and policies that clearly state 30 
the outcomes that are (INDISTINCT 4.10) Christchurch district. 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes, that is correct. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Now you mentioned earlier, just in your summary 35 

that you supported the notified version of the strategic directions 
proposal, but then you also said that you support Mr Eman’s version 
that was attached to his rebuttal? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 40 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Could I get you to turn Mr Eman’s version, page 

37, now right at the top of page 37 there is a new standalone objective 
related to infrastructure which was not there in the notified version, do 
you accept that? 45 
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DR FALCONER:   Yes, I do. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Would you accept that bringing out a standalone 

objective on something that is important provides greater clarity to a 
reader? 5 

 
  [2.10 pm] 
 
DR FALCONER:   As I have stated in my evidence and in my brief summary 

just previously I have not in detail considered this objective.  I have 10 
considered the transport objectives that I listed before so I think it is 
more appropriate for that question to go to Peter Eman, who has 
considered this in more detail than I have. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But you were asked to provide greater clarity, you must have 15 

a view on that surely? 
 
DR FALCONER:   I consider that it does from my brief consideration of it.  As 

I have said I have not considered it in detail. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Could I get you to look back a couple of pages, at page 

34 of Mr Eman’s version.  I would like you to look at objective 
3.6.2(a)(vi).   25 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now that refers to again the efficient provision of, 

amongst other things, infrastructure and (INDISTINCT 1.05) 30 
infrastructure.  Would you accept that having it hidden – I mean having 
there in what I will call an uber-objective, does not really make it stand 
out.  It is not clear to a reader, they need to read through an entire lot of 
things to actually ascertain that efficient provision of infrastructure is a 
desirable outcome? 35 

 
DR FALCONER:   I would consider that as I have mentioned before one of the 

key focuses from the higher order documents is integration of land use 
and transport and as far as this relates to transport having it integrated 
with an objective that talks about land use development and form and 40 
function I think is entirely appropriate to achieve that integration as 
higher order documents have required. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You do support Mr Eman’s latest version.  You did 

mention that before.  So I am taking it you are supporting the extraction 45 
of the objective regarding infrastructure making it stand alone, for 
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clarity purposes?  You did mention that you support Mr Eman’s 
version, correct? 

 
DR FALCONER:   I mentioned that I supported it in regards to the transport 

aspects of the chapter and as I mentioned before I have not considered 5 
the infrastructure objectives that Mr Eman has put forward in detail. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Your expertise is in planning correct? 
 
DR FALCONER:   Use of transportation, planning, yes. 10 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Transportation planning. 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 15 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now I just want to talk to you conceptually.  If the 

Panel were to decide that there were other desirable strategic outcomes 
to be promoted for Christchurch city, following the earthquakes, would 
you accept that the clearer that that outcome is stated in the objectives 
and policies of the strategic directions chapter the better it is in terms of 20 
accessibility for a reader? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes I would. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   And you accept that people who would be reading this 25 

plan would not be limited to experts such as yourself? 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes I do. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Members of the public will be reading this plan? 30 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes that is correct. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   So conceptually I think you are accepting that if there is 

a desirable objective or outcome, it needs to be clear. 35 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I would like to move on now to your discussion 

regarding emergency services vehicles. 40 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You have referred to it in your rebuttal evidence.  Page 

7 to 8, but what I would like to draw your attention to is in paragraph 45 
5.2 of your rebuttal evidence.  Now I think you have accepted that there 
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is a policy in the regional policy statement, I am referring to policy 
6.3.9.5(f) which you have referred to in your rebuttal. 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   And you are accepting that there is a policy that seeks 

to provide good access for emergency services for rural residential 
areas? 

 
DR FALCONER:   That is correct. 10 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   And it is necessary to give effect to the RPS, isn’t it? 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes it is. 
 15 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now I see in your evidence that the appropriate place 

for this would be in a rural residential chapter not in the strategic 
directions proposal? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 20 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now in making that view, you are not suggesting that 

the provision of good access to emergency vehicles is unique in non-
rural residential – is unique to rural residential areas are you? 

 25 
DR FALCONER:   No, but the Regional Policy Statement only refers to it in 

that regard. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You are not claiming any expertise in terms of the 

provision of emergency services, in making that statement? 30 
 
  [2.15 pm] 
 
DR FALCONER:   No. 
 35 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No.  Would you accept that it is a general proposition 

that without good access emergency vehicles such as fire fighting 
vehicles will not be able to adequately protect life and property? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 40 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  And that would apply in land uses other than rural 

residential land use? 
 
DR FALCONER:   Yes, but I consider that there is already sufficient direction, 45 

industry direction in this proposal.  It is a division of Mr Eman’s - - -  
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MR CARRANCEJA:   And where do you find that? 
 
DR FALCONER:   It is in that policy 3.6.2.1 on page 34 of Mr Eman’s 

version, already refers to improving accessibility between activities. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I am sorry, which one are you talking about? 
 
DR FALCONER:   This is policy 3.6.2.1 on page 34.  It already mentioned 

about improving accessibility and on the next page it also talks about 10 
improving safety and efficiency.  So I consider that that is for all uses, 
including emergency services. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   It is a bit vague though, it does not refer to emergency 

services vehicles at all, does it? 15 
 
DR FALCONER:   No, not specifically, no.  But it does not exclude them 

either. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   As a proposition to you, let us assume for a moment 20 

that the Hearings Panel considered that good access to emergency 
services vehicles is an important consideration for all the areas of the 
Christchurch District, not just broad (INDISTINCT 1.42) areas.  
Wouldn’t an appropriate place to provide for that whether a good 
policy or an objective, be the strategic directions for the proposal which 25 
has impact over the entire plan, not just the rural residential chapter? 

 
DR FALCONER:   I consider the strategic directions chapter, and this is 

mentioned in Mr Eman’s evidence and I support that, is set at a high 
level and should only deal with matters at a high level rather than in the 30 
detail.  If the Panel is of a mind to change the way that the strategic 
directions proposal is formed, and it deals with issues in detail such as 
that, then that is entirely up to them.  But my opinion is that this is 
really to be concise and easy to understand really needs to deal with 
issues at a high level rather than be wordy and in detail. 35 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Could I refer you again to Mr Stephen Timms’ version, 

the Crown version of the provisions, that should be exhibit 1, so 
hopefully it is available to you.  If I can refer to page 20 of exhibit 1.  
Have you got that, Mr Falconer? 40 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I would like to refer you to policy 3.6.2.1(a)(xiii) right 

down the bottom of that column there. 45 
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DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now you just mentioned to me before that you want the 

strategic directions chapter to be concise and clear. 
 5 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now what we have inserted there, what the Crown 

suggested we insert there, is concise and is something clear and proves 
safety and efficiency including adequate access to emergency services 10 
vehicles – is that not concise? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Well it adds additional wording.  But I suppose my concern 

is that we are singling out one aspect of the transport network, should 
we not include other aspects of it equally that need adequate access? 15 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You would accept though that emergency services 

vehicles are a particular type of vehicle that provide health and safety 
benefits to the community? 

 20 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No further questions, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 25 
 
MS DAWSON:  Just a couple of questions.  In 12.7 and 12.8 of your evidence-

in-chief you address the Crown’s submission regarding in adding in 
words regarding avoiding reverse sensitivity effects to I think 
objectives 3.6.2, and also the policy that follows it, and you think that 30 
is not necessary? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:  And I notice that Mr Eman, in his latest version, has included 35 

reference to reverse sensitivity effects, another line in policy 3.6.2, are 
you familiar with that, so that is (xi)? 

 
  [2.20 pm] 
 40 
DR FALCONER:   Sorry, what page is that on? 
 
MS DAWSON:   So it’s on page 34 of the latest version from the Council, 

attached to Mr Eman’s evidence.   
 45 
DR FALCOLNER:   Right, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   So the second to last point has been added into the list under 

3.6.2, relating to reverse sensitivity effects.  Are you saying that you 
still do not think that is necessary, or are you happy with that now, 
regardless of your earlier concerns? 5 

 
DR FALCOLNER:   I consider the wording is slightly different to what the 

Crown proposed, and the only reason why I considered it was not 
necessary, or I didn’t support it in my evidence-in-chief, is because it 
was covered by other policies, so it was more I did not support the 10 
repetition. 

 
SIR HANSEN:  But you know support it or not when Mr Eman has put it in? 
 
DR FALCOLNER:   Well what Mr Eman has put in is a very concise addition, 15 

which I support – Is not as lengthy as what the Crown - - - 
 
MS DAWSON:   And he has also included it in the new objective 3.6(x) 

relating to infrastructure, which is more specifically – he has put a 
number (a)(ii), also talks about protecting infrastructure from the 20 
effects of other activities including reverse sensitivity effects, so are 
you happy with that 

 
DR FALCOLNER:   Yes. 
 25 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Then one other small – in 14.6 you are 

talking about accessibility, and the submission from Beacon Pathway 
and Canterbury Sustainable Homes were the party, where they talk 
about accessibility between and within activities and neighbourhoods, 
and you are said to be happy with the addition of some wording 30 
regarding that into policy 3.6.2.1, but not into the objective? 

 
DR FALCOLNER:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   So in 1.4.6 you say it is unnecessary repetition to put 35 

something into the objective as well as into the following policy.  But I 
am wondering whether in the objective number 3.6.2(a)(iv) which is 
the overriding objective that then follows to where people want to 
move around and have accessibility, it talks about people’s connectivity 
and accessibility to employment, transport, services and community 40 
facilities.  And I wonder how that relates to peoples connectivity and 
accessibility in their residential neighbourhoods, which is the point of 
the Beacon Pathway and Sustainable Home’s submission? 

 
45 
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DR FALCONER:   Yes, it talks about a wide range of areas where there could 
be accessibility to, and these services in communities can be found in 
neighbourhoods, so consider that people need to come from somewhere 
to go to, so it’s from their houses to these facilities, which are also 
found in neighbourhoods.   5 

 
MS DAWSON:   Do you think there is adequate, from that objective as it is 

written to the new wording, that you have agreed to be put into the 
policy? 

 10 
DR FALCONER:   I do, yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  That is all from me.   
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Mitchell? 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thanks Mr Falconer.  I think you will have heard the 

questions that I asked Mr Osborne just before lunch about your chapter 
8 of your primary statement, and I note that you touch on it as well in 
your rebuttal. 20 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes. 
 
  [2.25 pm] 
 25 
DR MITCHELL:   You have made specific mention of policy 6.2.4.2 of the 

RPS, and I just wanted to have that on the screen please.   
 
 You have said that the relief sought by Bunnings Progressive 

Enterprises and Others, where they suggest that it is appropriate to add, 30 
whilst recognising that travel by car will continue to be the primary 
source of movement into the foreseeable future, you have said that does 
not give effect to objective 6.2.4.  

 
 Would you accept that it is the RPS as a whole that needs to be given 35 

effect to, not a clause-by-clause forensic examination of the sub parts 
of individual objectives, the first point. 

 
 And second of all, do you not think that you are overstating the import 

of objective 6.2.4 by saying, “recognising the factual situation that cars 40 
will be relied upon to a significant extent in the foreseeable future”, 
actually flies in the face of that objective?  

 
DR FALCONER:   In terms of those two, or I will take it in two parts.   Firstly, 

I consider, yes, it is the general intent of the RPS that needs to be given 45 
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effect to, but also the individual objectives and policies that need to be 
given effect to as well.   

 
 In terms of the statement that Progressive Enterprises, Bunnings, and 

Kiwi Property Trust have put in, and that I refer to in paragraph 8.3, 5 
that is a statement about the future and in my opinion, I cannot say as a 
matter of fact what the future will be, whether it will be this or that, and 
so I cannot support a statement into the future as a matter of fact.  In 
fact, in recent years nationwide car use has been reducing, the latest 
census has shown that, and the latest figures from the Ministry of 10 
Transport have shown that, and that is also a worldwide trend, 
especially in western countries. 

 
 Yes, post-earthquake we have had an increase in car use in 

Christchurch, but prior to the quakes we had a reduction in car use per 15 
person, and there is no reason why Christchurch would not continue to 
follow the worldwide trend of reducing car use, so I cannot support a 
statement about the future as a statement of fact, I do not know what 
the future will be like.  That is not a statement of fact, from my opinion. 

 20 
DR MITCHELL:   So you take the view that any policy direction that said 

anything other than anything to do with cars that did not actually talk 
about reducing dependency on them, would not be giving effect to the 
RPS.  Is that your position? 

 25 
DR FALCONER:   I consider it weakens the direction in the RPS to reduce 

motor vehicle dependency, and that is the risk that the RPS has set this 
direction and a statement such as this, could weaken that direction. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   But do you not accept that the primary purpose of that 30 

objective is to prioritise the planning of transport infrastructure so that 
it maximises integration with the priority areas and new settlement 
patterns, and the movement of people and goods while doing the six 
things that are listed there. 

 35 
 So is it your evidence that as soon as there is something proposed that 

may not give effect to objective 6.2.4.2, is therefore by definition, not 
giving effect to the RPS, is that what your evidence is? 

 
DR FALCONER:   My evidence is if there is something that weakens that 40 

direction, then it is not giving effect to the RPS.  And it is also, as 
Mr Osborne outlined, it is not just the RPS that sets this direction, but 
there is a number of other strategic and statutory transport plan 
documents that also set this direction. 

 45 
DR MITCHELL:   Right, thank you. 
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SIR HANSEN:  Ms Huria? 
 
MS HURIA:   Dr Falconer, I am just interested to note how far out you look at 

transport trends in the plan, so for example, do you go as far as 30 5 
years out, and somebody made the comment at lunchtime about the 
vision of people – planners years ago in doing ring roads for example.  
How far out do you go when you are thinking about trends? 

 
  [2.30 pm] 10 
 
DR FALCONER:   There are different time trends for different plans but the 

Christchurch Transport Strategic Plan is a 30 year document, similarly 
the Urban Development Strategy was a 30 year or more document.  
There are more short term plans than that in the transport plan world, 15 
but there are a lot of plans that are 30 years, yes. 

 
MS HURIA:   Do you have a crack at going further than that? 
 
DR FALCONER:   We have regard for beyond that but I do not believe that 20 

there is a plan that specifically has a timeframe beyond that, no. 
 
MS HURIA:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Falconer, I just want to go back to these emergency 25 

vehicles.  It is your evidence that they are no different from other 
vehicles using the transport network? 

 
DR FALCONER:   It is my evidence that there are a number of vehicles that 

have particular needs and are important to the transport network.  30 
Emergency service vehicles are one of them and there are many other 
vehicles. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   So they do not, in your view, warrant any specific mention? 
 35 
DR FALCONER:   I do not believe the strategic directions chapter is the 

appropriate position, appropriate place for specific mention. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   To put it another way, you do not think they require specific 

mention I the strategic directions chapter? 40 
 
DR FALCONER:   No, because it is a high level document. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And the events of February 2011 have not changed your mind 

on that? 45 
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DR FALCONER:   No, they have not. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I suspect the citizens of Christchurch might be rather 

surprised to hear that evidence. 
 5 
 Anything from the Board’s queries, from the Crown’s point of view. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you very much. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Winchester. 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   I just do have one question with your leave, sir. 
 
 Now Dr Falconer, you were asked questions by Dr Mitchell about the 

relief sought by Bunnings and Progressive Enterprises and Kiwi 15 
Property Trust in terms of the addition to direction 3.5.2.5. 

 
 Have you given any thought to what the practical effect of including 

that additional work might be in lower order chapters, or for 
implementation of the replacement plan through resource consents and 20 
if so, could you advise what your view is? 

 
DR FALCONER:   Yes, I have given thought to that and as I mentioned 

previously, my opinion, is that there is a risk that a statement such as 
this could weaken the policy direction to reduce private motor vehicle 25 
dependency and I think that is a risk that there is a statement that 
further weakens an objective in a policy which could also be in a lower 
proposal further on in the plan. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I see, thank you. Thank you, sir. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.33 pm] 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, I take it was Mr Philip Osborne? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is correct, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And I take it that he will evidence on behalf of the city? 40 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And be cross-examined on behalf of the Crown.  He will then 

give evidence on behalf of Christchurch International Airport and be 45 
cross-examined by the city and Eros Clearwater Holdings? 
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MR WINCHESTER:   He will not be cross-examined by the city, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Will not be cross-examined? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, I withdraw - - - 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is that one of the ones you withdrew?  Okay, thank you for 

that.  And do we have anyone here from Eros Clearwater Holdings, 
maybe they are not going to turn up until after the afternoon 
adjournment. 10 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I forgot about that. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We will worry about that when we get to it, we will deal with 

his evidence on behalf of the city first, thank you. 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, and I note he will not be giving planning 

evidence for the city – economic evidence - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, no, we realise that.  I am sure he is relieved to hear it as 20 

well. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well he is not the only one, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I thought it was only planners that knew everything, not 25 

economists.   
 
DISCUSSION 
 
<PHILIP OSBORNE, affirmed [2.35 pm] 30 
 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.35 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon Mr Osborne.  Can you confirm for the 

Panel that your full name is Philip Mark Osborne and you have the 35 
qualifications and experienced set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I do. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you have prepared a statement of 40 

evidence-in-chief dated 18 November 2014, and a rebuttal statement 
dated 27th of November 2014? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is correct. 
 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   And do have any amendments or corrections to those 
statements? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No. 
 5 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now you are aware of the Panel’s direction 

for a highlights package of evidence.  I’ll ask you to take the Panel 
through that and remain where you are and answer any questions. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Thank you.  Good afternoon.  I have endeavoured to 10 

be as concise as possible with my evidence and I believe I have 
condensed it down significantly. 

 
 The Christchurch Replace Plan seeks to manage some key economic 

resources such as business land, activity centres and infrastructure, in 15 
maximising community wellbeing and economic efficiency.  To 
understand the economic direction and high economic objectives 
identified by the replacement plan it is necessary to understand the 
economic issues that have impacted upon the Christchurch economy 
both pre- and post-earthquakes resulting in part from market decisions. 20 

 
 My evidence-in-chief identified five key issues in relation to this 

including the overall recovery, the centralisation of activity, recognition 
and safeguarding of key forms of strategic infrastructure, provision of 
sufficient capacity for growth and recognition of competing uses both 25 
in terms of land demand and reverse sensitivity. 

 
 The identification of the Christchurch city centre and key activity 

centres is a fundamental economic theme of both the RPS and the 
replacement plan.  This economic and social issue has risen to 30 
prominence due to the significant decrease in central city, and in fact 
centre activity throughout the last decade.  This decentralising activity 
presents a real risk to the Christchurch economy including the decline 
of central amenity, reduced agglomeration and productivity gains, 
decreased utilisation of community infrastructure and increased 35 
marginal costs, transport inefficiencies, land inefficiencies and 
reduction in competitiveness.  These potential issues not only risk the 
city’s recovery but also its longterm competitiveness and economic 
prosperity.   

 40 
 This recognition of the central city in particular is fundamental to 

Christchurch city recovering and remaining efficient and competitive in 
the future.   

 
45 
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 The need to safeguard and efficiently integrate strategic infrastructure 
is also crucial to the recovery and longterm competitiveness of the 
Christchurch economy and the community’s economic prosperity.  It is 
fundamental that the replacement plan safeguards the current and future 
efficient operation of this infrastructure.  Given the significant, and 5 
often unique, contributions made by these operations it is important 
that the replacement plan provides certainty for investment and 
development and is safeguarded from conflicting activities. 

 
 The position that Christchurch finds itself in is a relatively unique one.  10 

From an economic viewpoint the city’s economy is seeking to facilitate 
recovery while setting a firm foundation for sustainable future growth.  
The market requires a balance between flexibility for temporary 
activities as well as options for new business, coupled with the 
certainty of capacity, land use patterns and infrastructure provision. 15 

 
 Section 3.4.1.2(d) of the replacement plan states the need to provide 

both capacity and flexibility to facilitate future growth and immediate 
recovery.  A further issue faced by Christchurch in the past has been 
the retention of capacity for its intended use. 20 

 
 Objective 6.2.6.2 of the Regional Policy Statement identifies this issue 

and seeks to address it by stating, “except where identified or brown 
filled redevelopment, for brown filled redevelopment areas used for 
existing industrial activities are to be used primarily for that purpose 25 
rather than as a location for new commercial activities. Conflicting 
activities not only reduce capacity but reduce efficiencies and increase 
the risk of reverse sensitivities. 

 
  [2.40 pm] 30 
 
 In order to facilitate growth and recovery within the Christchurch 

economy, it is important that the potential for conflict is proactively 
addressed. It is fundamental that businesses are provided a degree of 
certainty regarding security for their current and future operations. 35 
With regard to this objective 3.6.1(a)(iii) is crucial in that the 
replacement plan seeks to provide an urban form that provides certainty 
about where development can occur. 

 
 The immediate and ongoing impact of the 2010 and 2011 earthquakes 40 

on the Christchurch and regional economies cannot be understated. The 
speed at which Christchurch recovers will determine its economic 
prosperity over the coming decades. Although it is important that this 
recovery and growth is managed sustainably, it is crucial that 
Christchurch does not lose business activity in the meantime.  45 
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 I believe that the replacement plan provides a balanced approach 
towards recovery and long term sustainability. Practically, the balance 
between these two interrelated objectives from an economics stance 
will be found in the following commercial and industrial chapters. 

 5 
 I’d invite any questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Now, who’s - - -  
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Also Mr Carranceja, sir. 10 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [2.41 pm] 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. Good afternoon. 
 15 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Good afternoon. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I’d like to just ask you, are you familiar with the 

statement of expectations in the Canterbury earthquake order? 
 20 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I have read it. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You have read it. Okay, I’d like to refer two of them to 

you, the first one it is “expectation V” I’ll read it out for you.  “The 
Replacement Plan shall contain objectives and policies that clearly state 25 
the outcomes that are intended for the Christchurch district”. 

 
 The next one I want to refer you to is “expectation I”.  “Uses clear 

concise language and it is easy to use.” What I’d like to talk to you 
about is the economic benefits of clarity. 30 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Sure. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now Dr Timothy Dann (ph 2.37) one of our witnesses 

has referred to the economic benefits being clear about outcomes that 35 
are desired for the recovery of Christchurch from the earthquakes. 

 
 Would you accept that if there is a desired outcome to achieve for 

Christchurch’s recovery, there are efficiency benefits associated with 
ensuring that those outcomes are clearly communicated to the 40 
community and to the market? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. And if those outcomes are diluted or hard to distill 
or hard to find it results in inefficiencies in communicating that 
message to the community and to the market? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe there are potential inefficiencies in a 5 

convoluted or a conflicting set of objectives, yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. Now one of the important factors that we, as 

(INDISTINCT 3.27) and also the hearing Panel needs to consider, 
under the Resource Management Act is to have particular regard to the 10 
efficient use and development of natural and physical resources. 

 
 Now I think you would accept the composition that, to a large extent 

the market determines the use and development of those natural and 
physical resources, wouldn’t you? 15 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. And so it’s really important to get the right signals 

to them easily, quickly, efficiently, clearly? 20 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is one objective, yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. I’d like to now move onto your rebuttal evidence 

please, just briefly on page 6 of your rebuttal, paragraph 6.5.  Now you 25 
mention there that you agree with Mr Brown, with his relief sought 
about referring to the level of recognition for strategic infrastructure, 
integration of land use, etcetera. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 30 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I just want to put to you a proposition, just to add to 

that, you are referring to strategic infrastructure.  I presume the reason 
you’re doing that is because strategic infrastructure has an economic 
value that it should be safeguarded? 35 

 
  [2.45 pm] 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe infrastructure in general has an economic 

value, but this is typically a unique value associated with it, yes. 40 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Would you accept my proposition then that other 

types of – I think you just touched on it really – other types of 
infrastructure, and I’m going to call it horizontal infrastructure: 
wastewater water, stormwater, and just normal roading, they also have 45 
an inherent economic value that can be safeguarded? 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe some economists would describe that as a 

sunk cost, but I think that there is a degree of efficiency in utilising that 
type of infrastructure efficiently. 

 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, would you accept, as a positive economic 

outcome, that horizontal infrastructure when it’s provided, is integrated 
with the provision of land use - sorry, land-use planning.  So that if you 
are creating infrastructure or repairing infrastructure post-earthquake, 
you would lose economic benefits associated with erecting 10 
development in those areas, to prevent inefficient use and opportunity 
cost in terms of failing to enable that infrastructure development to 
occur, where land-use development would occur? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is one of the factors that you would consider 15 

when directing land-use activities, yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  I have no further questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 20 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, good afternoon Mr Osborne. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Good afternoon. 
 25 
MS DAWSON:   I would like to understand a couple of things that you are 

saying, and in paragraph 5 of 36 of your main evidence, or in that 
vicinity, you addressed this issue of flexibility in the context of 
flexibility versus certainty, and you talk about enabling diverse 
opportunities for business, and I note that the Crown are wanting to add 30 
a few more amendments into this chapter to emphasize a greater need 
for flexibility.  

 
 And you address this again in your rebuttal, I think in 6.4 onwards, and 

what I am reading from what you are saying – but I would like you to 35 
elaborate on this please – is that you are saying, well some flexibility is 
good, but not unconstrained flexibility.  But what do you mean by that? 
Where is the boundary between the efficiency, the certainty and clarity 
versus the need for some flexibility? 

 40 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I think from an economic point of view, that is one 

of the key issues with the replacement plan, and that is trying to find 
that balance between giving activities – and in this case particularly, 
business activities –some degree of freedom as to where they can locate 
and what resources they can use, and at the same time having some 45 
certainty into the market as to the provision of higher-level 
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infrastructure and so forth.  I think the balance comes when you look at 
the level of costs associated with unfettered flexibility or unfettered 
freedom compared to, obviously, absolute certainty and that sort of 
intervention that is constraining.  

 5 
 And so it is about trying to find that line where you are not going to 

create in the market an expectation where it can go anywhere, and you 
are also not going to create in the market an uncertainty for businesses 
locating and wanting other businesses around them.  For businesses 
locating, knowing that the infrastructure that they are actually requiring 10 
and basing their business on is actually still going to be there and is 
going to be supported and promoted.  

 
 So there is no definite level.  There is no definite line, but it is finding – 

as I believe I have alluded to and spelled out, actually, in my evidence-15 
in-chief – the level of risk that is associated with the sorts of dispersed 
activity that we have had, the flexibility that has been there in the past, 
and actually bringing that back slightly, so that Christchurch’s 
community can actually prosper from appropriately-located activities, 
with certain degrees of flexibility as well.  There are businesses that do 20 
not follow, necessarily, the same pattern as others.  It is very difficult to 
pigeon-hole everything.  So you do need to give a certain degree of 
flexibility in some options to business in general. 

 
  [2.50 pm] 25 
 
MS DAWSON:   So if you go back to what Mr Carranceja has been saying to 

you about the need to be clear about the outcomes, and I know we are 
looking at it at a high level here in the strategic directions chapter but, 
you know, it is tasked upon all of us to come to some words that would 30 
express what it is you are trying to say. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Sure. 
 
MS DAWSON:   In hopefully clear terms. I mean have you turned your mind 35 

at all to encapsulating, you know, how much flexibility or what it is 
that, that flexibility should not do or some way of expressing what you 
were trying to work with. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe the Replacement District Plan goes a lot, I 40 

mean it is a very difficult balance to understand, especially in a market 
that is so dynamic and that is the hurdle that the replacement plan has 
to get over. It is not just what exists currently in terms of that balance 
but what is likely to exist in the future in terms of the flexibility that is 
required in an international or a national market for Christchurch to 45 
compete.  
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 And I think previously in several markets around New Zealand there 

has been too much flexibility. So more than anything we can look at 
markets and see how they have reacted to certain restrictions and 
certain regulations and understand the outcomes and the economic 5 
values that have been witnessed by those sorts of plans. And I think 
that the Replacement Plan actually finds that balance as well as it can. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Would you like to point me to the particular provisions that 

you think capture this, for business we are talking about here. 10 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe one of the key issues around flexibility, 

first of all, is sort of making sure that there is sufficient room for 
growth. That is that there is capacity for land and I believe that 
objective 3.6.1 deals with that and identifies that as a high level and a 15 
very important issue. Especially since it directs it first of all and that the 
recovery in the long term future. It looks at the fact that there is 
sufficient land to meet the immediate and long term needs for in 
particular in this case, economic development. And I think that sends a 
very important signal to the market that suggests that the land area 20 
themselves are not necessarily going to be constrained. The 
intensification or the consolidation that is talked about is not 
necessarily around limited amounts of land, it is, however, directed into 
particular areas.  

 25 
 And I think that again, in terms of the direction of that certainty, 

objective 3.6.2 obviously identifies and deals with the flexibility to a 
certain degree about the fact that it provides certainly around where 
development can actually occur. So it does gives that certainly to the 
market that this is where you can actually develop, but it provides 30 
flexibility in terms of identifying not only the central city but the key 
activity centres in other suburban towns and centres as locations for 
this type of activity where appropriate. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you. On a similar note, in 549 of your main evidence, 35 

and I think it is addressed in various people’s evidence but you pick it 
up, it is on the same theme about certainly versus flexibility but honing 
in on this issue that seems to come up about consolidated development 
versus intensification of development and they are particularly talking 
about commercial centres here.  40 

 
 I think in some of the parts here you talk about in and around 

commercial centres or just in or I think the policy 3.6.2(a)(iii) just 
talked about consolidated development. And tell us what you consider 
those words mean or what you are proposing or supporting I guess in 45 
terms of for the centres. Do we mean in and around or just in for now? 
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  [2.55 pm] 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe the language that is around that is touched 

upon in my rebuttal in my final paragraph which deals with the 5 
difference essentially with retail activities and a commercial office, and 
I think for me from an economic point of view, given the level of 
capacity that appears to exist in those centres, I think Mr Heath’s 
evidence as well touched upon the fact that he deals with retail in terms 
of consolidation, and that that activity is potentially sometimes 10 
appropriate in and around centres. 

 
 Whereas the intensification, from my point of view, of commercial 

office activity is necessary within those centres.  That is that peripheral 
developments tend to take away from the efficiencies, and take away 15 
from the certainty of location, if you were to locate an office building 
in a centre and you were not sure if that activity and the amenity would 
be generated within that centre to retain your staff and to retain those 
agglomeration benefits your decision would be less certain. 

 20 
 So from my point of view the difference between intensification and 

consolidation would be that commercial office activity needs to be 
intensified in those centres.  Whereas I believe that having read Mr 
Heath’s evidence that the consolidation of retail is sometimes 
appropriate in and around centres as well. 25 

 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you for that.  That is all, thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Mitchell. 
 30 
DR MITCHELL:   Thanks Mr Chairman.  Good afternoon Mr Osborne.  You 

have said that providing certainty as to where development can occur 
was fundamentally important economically.  Would you also accept 
that certainty as to regulation was equally as, or not necessarily equally 
as important, but also an important consideration? 35 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe it is an important consideration, yes.  But 

as you touch upon it is that prioritisation of that importance. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   In your written statement, and in answer to a number of 40 

questions, you have talked about signalling to the market or words to 
that effect.  Would you think strategic directions that talked about the 
efficiency of regulation would be sending the market a positive signal? 

 
45 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   In my understanding of how the market deals it is 
generally the majority of the market would look to the chapters that fall 
out of the strategic direction.  I think they are more concerned with 
those on the ground rules and regulations and objectives than 
potentially the high level ones, and those are the ones that would 5 
impact primarily on the running and the development of their business.  
At a high level there’s no doubt that the strategic direction sends 
signals to the market, and the clarity of those signals is important for 
especially larger businesses making those decisions. 

 10 
DR MITCHELL:   So from your own personal expert point of view as opposed 

to the view of the Council, would you support economically more 
specific signalling of those matters in the strategic directions chapter?  
Something along the lines of what is set out in the Minister’s Statement 
of Expectations? 15 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe – without picking I guess one over the 

other – I believe that the replacement plan appropriately signals to the 
market the expectation for land use for businesses to a level that is 
actually going to provide some degree of, or the degree that is 20 
necessary, of certainty, without taking away from that flexibility.  I 
believe as you get in a strategic direction as you get more and more 
precise you potentially lose some of that flexibility as well. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   So just coming back to my actual question, do you support 25 

or not support the incorporation of those sorts of matters into the 
strategic directions?  From an economic point of view? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   From an economic point of view there are, I guess I 

cannot bundle them all together, there are some that I would support 30 
and some in terms of wording around strategic infrastructure, from the 
Crown’s submission that I would support.  I would support more 
direction in terms of that, a greater understanding and a greater 
certainty in terms of that. 

 35 
 In terms of key activity centres and the central city, I think that the 

position of the Council is an appropriate one.  So the changes that the 
Crown has suggested in those, I do not see necessary at this point. 

 
  [3.00 pm] 40 
 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Just finally, just to help my 

understanding, you talked at your paragraph 5.20 and elsewhere about 
the fundamental importance of the central city to the recovery.  And 
you have also, at various points, mentioned the key activity centres as 45 
well, and you have also said about the need for some flexibility, is the 
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risk to the CBD recovery, is that related to activity leaking into the 
KACs or leaking out into the wider environment?  I mean there is three 
ways that that development can happen it seems to me, it can go into 
the CBD, it can go in the KACs or it can go somewhere else.  And I am 
not clear from your evidence where you see the vulnerabilities and 5 
where you see that the clear policy direction needs to sit to ensure that 
that balance is correct?  

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I think probably the biggest risk comes from out of 

centre development.  If we are going to place these in a hierarchy in 10 
terms of risk then the out of centre development is generally the least 
efficient.  Now, there are obviously some activity that is appropriate 
out of centre but in terms of commercial office that would be relatively 
limited and then the activity that is likely to go to key activity centres, 
depending on the scale of that activity would be less detrimental.  15 
However, if we are talking about large office developments that are 
better, in terms of the role and function of the CBD, those could have 
devastating impacts on the CBD’s recovery if those were to find their 
way out to key activity centres. 

 20 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  No further questions, thank you, sir. 
 
MS HURIA:   Can I just ask a question related to that.  Bearing in mind the 

fact of just your last comments and also the fact that you started off by 
talking about decentralisation being a risk for the city, and I understand 25 
all that.  But when you look at the fact that – I can’t remember the 
exact figure, something like 90 percent of businesses are small to 
medium enterprises and the fact that one of the earlier submitters talked 
about 80 percent of the CBD was demolished, is it really realistic to 
expect that those small to medium enterprises will be able to even 30 
afford to move back into the city? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No. I think when you look at the composition of 

employment in Christchurch, you are right, 90 percent of businesses 
would be small to medium at best whereas if you look at the proportion 35 
of employment that falls within those then the balance falls in favour of 
those larger businesses.  So in terms of business activity we are talking 
about significantly more than the combination of those or the 
agglomeration of those small businesses.  So we are talking about 
significant levels of activity that can and generally do have the ability 40 
to go in these centres, it is just the motivation to do that that potentially 
is missing. 

 
MS HURIA:   So are you talking about the larger businesses and their appetite 

for moving back? 45 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Osborne, just one matter I want to ask you about now, 5 

do you have a copy of Mr Eman’s latest version of the plan as proposed 
by the Council, strategic directions provisions?  If your counsel - - - 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I will hand this up. 
 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could just put that on page 33 and tell me when you 

are there.  And just on this policy which is about development design 
and quality so I looked at your evidence-in-chief and in your section on 
scope at 3.1 you explain that you have been engaged to provide 
evidence in relation to economic issues addressed in the strategic 15 
directions chapter.  But I may have overlooked it, and I apologise if I 
have, but I am not sure whether you have commented on the economic 
issues, if any, of the urban design policy and if I am right about that I 
wonder if you could explain why that is and whether there is anything 
you would like to say about it? 20 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I haven’t commented on the design aspects of the 

strategic directions chapter. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you see it as relevant to economic efficiency 25 

questions? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I see it as influencing economic efficiency.  I see it 

as influencing demand in the market.  The level of appropriate design 
and quality issues is really falls outside that question.  30 

 
  [3.05 pm] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What about the issue of development certainty, is there 

any comments you’d like to offer at this stage on how that policy is 35 
framed and any effect that it might have in terms of investment 
certainty? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I guess it’s potentially a level or an appropriate level 

of design and quality is less likely, especially if it is well spelled out, is 40 
less likely to affect that certainty but more likely to affect the level of 
costs associated with business activity, and that has to be - the higher 
obviously the design and quality costs the higher the cost to the 
community in general. 

 45 
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 But the other side of that equation is, is it designed in a social aspect 
probably more than an economic aspect, so being able to try and 
critique the level of design and quality that is actually in the strategic 
direction is difficult from an economic point of view without being able 
to actually quantify or in some way economically qualify that other 5 
aspect which is the amenity value of a quality space, and whether that 
is likely to occur under less strict requirements.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And that particular aspect you refer, I think somewhere in 

your evidence, to the dislocation between what an individual might do 10 
and what might benefit or be attributable to the community.  Is this 
another example of something which is where the policy relates to 
some (INDISTINCT 1.37) benefits at communities? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I think you are right, the value of a quality space is 15 

not necessarily reflected by the benefits or the gains of the individual, 
that is business or building, it is the sum of the whole, really in terms of 
that quality and value that the society places on that, the feeling you get 
from a quality environment, which is reflected off some economic 
indicators, but is difficult to quantify.  But, yes, there is a community 20 
benefit as opposed to an individual cost associated with those.   

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you Mr Chairman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Osborne, you talked before about flexibility and certainty 25 

and the difficulty of getting the, the “fulcrum” if you like.  This plan 
has to look at recovery and long term as well, where do you see the 
recovery overlay and for the need for flexibility in that and when it 
translates into longer term, where maybe you go from a higher degree 
of flexibility to a higher degree of certainty? 30 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I think that is the 60 million dollar question.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, unfortunately it is our question to answer. 
 35 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes.  I believe that you have to have a transition 

period obviously between that increased certainty and the flexibility 
that allows temporary activities, for example you would need to look at 
those activities in any given point of time.  It is not necessarily a 
helpful answer. 40 

 
 There is no doubt there is an increased need for flexibility in the market 

for Christchurch at the moment, simply because of the recovery.  There 
are things that need to take place to retain business activity, to have that 
activity regenerated, that you potentially sacrifice some of your – you 45 
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delay some of your long term objectives or you deprioritise them to a 
certain degree. 

 
 But you can’t have that activity coming up in areas that are not going to 

be sustainable either in the long term.  So you need to transition those 5 
activities as quickly as possible so that desire for certainty in the market 
has to be met as quickly as possible essentially.  So putting short term 
or long term timeframes on is very difficult but you would need to 
actually create some degree of motivation and some catalyst in the 
market for those activities to relocate. 10 

 
 So there does need to be some pressure that is created for those to 

locate in more appropriate locations, in long term competitive and 
sustainable locations. 

 15 
SIR HANSEN:   And given that the plan has to provide for both of these in the 

unique circumstances of Christchurch, should the strategic direction 
make some effort to spell out this transitional that you call it phase? 

 
  [3.10 pm] 20 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe that the strategic direction gives some 

direction around that.  It gives priority at this point, it doesn’t give 
priority, it gives recognition to those activities and I think beyond that 
you get into difficulty where people make long-term, based on the 25 
strategic chapter, make long-term decisions, potentially that are not 
going to be there in the future.  So you need to identify that there is 
going to be a shift back to more appropriate locations. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Which is almost identifying a level of uncertainty? 30 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes, almost. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just to go on to another topic.  We’ve had property evidence 

from the proponent, and also from others, which suggests that the CBD, 35 
at least in terms of “a property”, is developing quite well with a shift 
across the river and things.  I think everyone is aware of the flight to 
the west that has occurred. 

 
 But it seems from that property evidence, as I read it, one of the needs 40 

is to establish a vibrant CBD again, is to get in some C and D level 
property.  Is there anything specific that you can think of, in a strategic 
direction setting, or in a broader setting, that would encourage that? 

 
45 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Well I believe again, not to labour the point, but 
certainly I believe that because those types of buildings and those types 
of activities that would generally be accommodated in there, do seek 
certainty that the CBD is going to be vibrant and although you’ve got 
some large A grade buildings going in and premises, and therefore 5 
large businesses going in, those are generally destination businesses – 
they can often stand by themselves.  But what they produce is they 
produce activity that then supports the lower level activities as it were, 
the ones that would locate in D and E.  

 10 
 So once you have that – that demand building up for those activities, 

once you have enough critical mass that’s generated within the CBD 
and people recognise that it is actually going to recover within a given 
timeframe, I believe that those activities will re-establish themselves 
and, therefore, that type of premise will be demanded. 15 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And the aim to increase residential density within the CBD – 

within the four avenues, more than doubling to 20,000 I think the aim 
is, would enhance that as well? 

 20 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe so. That’s part of the amenity and the 

activity that is necessary over long timeframes of the day, not just 
during work hours – you need a level of residential activity in a CBD 
that’s going to create retail, for example, that’s open after five o’clock 
that, again, is going to create more activity in and of itself. 25 

 
 You need these activities in there as a catalyst to that development and, 

therefore, that amenity and then CBD supports itself for the most part. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So, again, a cry for certainty in that area? 30 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   A cry for certainty in that area, absolutely. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Anything from that? 
 35 
 Thank you, thank you, Mr Osborne.  Ms Appleyard, we’re just on when 

we were going to take the afternoon break, so I think we’ll take that 
now and then we’ll come back.  You are still on your oath, so you don’t 
need to be re-sworn after the adjournment. 

 40 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We’ll hear from you with the airport evidence. 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, Mr Cleary is actually here. 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Mr Cleary you are here now and you are to cross examine? 
 
MR CLEARY:   Yes, I should not be more than 10 minutes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, that’s great.  Thank you. 5 
 
ADJOURNED [3.14 pm] 
 
RESUMED [3.28 pm] 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Osborne you’re still on that oath you took 

earlier.  Yes, Ms Appleyard? 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [3.28 pm] 
 15 
MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, you have confirmed your name and qualifications.  

Can you also confirm that you have provided to this hearing a 
statement of evidence dated the 25th of November 2014 - - - 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I have, yes. 20 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   - - - on behalf of the airport. Are there any corrections 

you wish to make to that evidence? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No. 25 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   So you confirm it is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 30 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  Now I think Mr Cleary from Eros Clearwater 

has some questions for you. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Thank you. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is there any, does he want to speak at a high level- - - 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Sorry, yes, sorry, I was too quick.  You did have a 

summary of a few bullet points that you want to? 40 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   A brief, yes, brief summary.  Thank you. 
 
 The post-earthquake Christchurch economy is a unique one.  It’s one in 

which particular assets and particular resources that Christchurch 45 
currently holds has increased in significance and importance. 
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 Not the least of these is the strategic infrastructure that currently exists 

in Christchurch.  The importance of this is felt not only in future 
growth and in current competitiveness, but obviously in the recovery 
and the efficiency of the city in general. 5 

 
  [3.30 pm] 
 
 Christchurch International Airport is a fundamental and nationally 

significant strategic asset for Christchurch city.  In 2012 it contributed 10 
nine percent of GDP to the region and created 10 percent of the 
region’s employment.  The importance of this number is not just its 
sheer nominal value, it is the unique value which it represents.  A 
significant level of this contribution would not be replicated elsewhere.  
The jobs and the production that this asset and the strategic 15 
infrastructure creates is unique to this particular operation. 

 
 If the activity at Christchurch International Airport was actually 

restricted or constrained the loss in activity, the loss in terms of 
opportunity cost would be very high compared to normal activities. 20 

 
 Christchurch International Airport is also growing in importance.  It 

has an increasing amount of freight moving through it.  It has an 
increasing number of tourists that are back on the increase.  And more 
importantly it is a strategic asset for the location of businesses in 25 
Christchurch.   

 
 One of the biggest changes in the last 15 – 20 years for airports has 

been the development of business hubs.  These business hubs, due to 
their proximity to the airport, due to their speed of transportation and 30 
due to their ability to actually – to move high value products has meant 
that these have become critical parts of the competitiveness of any 
given area. 

 
 Because of the dynamic change in airports the developments that are 35 

required in and around airports, as well as the ability for them to 
operate, has become fundamental to the community benefits as a 
whole.  There is a need to allow for the dynamic nature of markets and 
provide for development potential to remain competitive. 

 40 
 An ongoing issue with the operation at airports and at Christchurch 

International Airport in particular has been the sensitivity around noise 
contours.  It is necessary for the replacement plan to have a high level 
recognition and to safeguard the Christchurch International Airport 
operations.  There is significant danger in reverse sensitivity in these 45 
areas.  As I touched upon previously the level of relative opportunity 
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costs between activities within the noise contours have a high degree of 
relativity.  That is that there are activities that seek to locate within 
these contours that can locate elsewhere.  Whereas the impact on the 
operations of Christchurch International Airport, as I have said earlier, 
are likely to be absolute. 5 

 
 The potential impact on certainty investment and the competitive 

opportunities for the market, it is important that these activities are 
actually given some degree of certainty.  Without certainty the 
activities that the airport actually competes for are unlikely to actually 10 
locate in the region or in the city.  So it is important that in terms of 
investment decisions that these businesses and these activities are given 
certainty around conflicting activities.  

 
 I believe that while the Replacement Plan recognises the importance of 15 

strategic infrastructure it is crucial for the Christchurch recovery and 
growth that the current and potential future airport operations and what 
form they may take are safeguarded in the Replacement Plan.  The 
replace sought by CIAL will also have the potential to improve market 
certainty and the efficient operation of the current and future strategic 20 
infrastructure at Christchurch International Airport.   

 
 I welcome your questions. 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. Now you can answer any questions. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Cleary. 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [3.35 pm] 
 30 
MR CLEARY:   Thank you very much, Mr Osborne. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We are standing Mr Cleary. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Sorry? 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We are standing. 
 
MR CLEARY:   My apologies. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, we are not but you are. 
 
MR CLEARLY:   Yes, thank you. I will not make that mistake again. Okay, 

Mr Osborne, my first question is nowhere in your evidence do you 
actually acknowledge the fact that there are a number of exemptions to 45 
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that avoidance of noise sensitive development within the contour, do 
you? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No. 
 5 
MR CLEARY:   And those exemptions are contained within both the loop and 

the Recovery Plan in the Regional Policy Statement? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   They are indeed. 
 10 
MR CLEARY:   And so you have not considered therefore from an economic 

standpoint whether or not exemptions may be warranted depending on 
the particular individual circumstances. 

  
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe in terms of the airport that those 15 

exemptions would need to have significant benefits to warrant the 
potential risk to the airport operations. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Okay, I will cut to the issue of risk in a little while.  But if you 

have not considered the exemptions is your evidence not necessarily 20 
incomplete? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No, my evidence speaks to the significance of the 

airport and the reason why it needs safeguarding.  The exemptions that 
are there are around essentially planning issues.  However, the 25 
economics of it is simply that preservation of those operations. 

 
MR CLEARY:   But effectively you are just putting one side to the story, are 

you not? 
 30 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I have not sought to argue for the exemptions in any 

sense, no. 
 
MR CLEARY:   But you do consider that they are relevant? 
 35 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   From an economic point of view, no. 
 
MR CLEARY:   And you said you were familiar with the LURP and referred 

to it in your evidence? 
 40 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CLEARY:   And there are a number of fundamental drivers behind the 

LURP including the recovery of greater Christchurch. 
 45 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is correct. 
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MR CLEARY:   And it is intended to provide some certainty to the community 

including developers and landowners such as my clients at Clearwater. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 5 
 
MR CLEARY:   And the LURP contains an explicit exemption for Clearwater. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Sorry? 
 10 
MR CLEARY:   The LURP contains a specific exemption from the noise 

contour avoidance policy? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 15 
MR CLEARY:   For Clearwater. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   The LURP does I believe but I believe that in the 

RPS that is changed. 
 20 
MR CLEARY:   But in the LURP there is an exemption for Clearwater. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Certainly. 
 
MR CLEARY:   And you would agree that having that exemption provides a 25 

degree of certainty for Clearwater. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe it provides certainty but then creates 

uncertainty for a wider market, yes. 
 30 
MR CLEARY:   It creates uncertainty for the wider market. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CLEARY:   And by the wider market you mean? 35 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Christchurch. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Christchurch Airport. 
 40 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Christchurch. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Christchurch. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Okay. Are you at all familiar with the development at 
Clearwater? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Not explicitly, no. 
 5 
MR CLEARY:   Have you read the evidence of Mr Phillips regarding 

Clearwater? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe I have read, I actually was not sure of the 

author I am afraid but I have read Clearwater’s submission, not the 10 
evidence. 

 
MR CLEARY:   You have read the evidence of Mr Phillips? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I have not, no. 15 
 
MR CLEARY:   You have not? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   No. 
 20 
MR CLEARY:   Okay. And why is that? Did you not think it was relevant to 

the issue? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   As I say, my position is purely an economic point of 

view and from an economic point of view the call for exemptions does 25 
not really exist. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Earlier in one of your answers you referred to the issue of risk 

to the airport, is that correct? 
 30 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is correct. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Now, I appreciate you have not read the evidence but Mr 

Phillips refers to the longstanding exemption for Clearwater and he 
refers to various mechanisms that have been put in place as a result of 35 
agreement between the airport and the developers of Clearwater to 
prevent any possibility whatsoever of residents of Clearwater 
compromising the 24 hour operation of the airport. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Okay. 40 
 
MR CLEARY:   So if there is no possibility of the airport being compromised 

by development at Clearwater, where is the risk? 
 

45 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I believe in answer to your previous question, the 
risk, although I had stated Christchurch International Airport operations 
I had also said the risk was to Christchurch itself. Christchurch Airport 
is significant in terms of its business location and its business 
operation, the risk to Christchurch Airport itself is a risk to 5 
Christchurch, and even if that’s a perceived risk, the reality of that is an 
economic cost. 

 
  [3.40 pm] 
 10 
MR CLEARY:   Okay. A perceived risk? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Potentially. 
 
MR CLEARY:   All right. Okay, but to comeback, if we have legally robust, 15 

agreed, well-established and proven mechanisms that obviate any risk 
whatsoever, then would you consider those mechanisms appropriate 
from an economic standpoint? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   If I believed that both the Council in terms of the 20 

land use strategy and their recognition of strategic infrastructure and 
the airport and its understanding of the potential risks were both in 
agreeance that there was no opportunity for risk or perceived risk, then 
I would be happy from an economic point of view that the exemption 
could exist. 25 

 
MR CLEARY:   You’re not suggesting that there should be no risk whatsoever 

are you? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Not at all, no, it’s the level of risk that’s acceptable 30 

both by the Council in terms of its land use strategy and the airport in 
terms of its operation. 

 
MR CLEARY:   And you’re only talking by the perceived risk? 
 35 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Not at all. There is a real risk there as well, but the 

impacts of a perceived risk are just as real as an actual impact. If the 
market believes that operations are going to be curtailed or activities 
are going to be stopped or litigated, then it’s less likely to actually 
locate that. It’s less likely to use the operations at the Christchurch 40 
Airport. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Yes, conversely if the market understood that there were 

mechanisms in place, that completely avoided that risk, then the market 
wouldn’t react, there’s no risk - - -  45 
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MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   If the market provided certainty that those 
operations would never be affected then it’s economically - and it 
wasn’t affected, then there’s no issue. But that’s quite dynamic in itself, 
it’s not just the current operations at the airport, it’s the future 
operations as well. 5 

 
MR CLEARY:   Yes, and if the mechanisms covered future operations, again 

the market would accept that there’s no risk, perceived or otherwise. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   If we’re suggesting that both the, the Council in 10 

terms of land use, the airport in terms of operations and the market in 
terms of it’s complete understanding of the risk involved were all 
satisfied, then yes there’s no risk. 

 
MR CLEARY:   And in your opening statement, you talked about “locational 15 

options” for developers, and I think - - -  
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 
 
MR CLEARY:   - - - you put it very simplistic – “oh, look residential 20 

development - - -  
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   It was. 
 
MR CLEARY:   - - - can go elsewhere. It doesn’t need to go in (INDISTINCT 25 

3.12)” is that correct? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   It was simplistic, yes, but that, that’s the general 

gist, yes. 
 30 
MR CLEARY:   Yes.  And what are the locational options for developers at 

Clearwater? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I’m not talking about individual developers in this 

particular case, what I’m talking about is the difference between 35 
community wellbeing, total community benefit and total community 
cost. How that is distributed is at the market, to a certain extents, 
discretion. So the opportunities exist in other investment opportunities 
around the city. I’m a little bit unsure of the question. 

 40 
MR CLEARY:   I think a very obvious matter is that developers at Clearwater, 

if they want to complete the project, which they have invested – and 
this is the evidence of Mr Phillips, they have invested 200 million 
dollars so far in the development of this resort.  If they want to 
complete the resort they actually don’t have any locational options.  45 
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They can’t build an offshoot of the resort at Halswell for example, can 
they, and that’s obvious. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   My evidence is primarily based around the airport 

and the airport’s operations, and as I have said that contributes around 5 
about two billion dollars currently to the economy. So my evidence 
from an economic point of view is weighing up the unfortunate 
potential situation of your client not being able to build more houses to 
an impact on two billion dollars to the economy.  So at that level that’s 
what I’m assessing. 10 

 
 I’m not assessing whether your client could find more land or whether 

he can expand what he’s got. It is simply that risk to a two billion dollar 
input into the economy. 

 15 
  [3.45 pm] 
 
MR CLEARY:   And I think that the key issue is the degree of risk. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   The key issue is twofold, yes, the degree of risk, 20 

actual risk, and perceived risk in the market and whether that does not 
give the market enough certainty to make key investment decisions that 
will make and retain the competitiveness of Christchurch. 

 
MR CLEARY:   And if the Airport has agreed to the various mechanisms 25 

referred to then it is implicit that the Airport agrees that there is no risk. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Once again I am dealing with community benefit 

rather than just the Airport.  The Airport can agree to that but the 
Airport obviously is dealing with only its own costs and its own 30 
benefits.  What I am attempting to ascertain and give significance to is 
the benefit to the community and I think it is significant that the 
Council is involved as a conduit for that value to the community to be 
involved in that and to say, “Well wait a minute, it may not really affect 
the airport but it will affect the community value that the airport brings, 35 
the economic value”.  The risk to economic prosperity and community 
wellbeing is also impacted. 

 
MR CLEARY:   I do not have any further questions. 
 40 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 

45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Just one question, Mr Osborne.  I think the thrust of your 
evidence if I understand it correctly, is to say that in order to provide 
for the social and economic welfare of Christchurch, it is necessary to 
impose quite clear policy direction in a regulatory sense to provide the 
certainty that the Airport needs. 5 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   That is it in a nutshell, absolutely. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 
 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Osborne, just a couple of questions.  That reference to 

contribution to the economy $2.13 billion I think you mention at 
paragraph 26. 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Yes. 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have a source document for that? 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I have actually produced that but I think Earl Latch 

(ph 2.17) came fairly close to that number in their 2012 assessment as 20 
well so Bill did an assessment for the airport whereas that 2012 figure I 
have actually assessed myself about 2 years ago. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it primarily derive from passengers as opposed to 

the retail? 25 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   It is derived from both direct inputs which are 

obviously the unique tourists, unique visitors, from the freight 
movement, from activities that move through the Airport essentially 
and would not have an efficient and competitive means of doing that 30 
otherwise. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  The only other question I have got, if you go 

to paragraph 36 of your evidence and I am not sure whether this has 
been superseded by discussions in mediation or not.  At paragraph 36 35 
you refer back to policy 3.6.2.8 there and you say the quoted phrase, 
“absent from this policy is the term development a submission 
potentially significant due to the changing nature of airport operation 
worldwide in pursuit of increased efficiency and competitiveness”. 

 40 
 This question is very much a technical one.  Just so that we do not get 

tripped up on words that have particular meanings under the plan.  
When you wrote that were you aware that the word “development” is 
defined in the plan in a particular way? 

 45 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Not in a particular way, no. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And if I was to tell you that the definition in the plan 

refers to – I have not got it in front of me - but it seems to be 
particularly focussed on use of land involving work on a building or 
buildings.  Would you still see it was a suitable word to add in there?  5 
Bearing in mind the concept of an airport with runways and so forth? 

 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   I’m not – in terms of development that is not how I 

have used the word, no. 
 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that I what I thought.  So reflecting on that slightly 

awkward definition for the purposes of your evidence, reflecting on 
that, what about the word “upgrade” there, does that sufficiently cover 
what you mean? 

 15 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Upgrade typically I guess for me, for my opinion, 

upgrade is not as dynamic probably a term.  Upgrade for me simply 
means taking the operations and either expanding the same operations 
or making those operations better.  

 20 
  [3.50 pm] 
 
 In terms of development what I am meaning there is that the dynamic 

nature and the way that airports have actually developed over the last 
15 years have meant that the activities that are fundamental in locating 25 
near them have changed with transportation costs increasing and 
logistics becoming much more important.  And those straight from the 
sort of the manufacturer type businesses, that sort of development and 
the ability for the area that is around the airport and in fact right next to 
the airport it is important that that is given the ability to actually 30 
develop appropriately without changing and impacting fundamental 
operation of the airport, and that is the flights in and out. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Chair. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Anything arising from that, Mr Cleary? 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Me. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, we will come to you last.  Anything arising from the 40 

Panel’s questions? 
 
MR CLEARY:   I did not realise I had the opportunity to. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Well, if there is anything arising from the Panel you have got 
the opportunity but it has got to be something you have not covered 
already. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Nothing. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Re-examination? 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   No, sir. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Osborne. 
 
MR PHILIP OSBORNE:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.51 pm] 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, Mr Winchester – sorry? 
 
MS APPLEYARD:   Because this is the first day of the hearing I was 

wondering if I could make a couple of suggestions that might help the 20 
hearing.  It took us about half an hour to find the address this morning, 
it is buried in the notice of hearing which is about 10 or 20 documents 
ago, and I wondered whether it could be put on the timetable, the 
address could be put on there perhaps even with a Google, like it is 
actually reasonably difficult to get in here too, so it is just a suggestion 25 
given this is day 1. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   It is also difficult to read the sign because it is overgrown by a 

tree. 
 30 
MS APPLEYARD:   But it is only in the hearing notice which is quite a wee 

way ago I think. 
 
 The other suggestion was I was going to suggest you might want to put 

“indicative” in the timetable because otherwise it does read quite 35 
specifically and just taking the example we had here, I think 
Mr Osborne was slightly ahead of schedule.  And I do know with the 
recent Chatham Rock case that Mr Winchester and I have been 
involved in, that parties were told they might want to be slightly earlier 
or slightly – just keep an eye on things so that you do not end up with 40 
huge gaps in your day.  So they are just a couple of suggestions. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, they are both sensible and we will take them up 

with the Secretariat, thank you. 
 45 
MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Mr Heath I think. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, yes, it is, it is Mr Heath and I think he is 

the final witness on the schedule today so we have caught up some 5 
time, sir.   

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   On that point, I am assuming you are quite happy just to 10 

adjourn once Mr Heath has finished?  Yes, thank you.   
 
SIR HANSEN:   We will follow up on Ms Appleyard’s suggestion so you will 

have two or three witnesses up your sleeve as well, but not on the first 
day. 15 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I am obliged, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We may well have to in later hearings which I think might be 

more problematic. 20 
 
<TIMOTHY JAMES HEATH, sworn [3.53 pm] 
 
<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [3.53 pm] 
 25 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, can you confirm your full name is Timothy 

James Heath and you have the qualifications and experience set out in 
your introduction of your evidence-in-chief? 

 
MR HEATH:   That is correct. 30 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And you have prepared two statements of evidence, 

Mr Heath, one evidence-in-chief dated 18 November 2014 and a 
rebuttal statement dated 27 November 2014? 

 35 
MR HEATH:   That is correct. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or changes to that 

evidence? 
 40 
MR HEATH:   I have just got a couple of updates that I would like to point the 

Panel to.  The first one is in my evidence-in-chief, paragraph 6.1.2, I 
think there have been a few variations of this paragraph pre and post 
compilation of the statement.  So at the end of that paragraph 6.1.2, in 
the third line down, it has got it relates to issue 3.4.1.2, “D” should 45 
follow that. 
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 And in terms of the quote within that paragraph, the bolder part there, 

“That in appropriate locations” – that is still there “…while recognising 
the important” – that was crossed out but the word “important” is still 
there. 5 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, it has got a line through it on my copy. 
 
MR HEATH:   Yes, it is in terms of the updated version of - - - 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   The latest version we have got. 
 
MR HEATH:   The latest version. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   It is what? 15 
 
MR HEATH:   It is back in. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Oh, it is back in, okay, right. 
 20 
MR HEATH:   “Community focus and primacy of the central city” and then 

the words added “as the principle centre” is also in the latest version 
and then “the importance of other centres”.  That does not change my 
views that I express in paragraph 6.13 either. 

 25 
SIR HANSEN:  Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 
 
  [3.55 pm] 30 
 
MR HEATH:   In the following page of my evidence-in-chief under 6.18, it 

starts for example policy 3.6.1.3, that should be (a) not (b). 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Sorry, could I just get that reference again, please, I’m still 35 

writing down the previous one. 
 
MR HEATH:   Sorry, in paragraph 6.18 of my evidence-in-chief, it’s got “for 

example policy 6.3.1”, it’s got (b) in the statement, that should (a). 
 40 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.   
 
MR HEATH:   And a correction in my rebuttal statement at paragraph 7.4, in 

the last line of paragraph 7.4, there is a figure of 38 percent, that figure 
should read 27 percent, and again it does not change the context of that 45 
sentence.  That is still the larger proportion. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, Mr Heath.   
 
DR MITCHELL:   So that’s 38 percent. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:  27, is that correct, it is now 27 percent?  
 
MR HEATH:   Yes, so in my rebuttal - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   7.4, page 8 of the rebuttal, the last line is 27 percent.  10 
 
MS DAWSON:   The first 7.4. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   There is two 7.4’s.  
 15 
DR MITCHELL:   Is there? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   There’s one on page 8 and one on page 9, it’s the first 

7.8. 
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   That’s right. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Interesting.   25 
 
MR HEATH:   Automatic numbering.   
 
SIR HANSEN:   There’s another 7.5. 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   The first 7.4.   
 
SIR HANSEN:   We have got doubled all the way through. 
 
MR HEATH:   Yes. 35 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It’s 28. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So it goes to 7.5, then it starts again at 7.1.   
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   The number is 27. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is 27, thank you. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Mr Heath.  Now subject to those corrections 
do you confirm that to the best of your knowledge and ability your 
evidence is true and correct. 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes, I do. 5 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now you will take the Panel through a 

short highlights package of your evidence and then remain to answer to 
any questions.  

 10 
MR HEATH:   Thank you.  Given my statements are not particularly long, my 

selection of greatest hits is not that long either.  So I will just talk about 
a couple of the key things in the evidence rather than just go through it 
verbatim. 

 15 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR HEATH:   The first point I wanted to note was just going through my 

evidence-in-chief was that there was a high degree of commonality in 
terms of the general thrust of the retail and centred direction between 20 
Council and all the evidence that was submitted, and many of the 
submissions, ie there was a key desire to see the existing centre is 
grown, and encourage development and improve the ability of those 
centres to deliver high and economic efficiencies and social wellbeing.   

 25 
 The second theme of my evidence-in-chief related in particular around 

the issue that, particularly with regard to the CBD of the 
decentralisation of retail activity around the city, and that has come at 
the expense primarily of the CBD, or the central city, and that is 
reflected in my table one on page 7 of my evidence-in-chief. 30 

 
 What I am trying to make the point of clearly there is that this dispersal 

of the retail activity is not just as a result of the earthquakes, it is 
something that has been embedded and occurring for well over the last 
decade, and it is a fairly well-entrenched trend given table 1 that the 35 
Proposed Replacement Plan tries to address, and that is one of the 
issues in which it seeks to evaluate and resolve. 

 
 As we can see there, there has been a significant drop, particularly in 

the last two years as a result of the earthquakes, but it was occurring 40 
well before that.  That is at the expense of both suburban centres and 
outer centre developments.  I don’t want to put forward the suggestion 
it’s just a result of outer centre development, and I touch on that in my 
rebuttal evidence in relation to the competition of suburban centres and 
the CBD. 45 
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 But it is critical there when you access the nominal retail employment 
in the CBD that there was 500 less people working in the CBD in 2011 
than there was in 2000, despite there being 13 percent growth in the 
market.  So it has gone the complete reverse way as a result of those 
trends and decentralisation out of the CBD. 5 

 
  [4.00 pm] 
 
 The third main point I would like to make from evidence-in-chief, 

mainly it is just to identify that the Replacement District Plan is really 10 
about the central city recovery and reversion of those decentralisation 
trends, and it is getting that balance that enables and encourages and 
stimulates the retail development in appropriate locations.  Where those 
appropriate locations have been identified as centres both existing and 
new or proposed over the planning period of the plan.  And that the 15 
reason for that is the significant economic and community wellbeing 
that can be achieved as a result of that, as well as a lot of the economic 
benefits Mr Osborne has already identified. 

 
 In terms of my rebuttal statement, again there was pleasingly a level of 20 

commonality, apart from a couple of issues that were raised from 
evidence submitted by AMP, and that was Mr Cosgrove and Mr 
Colegrave.  But for clarity reasons I would like to just make the point, 
Mr Copeland (ph 1.20) made reference, and I think there was a 
question earlier on today about the complimentary versus competing 25 
nature of the suburban centres and the CBD, and I have articulated my 
position the way I have used the word in paragraph 4.6 of my rebuttal 
statement, and that is “Complimentary to me relates to enabling 
suburban centres to fulfil their role and function in the market, but not 
to a point or a level where it starts to undermine the CBD or the 30 
recovery of the CBD”.   

 
 So it enables development to occur, not only in centres, in industrial 

areas where you can enable a lunch bar to be established to support the 
workers et cetera.  But what we are trying to discourage is the location 35 
of a department store on industrial zone land.  So in my view that 
would potentially undermine the recovery and the rebuild of the CBD 
or central city in particular.  So it is enabling growth to occur in those 
centres but not to a level that actually undermines the CBD, and it is 
getting that balance, which is the appropriate thing. 40 

 
 And that starts going into the issues of, which Mr Osborne touched on 

with flexibility and certainty, so I have sort of tried to encapsulate 
neatly in 4.7 of my rebuttal which is that:  “The balancing of this 
approach enables a suburban centre development and thereby providing 45 
a higher degree of investment certainty and flexibility that the 
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commercial market seeks, whilst at the same time indicating centres 
must compliment rather than directly compete, and therefore 
potentially undermine the central city role, function and recovery”. 

 
 In terms of Mr Colegrave’s evidence in particular, from AMP, I will 5 

just make reference to the timing of his analysis of the CBD was pre-
earthquake, February 2011, or pre of the main earthquake that affected 
the central city, and I am saying at that point in time the CBD was not a 
strong performing centre, I think that has been backed up in Mr Ogg’s 
(ph 3.30) evidence as well.  It was actually performing relatively 10 
poorly, it was very dispersed and had a lot of lower tier, lower grade 
retail activity which I would call “struggling”.  And there has been no 
effort by Mr Colegrave to either acknowledge that or try and assess that 
or re-evaluate that, so it does not really articulate the actual retail 
opportunity of the central city or the cost of not having that in the CBD, 15 
or central city. 

 
 Now, what I have used here, Mr Colegrave was a bit of an outlier in 

terms of his position on the competitive nature of suburban centres 
versus the central cities, and I have been helping the Hamilton City 20 
Council in its Proposed District Plan process, and that is probably a 
fairly good example that is very clear and concise of what can happen 
to CBDs when you enable suburban centre development at a rate that is 
significantly ahead of market growth in that particular location.   

 25 
  [4.05 pm] 
 
 And this is represented in my figure 1 on page 8 of my rebuttal on that 

graph, where we looked at retail spending patterns through BNZ 
marketing data, and we can clearly see there that the CBD accounted 30 
for 52 percent of the spend of that market in that year, from April 2002 
and March 2003, so they use the full calendar year, and you can see the 
development of the base over that period to the current situation where 
we have the base and the Te Awa Mall developed, where the level of, 
or the proportional spend of the Hamilton market at the CBD has now 35 
dropped to 31 percent.  That is a significant decline and a very fast rate 
in the CBD and a significant increase commensurate at Te Rapa and Te 
Awa. 

 
 Te Awa has not yet fully developed, so the effects are still not too bad, 40 

I think there is still about another 30,000 square metres of retail floor 
space to be developed there.  I think it is the only mall in the Southern 
Hemisphere that has already got its second level built but not occupied, 
so they can roll that out and have consent to do so over the next few 
years.  So those effects are still playing out in the market, so to speak. 45 
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 That shows a graphic example that there is clear competition.  One of 
the premises for the Base was to stop leakage out of Hamilton, mainly 
primarily to Auckland, so it is in the larger centres, but development of 
the Base has not changed the level of leakage out of Hamilton at all, 
nor the level of inflow of retail spending to Hamilton. 5 

 
 So the net position of flows have been exactly the same over the last 10 

years, it has simply resulted in the redistribution of spend within the 
city.  That is one of the important points to take out of it, is that we are 
really all competing – we – the centres, the retailers are all competing 10 
for the same consumer dollar at the end of the day. 

 
 So I am using that to show, for the factual base, to show that there is a 

clear relationship and a competitive relationship between suburban 
centres and in the central city, and that also that is partly reflected in 15 
my analysis and my table shown in my evidence-in-chief that showed 
that this decline in the central city of Christchurch has been occurring 
since the year 2000. 

 
 If you think Hamilton has had a 40 percent drop in retail relevance in 20 

that period that I have assessed in the last 10 years, and I am using that 
as a factual account to contest Mr Colegrave’s view that there is a non-
competitive relationship. 

 
 And I suppose that summarises my two statements and I am happy to 25 

take any questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Heath.  Ms Dewar, do you want to come 

forward to the microphone so everything is recorded. 
 30 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS DEWAR [4.08 pm] 
 
MS DEWAR:   Good afternoon. 
 
MR HEATH:   Good afternoon. 35 
 
MS DEWAR:   Sir, I am just wondering whether the Panel does have with it 

the section 32 analysis associated with the chapter, I do have a chunk of 
it here that I have copied. 

 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, that is probably the quickest way to make it available to 

us. 
 
MS DEWAR:   For the record this is appendix 8.5 to the Council’s Section 32 

Report, Commercial Section.  And I am not sure where you are up to in 45 
terms of exhibits, sir. 
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EXHIBIT #4 AND EXHIBIT #5 – SECTION 32 ANALYSIS 
 
MS DAWSON:   Ms Dewar, are you referring us to the section 32 for the 

strategic directions chapter or the commercial - - - 5 
 
MS DEWAR:   No, this has come out of the commercial chapter, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think perhaps, who (INDISTINCT 4.48).  Who were you 

cross-examining, it was Mr Theelen that you were cross-examining 10 
when you put in the exhibits, was it not? 

 
MS DEWAR:   No - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, not you, sorry, Mr Radich. 15 
 
  [4.10 pm] 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes it was. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Perhaps, Ms Duffy, if you put exhibit 1, 2 and 3 just in 

brackets after them Theelen, and for these two exhibits just put in 
brackets after them Heath, so we can identify them back and, and if 
there are witnesses we can add them on later. 

 25 
MADAM REGISTRAR:   Okay. 
 
MS DEWAR:   It is just, it is just one appendix, sir, so it will be - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think – well we have got two letters here. 30 
 
MS DEWAR:   There should – no they should be the same. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Have we got one letter or what have we got? 
 35 
MS DEWAR:   One letter. 
 
MS……….:   One letter and one of (INDISTINCT 0.31). 
 
MS DEWAR:   Sorry, sir, that is just confirming. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, I better get it back in case it’s something else I meant to 

have. 
 
MS……….:   No, I took the bit that was not - - -  45 
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SIR HANSEN:   It was lying on the table there, I see, right, okay. 
 
MS……….:   Yes, so that’s the only thing - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   That’s all we’re meant to have? All right - - -  5 
 
MS DEWAR:   A letter dated - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   - - - property economics letter is all we - - -  
 10 
MS DEWAR:   Yes - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 
MS DEWAR:   - - - dated the 4th of June. 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Righto, thank you, it is - - -  
 
MS DEWAR:   Sorry, my apologies, I don’t know how that happened. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Exhibit 4, so that is Exhibit 4, bracket – pardon me for not 

saying Mr but on the document it will just say Heath in brackets. 
 
MS DEWAR:   Mr Heath, would you agree that the distribution of retail 

centres is a strategic issue for Christchurch as it is in this recovery 25 
phase and going on? 

 
MR HEATH:   Sorry, I missed the first part of that, the - - -  
 
MS DEWAR:   Would you agree that - - -  30 
 
MR HEATH:   - - - the distribution. 
 
MS DEWAR:   - - - the distribution? 
 35 
MR HEATH:   Yes. 
 
MS DEWAR:   And accordingly, would it not be better to have policies or 

objectives that relate to the strategic issue in the strategic directions 
chapter? 40 

 
MR HEATH:   I believe the policies that are in the Replacement Plan as set out 

in Mr Eman’s appendix – the most recent version, in appendix A – 
provide an appropriate level of direction and guidance for the 
subsequent chapters, the commercial chapter of the plan. 45 
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MS DEWAR:   Those provisions that have been suggested by Mr Eman do not 
talk about the distribution of retail centres other than the protection 
really of the core of the city do they? 

 
MR HEATH:   The way I read them it provides – well, there is a focus 5 

obviously on the central city recovery, but it certainly provides 
acknowledgement of the importance of the existing centre network of 
the city. 

 
MS DEWAR:   And do you think that in terms of consolidation versus 10 

intensification, that that is an important issue for Christchurch? 
 
MR HEATH:   I think the, the important issue for Christchurch at a strategic 

level, is to, for a better word, “is try and stop the bleeding” of retail and 
office activity, to non-centre locations outside of the centre network. 15 

 
MS DEWAR:   And what about, you know, we are talking about consolidation 

and intensification which imports you to existing centres and how they 
are to expand, either by consolidation or intensification is that not an 
important issue for Christchurch? 20 

 
MR HEATH:   My simple answer is “yes”, I think sudden – not only for 

Christchurch, I think it is an important issue for all District Plans - - -  
 
MS DEWAR:   Of course. 25 
 
MR HEATH:   - - - and cities, yes. 
 
MS DEWAR:   And is that the tenor of your report to the Council in Exhibit 4 

on page 2 under the heading of the policies and objectives? 30 
 
MR HEATH:   Yes, yes, my, my, my view is the word “consolidation” as I 

have put down, and I think – and I think you are referring to the second 
to last paragraph is that correct of that page? 

 35 
MS DEWAR:   Yes. 
 
MR HEATH:   As I have just stated there, it provides a more well-rounded 

platform because of – it enables activity to locate adjacent to an area 
that still functions, a centre that functions as part of that centre and 40 
could encourage and help facilitate that centre’s role and function. 
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  [4.15 pm] 
 
 Given the vast majority of retail in New Zealand, both currently and in 

the foreseeable future is going to be at grey or at ground level, trade at 
ground level.  Applying the word “intensification” to retail activity, I 5 
would not like to see the – send a signal to the market that that implies 
there is an expectation that retail activity, or a significant level of retail 
activity is going to occur above ground from level 1, level 2, etcetera.  
So I do not think that is an appropriate outcome, particularly for more 
convenience focussed activity.  So I tend to prefer the word 10 
“consolidation” over “intensification” because I think that sends a more 
balanced signal to the market. 

 
MS DEWAR:   And in your view of the world, the retail world in Christchurch, 

that does involve the expansion of centres where that is appropriate and 15 
does not interfere overly with the central city. 

 
MR HEATH:   It may involve where appropriate, yes. 
 
MS DEWAR:   No further questions, sir. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MS DAWSON:   When I was asking a similar question of Mr Osborne, 

Mr Heath, he drew the distinction in terms of – well I understood him 25 
to draw a distinction in terms of this intensification versus 
consolidation argument between offices and retail. 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes. 
 30 
MS DAWSON:   So do you draw that same distinction in that retail may well 

expand around the edge of a centre, although albeit that they will 
eventually function as part of the same centre - - - 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes. 35 
 
MS DAWSON:   - - - but that that may not be as appropriate for offices. 
 
MR HEATH:   Correct.  Office activity has a greater propensity to go above 

ground levels.  You know have a little accountant above the retail 40 
shops of a centre etcetera.  So in terms of Mr Osborne’s outlined 
position that he preferred intensification in the centre with an 
(INDISTINCT 1.50), I would agree with that. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you for that, sir.  Thank you. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Thank you Mr Chairman.  I have got just one question 
thanks Mr Heath.  If I understood your rebuttal evidence correctly, that 
is essentially saying that unless the right balance is found the KACs 
have the potential to undermine the recovery of the CBD. 

 5 
 I then go back to your primary statement where you have looked at the 

provisions as per Mr Eman’s appendix to his rebuttal statement with 
the various provisions, and can you point me to where in those 
provisions the primacy of the CBD is elevated above that of the KACs?  
It seems to me that they are treated sort of even-handedly.  It mentions 10 
both of them in the same sentence at the same time, and if I could refer 
you perhaps particularly to your paragraph 6.14, for example, where 
you are talking about the strategic direction provided in 3.5.2.1.   

 
 It says “the LURP in chapter 6 of the Regional Policy Statement set a 15 

clear direction for future urban development…” etcetera – .”…priority 
areas for urban development enable consolidation around main town 
central Christchurch and suburban centres.”  And that same sort of 
treating them all in the same grab bag, do you think that those 
provisions are consistent with what you are saying in your rebuttal 20 
statement? 

 
MR HEATH:   I am sort of referring to there under 3.4.1.2(d) where it actually 

specifically stipulates that the central city as the principal centre.  So I 
think there are areas where there has been an effort made in the 25 
strategic directions proposal to clarify that the central city is anticipated 
to be the primary centre or commercial hub for the city. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   So can you just – the policy that you just mentioned was 

3.4.1.2(d).  But does that say that though?  It says “the District Plan 30 
needs to provide both capacity and flexibility to accommodate new 
patterns of activity while recognising important community focus of 
the central city and other centres”. 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes. 35 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Isn’t that repeating this sort of equivalence as between 

them? 
 
MR HEATH:   The way I interpret it as they see the central city as being the 40 

pinnacle of the hierarchy, and there is a raft of other centres that fall 
beneath that within the network, or cascade down from district centres 
down to smaller convenience based centres as well, but combined they 
all form part of a network and an offer to meet the needs of the 
community. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   I think in fairness to you Mr Eman’s latest version has 
amended the version that is in paragraph 6.11 of your primary 
statement, you can see talks about the purpose of the central city as the 
principal centre and importance of other centres. 

 5 
  [4.20 pm] 
 
 So I think if I am reading things correctly things have moved on since 

your paragraph 6.6.11, but I suppose the question I would ask is given 
the very strong statements you have made in your rebuttal statement are 10 
you satisfied that Me Eman’s version appropriately and clearly and 
succinctly draws the distinction between the primacy of the CBD 
recovery and then at a secondary level, without wanting to undermine 
that, the key activity centres? 

 15 
MR HEATH:   Yes, I have got a level of comfort around the way that it is 

worded, and I think the additional wording that has been provided in 
more recent times provides a little bit more clarity around that, and the 
direction that the Council want to head for, and the outcome they want 
to achieve with it. 20 

 
DR MITCHELL:   If we take the Hamilton example as the base, which I am a 

little bit familiar with, wouldn’t the analogy to Christchurch be that the 
base is one of these KACs? 

 25 
MR HEATH:   Correct. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And unless there is a very strong policy directive to protect 

the CBD it is not going to happen, it certainly has not happened in 
Hamilton, I mean the CBDs largely a few specialty shops and about a 30 
million bars and restaurants. 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes, well I – what (INDISTINCT 1.32) to many Council’s is 

that you do not write the plan and then fold your arms and wait for the 
rush into the central city.  It is an ongoing battle, it is a competitive 35 
market and they need to help facilitate that development in the central 
city.  And that can come through a variety of means. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   But do you think the strategic direction section as opposed 

to the provisions in the lower order provisions of the plan that we want 40 
to hear that there is enough directive guidance in that regard already, or 
does it need strengthening? 

 
MR HEATH:   Well I have got a level of comfort around the words in the way 

it is written as is. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   But presumably you would not unhappy if it was beefed up 
a bit more? 

 
MR HEATH:   No, of course not.  
 5 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thanks Mr Chairman, no further questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:  Thank you, any re-examination? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Just one point sir, if I may, now Mr Heath, you were 10 

just talking about the central city and you had some interchange with 
Dr Mitchell about the strength of the direction in the strategic 
directions chapter.  At the risk of making the case advanced by my 
friend, Mr Radich, could you perhaps have a look at page 36 of Mr 
Eman’s evidence and policy 3.6.2.7. 15 

 
MR HEATH:   Yes, I’m there. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And perhaps give a view in relation to the questions 

posed to you by Dr Mitchell as to whether you have a level of comfort 20 
about that or otherwise? 

 
MR HEATH:   Well I think that reinforces my view that the words in the strategic 

direction of the plan further reinforce the primacy of the central city, and 
that is under both A and particularly B of that particular policy.  Where 25 
under B we have got “restore and reinforce the role and treatment of the 
central city of the primary community focal point of the district”.  So my 
reading of it is that there is a very clear signal that the central city is meant 
to be and designed to be the primary retail, commercial, entertainment and 
community hub for the city. 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. Yes, thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Heath, you may stand down. 
 35 
MR HEATH:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.24 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, thank you everyone, we will adjourn until tomorrow.  40 

Panel members have other commitments in the morning so we will 
recommence at 1.00 tomorrow, thank you.  And thanks everybody, we 
have got ahead of time in the finish, which is very gratifying. 

 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.24 PM UNTIL 45 
FRIDAY, 3 DECEMBER 2014 


	Christchurch Replacement

